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EXPLANATORY NOTE

Restatements of Consolidated Financial Statements

Restatement relating to stock-based compensation

In this Form 10-K, Chordiant Software, Inc. (“Chordiant”, “the Company” or “we”) is restating its consolidated balance
sheet as of September 30, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and
comprehensive loss, and cash flows for each of the fiscal periods ended September 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004,
and each of the quarters in fiscal year 2005 and the first two quarters in fiscal year 2006. We are also restating the pro
forma disclosures for stock-based compensation expense required under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (SFAS 123) included in Note 13 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements. This Form 10-K also reflects the restatement of Selected Consolidated Financial Data for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2005, the nine month period ended September 30, 2004, and the fiscal years ended December
31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 in Item 6 of this Form 10-K.

Previously filed annual reports on Form 10-K and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q affected by the restatements have
not been amended and should not be relied on.

Our decision to restate our consolidated financial statements was based on facts obtained by management and the
results of an independent review into our stock option accounting that was conducted by the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors.

In July 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors initiated a review of the Company’s historical stock option grant
practices and appointed the Audit Committee to oversee the investigation. The Audit Committee’s review focused on
processes used to establish the option exercise prices and to obtain required approvals of stock option grants and the
related measurement dates used for financial reporting purposes. The Audit Committee and its legal advisors reviewed
the Company’s historical stock option grants and related accounting including an assessment and review of the
Company’s accounting policies, internal records, supporting documentation and email communications, as well as
interviews with current and former employees and current and former members of the Company’s executive
management and Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee determined that, pursuant to the requirements of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (APB 25), the correct measurement dates for a number of stock option
grants made by Chordiant during the period 2000 to 2006 (“Review Period”) differ from the measurement dates
previously used to account for such option grants. The Audit Committee identified errors related to the determination
of the measurement dates for grants of options where the price of the Company’s stock on the selected grant date was
lower than the price on the actual grant date which would permit recipients to exercise these options at a lower
exercise price. Under these circumstances, the Company should have recorded deferred stock compensation expense,
which subsequently should have been amortized as stock compensation expense over the vesting period of the stock
options.

On November 26, 2006, the Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee and management,
after considering the quantitative and qualitative analysis prepared by management relating to these errors, concluded
that the Company should restate certain of its historical financial statements. To correct the accounting errors, our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2006 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
three months ended June 30, 2006, includes restated consolidated and condensed consolidated financial statements
and selected consolidated financial data for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, the nine-month period
ended September 30, 2004, the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005, and the quarters ended December 31, 2005 and
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March 31, 2006.

The Company also recorded adjustments related to payroll withholding tax for certain options formerly classified as
incentive stock option (ISO) grants under Internal Revenue Service regulations. These options were determined to
have been granted with an exercise price below the fair market value of our stock on the actual grant date and
therefore do not qualify for ISO treatment. The disqualification of ISO classification and the resulting conversion to
non-qualified status results in additional payroll withholding tax obligations on the exercise of these options.

There was no income tax benefit associated with the increase to the stock-based compensation expense as the
Company has had a full valuation allowance for the deferred tax assets for the periods being restated.

To the extent stock options have been exercised, the Company has pursued and continues to pursue the recovery of the
price difference between the original and revised measurement dates from certain former officers.

The Company is recording approximately $8.3 million of additional pre-tax, non-cash stock-based compensation
expense and associated withholding taxes for the fiscal periods 2000 through 2006. The impact of recognizing
stock-based compensation expense and associated withholding taxes resulting from the investigation of past stock
option grants is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2
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Fiscal Period

Additional
Compensation

Expense
2000 $ 474
2001 2,082
2002 2,715
2003 1,529
Adjustment to accumulated deficit
as of December 31, 2003

6,800

2004 928
2005 325
2006 and thereafter 208
Total $ 8,261

For more information regarding the investigation and findings relating to stock option practices and the restatement,
please refer to Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations -
Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements,” and Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated
Financial Statements” in Item 8. For more information regarding the investigation and findings relating to stock option
practices and the restatement and our remedial measures, see Item 9A, “Controls and Procedures.”

Previously Disclosed Restatement of Financial Statements Reported in our 2005 Form 10-K

In the course of preparing the 2005 financial results for the year ended September 30, 2005, the Company and its
independent registered public accounting firm, BDO Seidman, LLP, identified certain errors in the Company’s 2005
interim financial statements for the quarters ended December 31, 2004, March 31, 2005, and June 30, 2005. On
December 6, 2005, management concluded that the Company should restate the Company’s interim financial
statements for the quarters ended December 31, 2004, March 31, 2005, and June 30, 2005 due to such errors. On
December 6, 2005, senior management of the Company met with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of
the Company to discuss management’s conclusion. The Audit Committee concurred with management’s conclusion.
These errors are more fully described in Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in the Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 9, 2005.

Previously Disclosed Change in Year End and Prior Restatement of Financial Statements Reported in our 2004 Form
10-K

On December 29, 2004, the Board of Directors of Chordiant approved a change in Chordiant’s fiscal year end from
December 31st to September 30th. In the course of preparing the 2004 financial results for the new fiscal year ended
September 30, 2004, the Company identified certain errors relating to expense and revenue timing, the valuation of a
guarantee, prepaid account balances, estimates used to compute stock offering costs, warrant valuations and stock
based compensation in the interim financial statements for the quarters ended March 31, 2004, June 30, 2004 and
September 30, 2004. Due to the aggregate number of errors identified in the previously issued interim financial
statements and the relative percentages represented by those errors in the quarters, management concluded that the
interim financial statements for the quarters ended March 31, 2004, June 30, 2004 and September 30, 2004 should be
restated. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors concurred with management’s conclusion. As a result,
Chordiant filed a Transition Report on Form 10-K/T for the transition period from January 1, 2004 to September 30,
2004 to reflect the change in fiscal year and the related restatement for the quarters ended March 31, 2004, June 30,
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2004 and September 30, 2004.

All financial information contained in this fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K gives effect to these prior
restatements.

3
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PART I

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Except for the historical information contained herein, this Annual Report contains certain information that is
forward-looking in nature. This information is based on our current expectations, assumptions, estimates and
projections about our business and our industry, and involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors that may cause our or our industry’s results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially
different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied in, or
contemplated by the forward-looking statements. Words such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,”
“will,” “may,” “should,” “estimate,” “predict,” “guidance,” “potential,” “continue” or the negative of such terms
or other similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. In addition, any statements that refer to
expectations, projections or other characterizations of future events or circumstances are forward-looking statements.
Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements as a result of
several factors more fully described under the caption “Risk Factors” and those discussed elsewhere in this
document. These and many other factors could affect the future financial and operating results of Chordiant.
Chordiant undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events after the date of this
report.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Chordiant is an enterprise software company that delivers products that improve the customer front-office processes
for the global banking, insurance, and telecommunications markets. Chordiant provides companies in these markets
with innovative solutions that help them more effectively manage their customer interactions.

In the market we offer an enterprise system that utilizes predictive decisioning, analytical modeling, and strategy
formulation in real-time for decision management and execution at the point of sale. This capability enables
organizations to improve the accuracy of marketing offers for retention, up-selling, cross selling, and modeling risk
scenarios such as customer churn and likelihood of default on payments.

We believe our solutions add business value and return-on-investment for our customers by reducing operational
costs, and increasing employee productivity. These improvements are realized by automating key business processes
and supporting organizational decision-making associated with the servicing, selling, marketing and fulfillment of
customer requests across the enterprise. We offer solutions to our clients that include software applications, business
processes, tools and services that will integrate their customer information and corporate systems to produce a
real-time view of customers across multiple business channels. Our solutions offer businesses additional flexibility to
create and set their policies and processes to control the quality of servicing, fulfillment and marketing to their
customers.

On December 21, 2004, we acquired KiQ Limited, a privately held United Kingdom software company (“KiQ”), for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $20 million, which was comprised of $9.7 million in cash, $9.4 million in
our common stock and approximately $0.9 million in associated transaction costs. Through this transaction, we
acquired a decision management system that advances the state of analytics by exploiting the power of predictive data
mining, analytical modeling, and strategy formulation into real-time decision management and execution. Products
and patent-pending technology acquired by us in this transaction enable organizations to significantly increase the
accuracy of marketing offers for retention, up-selling, cross selling, and to model risk scenarios such as customer
churn and likelihood to default on payments. With the addition of KiQ’s products and patent-pending technology we
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are able to deliver a range of applications for real-time recommendation, retention, risk management and recruitment.

As a result of the transaction, Chordiant added new customers primarily in financial services and telecommunications
industries. A total of 20 KiQ employees, including two founders and 15 engineering and technical staff, joined us as
employees in December 2004.

Product Solutions

Our products are designed for global enterprises seeking to optimize their customer experiences through effective
decision analysis, marketing, selling and servicing efforts. We have designed our products to integrate customer
information from different data sources and systems of record, automate business processes based on a customer’s
specific profile and requests, and provide uniform service and information to customers across multiple
communication channels. Our products are designed to enable companies to deliver appropriate recommendations
(also known as “next best action”), services, offers and information to a targeted customer at the time of customer need
while complying with relevant business policy and industry regulatory requirements.

5
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Our solutions are designed to address the enterprise requirements of global consumer companies serving millions of
customers across multiple business channels integrating multiple lines of business. The solution suite is typically
licensed as an integrated set of software products that include one or more vertical market applications running on top
of a common layer of foundation technology and supporting tools. Chordiant’s software is based on open systems
software standards that are widely adopted by our industry and capable of deployment throughout an enterprise’s
information technology infrastructure. Chordiant software is built to be highly scalable and adaptable to a customer’s
specific business requirements or technology infrastructure.

Products and Solutions

Our solutions are designed to address a variety of business needs within our three target vertical markets of banking,
insurance, and telecommunications:

·  Call Center and Customer Service Desktop (Call Center Advisor - Browser Edition): This product is a web
browser-based guided desktop for the effective management of customer contacts, service requests, and customer
case history in the call center channel. The desktop is integrated with leading computer telephony integration
products, working with our own queue based work management to deliver ‘universal queues’ to the enterprise. This
product is used by customer services professionals across all our target markets. It is designed to meet the high
volume transaction and business processes common in enterprise contact centers. The desktop also acts as a delivery
channel for our decision management and marketing products together with the other business applications that
Chordiant sells.

·  Marketing Director: We provide applications for driving unified, personalized marketing campaigns and response
management across multiple media types and multiple channels including email, web, phone, and mobile messaging
(MMS/SMS). These products are used by marketing professionals across all our target markets to segment and
target prospects and customers and deliver to them effective marketing campaigns. The Marketing Director suite of
products integrates with our Decision Management products to provide an integrated campaign management
system.

·  Recommendation Advisor: An application which provides flexible lead collection and routing in a common guided
selling desktop, integrated with marketing campaigns and product fulfillment. Predictive and adaptive analytics
guide staff toward best offers and “next best action” in the context of inbound or outbound customer interactions. This
product is used by sales and service professionals across our target markets to manage leads and deliver highly
effective sales messages.

·  Credit Card Disputes, Charge-backs and Fraud: These modular applications are designed to automate and
optimize customer and mid-office functions associated with credit card dispute handling and fraud investigation and
recovery. The products use Chordiant technology to implement the dispute and chargeback regulatory requirements
of credit card associations to assist organizations in managing their compliance of these complex regulations. This
application is used by customer service professionals in the credit card segment of banking to drive more cost
effective, compliant handling of disputes and fraud cases.

·  Teller: A guided desktop product and supporting financial transaction components for retail bank tellers/cashiers or
other cash-based desktop applications. This product is used in the banking and lending sectors by customer-facing
staff in bank branches or stores to effectively process cash and related financial transactions on behalf of the
customer. The solution utilizes the Chordiant Enterprise Platform (described below) in providing company-wide
case management, customer history, and work management between front office and back office operations.

·  
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Wholesale Lending Point of Sale (POS): A product which offers loan quoting and origination for indirect lending
channels. This product is used in the lending and banking sectors by third party and captive brokers to effectively
sell, process, and fulfill various lending products. It utilizes the Chordiant Enterprise Platform to provide the
necessary scale, and it is designed to integrate with existing banking systems.

·  Lending: Products which provide a common process-driven lending infrastructure and services across an
organization to increase efficiency of loan originations, quoting, account opening and loan risk assessment and
management such as required by Basel II. Our lending products are used in banking and lending by a variety of
users and desktop applications.

·  Insurance: Products which provide a common process-driven insurance infrastructure and services across an
organization to increase efficiency of case management, claims processing, quoting, and risk management. Our
insurance products are used in the insurance sector by a variety of users and desktop applications.

·  Collections: This product is currently in development. This product is designed to deliver automation and
operational efficiency to debt recovery and collections professionals. The first generally available release, consisting
of core collections functions, is expected in the third fiscal quarter of 2007. The product is designed to make
extensive use of the Chordiant decision management technology to deliver real time decisioning.

6
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Technology

Chordiant applications share a common technology platform and set of development and configuration tools.
Chordiant technology is built to scale to tens of thousands of users and integrate seamlessly into our customer’s IT
infrastructure. Chordiant technology is generally built based on standards as defined in Java 2 Enterprise Edition
(J2EE). Chordiant technology works alongside third party J2EE Application Servers, such as those from International
Business Machines Corporation (IBM) and BEA Systems Inc.

Chordiant technology is based on a service oriented architecture (SOA). This architecture provides a framework for
large or growing businesses to provide multi-channel interaction and process orchestration across multiple lines of
business. The framework (also known as Chordiant Enterprise Platform) provides a pre-integrated environment that
supports the business applications required by these large scale organizations. With predictive decisioning built-in,
organizations can utilize Chordiant technology to obtain customer behavioral insight and use this to drive the most
appropriate business processes, guiding staff through the best tasks to increase responsiveness, reduce errors, shorten
cycle times, and present the most relevant offers to customers in each interaction.

·  Enterprise Platform: Foundation Server, Café, and Tools Platform: Consisting of a family of services with
enterprise-wide process orchestration and case management at its core, the Chordiant Enterprise Platform product
family provides a common, highly scalable base platform for all Chordiant solutions. The product family
incorporates industry standards such as J2EE, model driven development, AJAX high performance thin client
desktops, Java Server Faces (JSF), and enterprise open source technologies including Hibernate, and Apache
Trinidad. The products are supported by process development and administration tools that use the Eclipse
integrated development environment.

The Enterprise Platform incorporates module ‘servers’ to deliver additional functionality as needed including business
rules, decision management, telephony integration, connectivity to systems of record and interaction channel
management. These allow organizations to implement only those functions that are required for their particular
business requirement without interfering with future project requirements.

·  Decisioning: Consisting of flexible services and tools for adaptive decisioning, predictive decisioning, and rules,
our Decisioning product family allows organizations to effectively drive application behavior based on industry or
organizational models and logic. This capability allows business users advanced control over business priorities, and
enables the business to refine offer and service management in real-time. Decision management is a suite of
products and comprises:

• Chordiant Data Preparation Director—Chordiant Data Preparation Director allows non-IT users to combine, manipulate
and aggregate customer data using an easy to use visual interface.

• Chordiant Predictive Analytics Director—Chordiant Predictive Analytics Director provides marketing professionals
functionality which enables in-depth analysis of significant amounts of customer information using data-mining and
predictive analytical capabilities.

• Chordiant Strategy Director—Chordiant Strategy Director allows users to design customer interaction strategies and
marketing offers based on decisions and rules that reflect customer behavior, preferences, legislation, corporate
policies and desired business outcomes. The resulting decision logic is executed in our campaign management
solution for outbound communication or executed in real-time in multiple channels of communication.

• Chordiant Decision Monitor—Chordiant Decision Monitor provides management with insight into business results,
measures data analysis effectiveness, and allows an organization to learn from current and future data models. It is a
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software module in which decisions are automatically logged and stored in a monitoring database together with the
relevant data as well as subsequent customer information and behavior. This module can be integrated and analyzed
by third party business intelligence tools.

• Chordiant Deployment Manager—Chordiant Deployment Manager provides the administrative function to prepare
available data in the operational environment and implement the decision logic into production campaigns, business
processes and applications.

• Chordiant Real-Time Decisioning Services—Chordiant Real-Time Decisioning Server generates a decisioning service
that can be hosted in industry-standard application servers.

• Chordiant Database Decisioning Services—The Chordiant Database Decisioning Server provides an application for
datamining, analysis, and modeling to create the optimal decision logic and the appropriate decisions outcomes.

7
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Chordiant Mesh Collaboration

Announced in fiscal year 2006, Chordiant Mesh is a collaborative development network where customers, partners,
and Chordiant staff can work together on solutions to respond to customer initiatives. Chordiant Mesh is a
development infrastructure layer that allows the organizations to collaborate on a wide variety of solutions,
components, and tools. By applying principles from open source projects to a member-driven high-end ecosystem,
Chordiant Mesh facilitates far greater collaboration, agility, speed to market, transparency, and quality than customers
are accustomed to receiving from high-end enterprise software providers.

Key benefits of Chordiant Mesh are:

·  A fabric for the maintenance of infrastructure level code and reduction of customization and cost of ownership.
·  A set of tools and methodologies for building applications collaboratively with Chordiant and its partners.

·  Enables and enhances the IT systems “grid” to better support high value SOA − based applications;
·  Enhancement of the ability of IT departments to provide support, control and flexibility.

·  By leveraging open-source development models, Chordiant can take code revisions submitted by community
members − customers, partners and Chordiant itself − and allow these to be incorporated into its products when
appropriate.

The collaborative development approach enables Chordiant to be in closer collaboration with its enterprise customers.

Strategic Direction

The Company is focused on solving problems for our global accounts through helping them improve the quality of the
customer experience they deliver in the banking, insurance, and telecommunications industries. Chordiant anticipates
that it will increasingly deliver business-focused applications based on an open and adaptable core information
technology (“IT”) infrastructure that provides high levels of business agility and fast return on investment for enterprises
by allowing rapid changes to their IT systems. Within the markets above, Chordiant will continue to develop
domain-level solutions for these markets, focusing on the most mission-critical business processes facing our
customers.

Customers

We target global brand leaders in our core markets. Our customers include: ING, Canada, Inc., HSBC Technology and
Services (USA), Inc., Capital One Services, Inc., O2 (UK) Limited, Time Warner Cable, Inc., Covad Communication
Company, 21st Century Insurance, T-Mobile, Lloyds TSB Bank plc, Bank of Ireland Group, The Royal Bank of
Scotland plc, Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, Signal Iduna, Deutsche Bank AG, Canadian Tire Financial
Services, Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Halifax plc, British Telecommunications plc, Connecticut General
Life Insurance Company, Citibank Credit Services Inc. (USA), and Sky Subscribers Services Limited. As we deploy
new applications, we anticipate that a certain percentage of these and new customers will adopt these new applications
and expand their investment in Chordiant products. For the year ended September 30, 2006, Citicorp Credit Services
Inc. (USA) accounted for 12% of our total revenues.

Technology

Chordiant’s solutions and core technology are implemented using industry standard software that includes J2EE, XML,
and Web Services. This industry standard set of development specifications leverages the strengths of the Java
programming language to enable software applications that are easier to develop, configure and integrate with legacy
and third-party information technology systems.
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Chordiant’s architecture leverages J2EE and Web Services extensively to provide a services oriented architecture for
use by Chordiant applications and other systems. The business services and related business components use a data
persistence foundation with built-in support for Oracle and DB2 databases as well as IBM WebSphere MQ messaging.
Generally, our software is easily integrated with other data sources, including those built on the Java Connector
Architecture (JCA).

Chordiant’s web browser technology delivers consistent self-service and agent-driven customer interaction processes
using a rich web-based application platform that provides desktop interface behavior in a browser-based technology
with high performance, low maintenance costs, and flexibility to meet the differing demands of a diverse user
population.

Certain of our products use technology modules from third-party technology providers including IBM, BEA Systems,
Sun Microsystems, Ingenieria de Software Bancario, S.L. (ISBAN) and certain other non-public entities. Our
enterprise platform solutions support industry standard J2EE application servers including IBM WebSphere and BEA
WebLogic. Our server software runs on UNIX server platforms from Sun Microsystems, IBM and Linux.

8
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Sales and Marketing

We license our solutions and sell services primarily through a direct sales organization that is complemented by
selling and support efforts through business alliance partners such as IBM, Tata Consulting, and Accenture, systems
integrators and technology vendors. Our market focus is the business-to-consumer segment of the economy with a
targeted effort on leading consumer focused industries and companies using multiple channels as the means of
conducting business and serving customers.

The sales process generally ranges from six to twenty four months depending on the level of knowledge that
prospective customers need about the use and benefits of our solutions and the involvement of systems integrators.
During the sales process, we typically approach the senior management teams of the business and information
technology departments of a prospective customer’s organization. We utilize sales teams consisting of sales and
technical professionals who work with our systems integration partners to create company specific proposals,
presentations and proof of concept demonstrations that address the needs of the business and its technology
requirements.

Our corporate offices are located in Cupertino, California, and we maintain an applications development center in
Bedford, New Hampshire. In Europe, we have offices in the greater metropolitan areas of London, Madrid,
Amsterdam, Frankfurt, and Munich. We have sales and support personnel in various additional locations in North
America and Europe.

Our Services

We offer a comprehensive set of customer services including professional consulting services and product support and
training services. We believe that providing high quality customer service is critical to achieving rapid product
implementation and customer success.

Professional Services

We provide implementation consulting and customer support services to licensed customers through our worldwide
professional services organization. Our professional services consulting teams often assist customers and systems
integrator partners in the design and implementation of our software solutions.

Our professional services organization deploys consultants as part of the project team alongside systems integration
partners and members of the customer’s internal team to provide subject matter expertise, technical knowledge,
business engineering, project guidance and quality assessments during the entire solution lifecycle. In the design
stage, we provide a variety of professional services that help determine a customer’s business processes and the
technical requirements of the solutions implementation. In the implementation stage, we use a delivery methodology
to assist customers and integration partners in planning and managing the implementation. Typically, systems
integrators, supported by our consultants, provide overall program management and coordinate the implementation of
our products with a customer’s existing communications, applications, databases and transaction systems. In the final
phases of an implementation, the systems integrators provide deployment services to enable a customer’s internal team
to implement the system, train internal users and provide first-level end-user support.

Although our primary strategy is to leverage our strategic systems integration partners for implementations, our
internal professional services organization is often integral in implementing our enterprise platform software solutions
for our customers. We believe that our consulting services enhance the use and administration of our software
solutions, facilitate the implementation of our solutions and result in sharing best business practices with client and
systems integrator project teams. In addition to implementing our software, our professional services organization
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works closely with our internal research and development organization to enhance existing software solutions.

In addition to our internal professional services organization, in calendar 2006, we renewed for one year our
agreement with Ness Technologies Inc., Ness Global Services, Inc. and Ness Technologies India, Ltd. (collectively,
“Ness”), that we originally entered into in 2003. Ness provides our customers with technical product support, a
sustaining engineering function, product testing services, and product development services through their global
technical resources and operations center in Bangalore, India. Ness is an independent contracting company with global
technical resources. The agreement with Ness may be extended for additional one year terms at our discretion. Our
agreement with Ness enables them, at our direction, to attract, train, assimilate and retain sufficient highly qualified
personnel to perform technical support and certain sustaining engineering functions.

Educational Services

We provide educational services to train and enable our systems integrators and customers to use our products and
technologies. We offer a comprehensive series of training modules to provide the knowledge and skills to successfully
deploy, use and maintain our products. These training courses focus on the technical aspects of our products as well as
business issues and processes. Training courses can be provided on-site for a custom session for a fee and through
classroom and lab instruction. In addition, we provide certification programs for our partners and customers.

9
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Customer Support

We provide our customers with unspecified support and maintenance services including telephone support, web-based
support and updates to our products and documentation. We believe that providing a high level of technical support is
critical to customer satisfaction. We also offer training programs to our customers and other companies with which we
have relationships to accelerate the implementation and adoption of our solutions by the users within a company. Fees
for our training services are typically charged separately from our software license, maintenance and consulting fees.

Our customers have a choice of support and maintenance options depending on the level of service desired. Our
technical support services are available to clients by telephone, over the web, by e-mail and on-site. Additionally, we
provide unspecified product enhancement releases to all customers as part of our support and maintenance contracts.
We use a customer service automation system to track each customer inquiry until it is resolved. We also make use of
our website and a secured customer forum to provide product information and technical support information
worldwide 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

Strategic Partnerships

Establishing partnerships and alliances with third parties that provide additional services and resources for
implementing our solutions to enhance our sales and service organizations’ productivity is an important element of our
strategy. These relationships and alliances fall into the following categories:

Consulting and System Integration Relationships.  To enhance the productivity of our sales and service organizations,
we have established relationships with systems integrators, complementary technology providers and alternative
service providers. We have established relationships and trained professionals at a number of systems integrators
including: Accenture, IBM Global Services, Ness Technologies, Tata Consultancy Services and Business Services,
and InfoGain. We plan to expand these relationships to increase our capacity to license and implement our products.
We believe that expanding our relationships with systems integrators and independent consulting firms will enable us
to gain a greater share of our target markets.

Technology Partnerships.  We make extensive use of industry platforms and embrace a number of core technologies
in our solution offerings. We have formed partnerships with vendors of software and hardware technology platforms.
We currently maintain technology relationships with vendors such as Avaya/Lucent, Alcatel/Genesys, BEA Systems,
Cisco Systems, IBM, Oracle, ISBAN and Sun Microsystems. Many of these companies voluntarily provide us with
early releases of new technology platforms, education related to those platforms and limited access to their technical
resources to facilitate adoption of their technology.

Product Development

We have made substantial investments in research and development through internal development, acquisitions and
technology licensing. Our product development efforts are focused on extending our enterprise software solutions,
application components, industry specific processes and business process functionality, and continued integration of
industry-specific transaction systems and services. Our product development organization is responsible for new
software products, product architecture, core technologies, product testing, quality assurance and enabling the
compatibility of our products with third-party hardware and software platforms.

Our product development resources are organized into a number of development teams including:

·  Foundational Server, Tools, Mesh, Fulfillment, and Release Management;
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·  Decision Management Products;

·  Card and Banking Applications;

·  Collections Applications;

·  Marketing Applications;

·  Product Design, Architecture, and Documentation; and

·  Product Test and Quality.

Our product development teams have experience in enterprise and distributed computing, J2EE and object oriented
development, data management, process and workflow engineering, transaction system interfaces, Internet and
Web-Services technologies. Our research and development expenditures were $25.9 million and $20.3 million for the
years ended September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005, respectively.

10
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Competition

The market for our products is competitive, rapidly evolving, and can be affected by new product introductions and
other market activities of industry participants. The competitive landscape is quickly evolving to address the need for
enterprise-wide integration of IT assets and the convergence of customer interaction applications, back-office systems
and business processes. The most significant competition we face is from customers’ internal development efforts,
custom system integration, as well as other software providers that offer integration and development platforms.

Internal Development

Many of our customers and potential customers have in the past attempted to develop customer service, call center,
customer relationship management and new front-office systems in-house or with the help of systems integrators.
Internal information technology departments have staffed projects to build their own systems utilizing a variety of
tools. In some cases, such internal development projects have been successful in satisfying the needs of an
organization. The cost of internal development and total cost-of-ownership has risen to become a primary concern of
the business and management. We expect that internal development will continue to be a significant source of
competition.

Custom System Integration Projects

Another source of competition results from systems integrators engaged to build a custom development application.
The introduction of a systems integrator typically increases the likelihood of success for the customer. The
competitive factors in this area require that we demonstrate to the customer the cost savings and advantages of
configurable, upgradeable and commercially supported software products developed by a dedicated professional
software organization.

We frequently rely on system consulting and systems integration firms for implementation and other global services,
as well as recommendations of our products during the evaluation stage of the purchase process. Many of these third
parties have similar and often more established relationships with our competitors. We cannot assure that these third
parties, many of whom have significantly greater resources than us, will not market software products in competition
with us.

Application Software Competitors

As discussed, our primary competition is from internal development at our customers and potential customers.
However, other competitors include providers of traditional, first-generation customer relationship management,
enterprise resources planning, call center, marketing automation software and sales force automation software. These
vendors include, among others, companies such as: Oracle Software, Pegasystems, Inc., Unica, SSA Global
Technologies, Fidelity Systems, S1 Corporation, and Amdocs.

Some of these companies have longer operating histories, greater financial, marketing and other resources, greater
name recognition in other markets and a larger base of customers than we do. In addition, some companies have
well-established relationships with our current and potential customers. As a result, these competitors may be able to
devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products than we can.

We believe that we compete favorably in the industries we serve based on the following competitive advantages:
process-driven solutions for servicing and selling; real-time and transactional processes; real-time decision
management and vertical processes implemented in a multi-channel architecture. The technology advantages include:
Chordiant architecture providing an open services oriented architecture providing for integration with multiple legacy
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systems, third-party applications and communication channels and advanced browser based application environment
for high volume call center, mid-office and branch operations.

There is no one competitor, nor are there a small number of competitors that are dominant in our market. There are
many factors that may increase competition in the enterprise customer relationship management market, including
(i) entry of new competitors, (ii) mergers and alliances among existing competitors, (iii) consolidation in the software
industry and (iv) technological changes or changes in the use of the Internet. Increased competition may result in price
reductions, reduced gross margins and loss of market share, any of which could materially and adversely affect our
business, operating results and financial condition. Recent continuing consolidation in the software industry during
2006 may indicate that we will face new competitors in the future. Within the year Oracle completed an acquisition of
i-flex Solutions Ltd., a banking software maker headquartered in Mumbai, India. In 2005 Oracle had purchased a 43%
stake in the company. Also in 2006, International Business Machines (IBM) acquired Webify, a provider of
middleware to companies primarily in the insurance industry. In addition, in September 2005, IBM had acquired
DWL, a provider of middleware to companies in the banking, insurance, retail and telecommunications industries. In
January 2006, Oracle acquired Siebel Systems, Inc., a maker of customer relationship management software products.
While we do not believe that either i-flex Solutions, DWL, or Webify have been significant competitors of Chordiant
in the past, the acquisition of these companies by Oracle and IBM may indicate that we will face increased
competition from significantly larger and more established entities in the future.

11
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We cannot assure that we will be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors or that the
competitive pressure faced by us will not materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial
condition.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

Our success is in part dependent upon our ability to develop and protect proprietary technology and intellectual
proprietary rights. We rely primarily on a combination of contractual provisions, confidentiality procedures, patents
pending, trade secrets, and copyright and trademark laws to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights.

We license our products through non-exclusive license agreements that impose restrictions on customers’ ability to
utilize the software. In addition, we seek to avoid disclosure of our trade secrets, including requiring employees,
customers and others with access to our proprietary information to execute confidentiality agreements with us and
restricting access to our source code. We also seek to protect our rights in our products, documentation and other
written materials under trade secret and copyright laws. Due to rapid technological change, we believe factors such as
the technological and creative skills of our personnel, new product developments and enhancements to our existing
products are more important than the various legal protections of our technology to establishing and maintaining a
technology leadership position.

We integrate third party software into our products. Costs associated with integrated technology provided by third
parties historically accounts for approximately 2% to 5% of total license revenues. The third party software may not
continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. If we cannot maintain licenses to key third party
software, shipments of our products could be delayed until equivalent software is developed or licensed and integrated
into our products. Moreover, although we are generally indemnified against claims if technology licensed from third
parties infringes the intellectual property and proprietary rights of others, this indemnification is not always available
for all types of intellectual property and proprietary rights and in some cases the scope of this indemnification is
limited. There can be no assurance that infringement or invalidity claims arising from the incorporation of third-party
technology or claims for indemnification from our customers resulting from these claims will not be asserted or
prosecuted against us. These claims, even if not meritorious, could result in the expenditure of significant financial
and managerial resources, in addition to potential product redevelopment costs and delays.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, existing laws afford only limited protection. Attempts may be
made to copy or reverse engineer aspects of our products or to obtain and use information that we regard as
proprietary. There can be no assurance that we will be able to protect our proprietary rights against unauthorized third
party copying or use. Use by others of our proprietary rights could materially harm our business. Furthermore,
policing the unauthorized use of our products is difficult and expensive litigation may be necessary in the future to
enforce our intellectual property rights.

Third parties may claim, and have claimed, that we have infringed, or currently infringe, their current or future
products. We expect that software developers will increasingly be subject to infringement claims as the number of
products in different industry segments overlap. Any claims, with or without merit, are time-consuming, result in
costly litigation, prevent product shipment, cause delays, or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements,
any of which could harm our business. Patent litigation in particular has complex technical issues and inherent
uncertainties. If an infringement claim against us was successful and we could not obtain a license on acceptable
terms, license a substitute technology or redesign to avoid infringement, our business would be harmed.

The Company does not currently hold any patents but has certain patents pending.

Employees
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As of September 30, 2006, we employed 325 full time employees. Of that total, 87 were primarily engaged in product
development, engineering or systems engineering, 93 were engaged in sales and marketing, 83 were engaged in
professional services and 62 were engaged in operational, financial and administrative functions.

None of our employees are represented by a labor union and we have never experienced a work stoppage. We believe
that our relations with our employees are good. We believe our future success will depend in part on our continued
ability to recruit and retain highly skilled technical, finance, management and marketing personnel.

Financial Information About Geographic Areas

For a detailed description of our sales by geographic region, we incorporate by reference the information in Note 15 to
our consolidated financial statements contained in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. Although the Company’s revenues are not
considered seasonal, our international operations do experience a slow down in the summer months. For information
relating to the risks attendant to our foreign operations, we incorporate by reference the information under the
headings “—Risk Factors—If we fail to adequately address the difficulties of managing our international operations, our
revenues and operating expenses will be adversely affected” and “—Risk Factors—Fluctuations in the value of the U.S.
dollar relative to foreign currencies could make our products less competitive in international markets and could
negatively affect our operating results and cash flows.”

12

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

23



Table of Contents

Backlog

For a detailed discussion of backlog, we incorporate by reference the information in Part II, Item 7 “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” under the heading Financial Trends,
Backlog.

Available Information

We were incorporated in California in March 1991 and were reincorporated in Delaware in October 1997.

We maintain a site on the world-wide web at www.chordiant.com; however, information found on our website is not
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We make available free of charge on or through our
website our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission.

13
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The matters relating to the Audit Committee of the Board’s review of our historical stock option granting
practices and the restatement of our consolidated financial statements have required us to incur substantial
expenses, have resulted in litigation, and may result in additional litigation and future government enforcement
actions.

On July 24, 2006, the Company announced that the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, with the
assistance of independent legal counsel, was conducting a review of our stock option practices covering the time from
the Company’s initial public offering in 2000 through June 2006. As described in the Explanatory Note immediately
preceding Part I, Item 1, and in Note 3 “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” in Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Form 10-K, the Audit Committee reached a conclusion that incorrect
measurement dates were used for financial accounting purposes for stock option grants in certain prior periods. As a
result, the Company has recorded additional non-cash stock-based compensation expense, and related tax effects,
related to certain stock option grants, and the Company has restated certain previously filed financial statements
included in the Form 10-K.

This review of our historical stock option granting practices has required us to incur substantial expenses for legal,
accounting, tax and other professional services, has diverted our management’s attention from our business, and could
in the future adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our historical stock option granting practices and the restatement of our prior financial statements have exposed us to
greater risks associated with litigation and regulatory proceedings. Several derivative complaints have been filed
pertaining to allegations relating to stock option grants. We cannot assure you that these or future similar complaints
or any future litigation or regulatory action will result in the same conclusions reached by the Audit Committee. The
conduct and resolution of these matters will be time consuming, expensive and distracting from the conduct of our
business.

We contacted the SEC regarding the Audit Committee’s review and, in July 2006, the SEC commenced an
investigation into our historical stock option grant practices. In November 2006, a representative of the Audit
Committee and its advisors met with the enforcement staff of the SEC and provided them with a report of the Audit
Committee’s investigation and findings. In January 2007, the enforcement staff of the SEC notified the Company that
its investigation had been terminated and no enforcement action had been recommended to the Commission.

The finding of the Audit Committee’s review are more fully described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and in Item 9A of this Annual Report on Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2006.

We may be subject to further investigation by the SEC or litigation by private parties in connection with the
restatement of our interim financial statements for the fiscal quarters ended March 31, 2004, June 30,
2004, September 30, 2004, December 31, 2004, March 31, 2005, June 30, 2005, December 31, 2005, and March
31, 2006 and the fiscal years ended 2001, 2002, 2003, 2005 and nine months ended September 30, 2004.

In March 2005, we concluded that our interim financial statements for the fiscal quarters ended March 31, June 30,
and September 30, 2004 should no longer be relied upon because of various errors in such financial statements. We
restated those financial statements, which were reported in our 2004 Transition Report on Form 10-K/T filed with the
SEC on March 29, 2005. Additionally, in the course of preparing our 2005 financial results for the year ended
September 30, 2005, the Company and its independent registered public accounting firm, BDO Seidman, LLP,
identified certain errors in the Company’s 2005 interim financial statements for the quarters ended December 31,
2004, March 31, 2005, and June 30, 2005 and management concluded that as a result of these errors, the Company
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should restate the Company’s interim financial statements for these quarters. These errors are more fully described in
Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC
on December 9, 2005. On November 26, 2006, the Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the Audit
Committee and management concluded that Chordiant would restate its historical financial statements for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the nine-month period ended September 30, 2004, the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2005, and the quarters ended December 31, 2005 and March 31, 2006. These errors are more fully
described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report.

Section 408 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX) requires that the SEC review a public company’s filings no less
frequently than once every 3 years. The SEC’s staff in the Division of Corporation Finance in Washington D.C. has
reviewed the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005 and has
commented on the annual report to which the Company has provided written responses. The SEC may begin an
investigation or we may be subject to private litigation, which could require significant management and financial
resources which could otherwise be devoted to the operation of our business. If we are subject to an SEC investigation
or civil litigation, we could be required to pay penalties or damages or have other remedies imposed upon us. In
addition, we could become the target of expensive securities litigation related to other matters in the future. Any SEC
investigation or litigation could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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Historically, we have not been profitable and we may continue to incur losses, which may raise vendor viability
concerns thereby making it more difficult to close license transactions with new and existing customers.

We incurred losses of $16.0 million and $19.9 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
As of September 30, 2006, we had an accumulated deficit of $232.9 million. We may continue to incur losses and
cannot be certain that we can generate sufficient revenues to achieve profitability. Continued losses may leave many
customers reluctant to enter into new large value license transactions without some assurance that we will operate
profitably. If we fail to enter into new large value license transactions due to lack of vendor profitability and or
viability concerns, our revenues will decline, which could further adversely affect our operating results.

Because a small number of customers account for a substantial portion of our revenues, the loss of a significant
customer could cause a substantial decline in our revenues.

We derive a significant portion of our license and service revenues from a limited number of customers. The loss of a
major customer could cause a decrease in revenues and net income. For the year ended September 30, 2006, Citicorp
Credit Services accounted for 12% of our total revenue. While our customer concentration has fluctuated, we expect
that a limited number of customers will continue to account for a substantial portion of our revenues. As a result, if we
lose a major customer, or if a contract is delayed or cancelled or we do not contract with new major customers, our
revenues and net loss would be adversely affected. In addition, customers that have accounted for significant revenues
in the past may not generate revenues in any future period, causing our failure to obtain new significant customers or
additional orders from existing customers to materially affect our operating results.

If we fail to adequately address the difficulties of managing our international operations, our revenues and
operating expenses will be adversely affected.

For the year ended September 30, 2006, international revenues were $37.5 million or approximately 38% of our total
revenues. While North American revenues have increased recently as a percentage of our overall revenues,
international revenues will continue to represent a significant portion of our total revenues in future periods. We have
faced, and will continue to face, difficulties in managing international operations which include:

• Difficulties in hiring qualified local personnel;

• Seasonal fluctuations in customer orders;

• Longer accounts receivable collection cycles;

• Expenses associated with licensing products and servicing customers in foreign markets;

• Economic downturns and political uncertainty in international economies; and

• Expectations of European economic growth that is lower than for the US.

Any of these factors could have a significant impact on our ability to license products on a competitive and timely
basis and could adversely affect our operating expenses and net income. Additionally we closed our only French
office in the first fiscal quarter of 2007. The absence of a business office in France may harm our ability to attract and
retain customers in that country.

Our known backlog of business may not result in revenue.
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An increasingly material portion of our revenues has been derived from large orders, as major customers deployed our
products. We define backlog as contractual commitments by our customers through purchase orders or contracts.
Backlog is comprised of software license orders which have not been accepted by customers or have not otherwise
met all of the required criteria for revenue recognition, deferred revenue from customer support contracts, and
deferred consulting and education orders for services not yet completed or delivered. Backlog is not necessarily
indicative of revenues to be recognized in a specified future period. There are many factors that would impact the
Company’s filling of backlog, such as the Company’s progress in completing projects for its customers and Chordiant’s
customers’ meeting anticipated schedules for customer-dependent deliverables. The Company provides no assurances
that any portion of its backlog will be filled during any fiscal year or at all or that its backlog will be recognized as
revenues in any given period. In addition, it is possible that customers from whom we expect to derive revenue from
backlog will default and as a result we may not be able to recognize expected revenue from backlog.

Fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies could make our products less
competitive in international markets and could negatively affect our operating results and cash flows.

15
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A significant portion of our sales and operating expenses result from transactions outside of the United States, often in
foreign currencies. These currencies include the United Kingdom Pound Sterling, the Euro and the Canadian Dollar.
Our international sales comprised 38% of our total sales for the year ended September 30, 2006. Our international
sales comprised 50% of our total sales for the year ended September 30, 2005. Our future operating results will
continue to be subject to fluctuations in foreign currency rates, especially if international sales grow as a percentage of
our total sales, and we may be negatively impacted by fluctuations in foreign currency rates in the future. For the year
ended September 30, 2006, we had an unrealized foreign currency translation gain of approximately $1.2 million.

Geopolitical concerns could make the closing of license transactions with new and existing customers difficult.

Our revenues will decrease in fiscal year 2007 or beyond if we are unable to enter into new large-scale license
transactions with new and existing customers. The current state of world affairs and geopolitical concerns have left
many customers reluctant to enter into new large value license transactions without some assurance that the economy
both in the customer’s home country and worldwide will have some economic and political stability. Geopolitical
instability will continue to make closing large license transactions difficult. In addition, we cannot predict what effect
the U.S. military presence overseas or potential or actual political or military conflict have had or are continuing to
have on our existing and prospective customers’ decision-making process with respect to licensing or implementing
enterprise-level products such as ours. Our ability to enter into new large license transactions also directly affects our
ability to create additional consulting services and maintenance revenues, on which we also depend.

Competition in our markets is intense and could reduce our sales and prevent us from achieving profitability.

Increased competition in our markets could result in price reductions for our products and services, reduced gross
margins and loss of market share, any one of which could reduce our future revenues. The market for our products is
intensely competitive, evolving and subject to rapid technological change. Historically, our primary competition has
been from internal development, custom systems integration projects and application software competitors. In
particular, we compete with:

• Internal information technology departments: in-house information technology departments of potential customers
have developed or may develop systems that provide some or all of the functionality of our products. We expect that
internally developed application integration and process automation efforts will continue to be a significant source of
competition.

• Custom systems integration projects: we compete with large systems integrators who may develop custom solutions
for specific companies which may reduce the likelihood that they would purchase our products and services.

• Point application vendors: we compete with providers of stand-alone point solutions for web-based customer
relationship management and traditional client/server-based, call-center service customer and sales-force automation
solution providers.

In addition, recent continuing consolidation in the software industry during 2006 may indicate that we will face new
competitors in the future. Within the year Oracle completed an acquisition of i-flex Solutions Ltd., a banking software
maker headquartered in Mumbai, India. In 2005 Oracle had purchased a 43% stake in the company. Also in 2006,
IBM acquired Webify, a provider of middleware to companies primarily in the insurance industry. In addition, in
September 2005, IBM had acquired DWL, a provider of middleware to companies in the banking, insurance, retail
and telecommunications industries. In January 2006, Oracle acquired Siebel Systems, Inc., a maker of customer
relationship management software products. Siebel Systems, Inc. was a competitor of ours. While we do not believe
that either i-flex Solutions, DWL or Webify have been significant competitors of Chordiant in the past, the acquisition
of these companies by Oracle and IBM may indicate that we will face increased competition from significantly larger
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and more established entities in the future.

Many of our competitors have greater resources and broader customer relationships than we do. In addition, many of
these competitors have extensive knowledge of our industry. Current and potential competitors have established, or
may establish, cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties to offer a single solution and to
increase the ability of their products to address customer needs.

We may experience a shortfall in revenue, earnings, cash flow or otherwise fail to meet public market
expectations, which could materially and adversely affect our business and the market price of our common
stock.

Our revenues and operating results may fluctuate significantly because of a number of factors, many of which are
outside of our control. Some of these factors include:

• Size and timing of individual license transactions;
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• Delay or deferral of customer implementations of our products and subsequent impact on revenues;

• Lengthening of our sales cycle;

• Potential additional deterioration and changes in domestic and foreign markets and economies;

• Success in expanding our global services organization, direct sales force and indirect distribution channels;

• Timing of new product introductions and product enhancements;

• Appropriate mix of products licensed and services sold;

• Levels of international transactions;

• Activities of and acquisitions by competitors;

• Product and price competition; and

• Our ability to develop and market new products and control costs.

One or more of the foregoing factors may cause our operating expenses to be disproportionately high during any given
period or may cause our revenues and operating results to fluctuate significantly. Based upon the preceding factors,
we may experience a shortfall in revenues and earnings or otherwise fail to meet public market expectations, which
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and the market price of
our common stock.

If our stockholders approve our proposed reverse stock split, our stock price may be adversely affected.

On February 15, 2007, our stockholders will consider at a special meeting whether to approve a reverse split of our
outstanding shares of common stock by a ratio of two and one-half (2.5) to 1 (the “Reverse Split”). If approved and our
Board of Directors proceed to effect the Reverse Split, our stock price may decline back to pre-Reverse Stock split
levels. If the Reverse Split is effected and the per share price of our common stock declines, the percentage decline as
an absolute number and as a percentage of our overall market capitalization may be greater than would occur in the
absence of the Reverse Split.

Our operating results and cash flows fluctuate significantly and delays in delivery or implementation of our
products or changes in the payment terms with customers may cause unanticipated declines in revenues or
cash flow, which could disappoint investors and result in a decline in our stock price.

Our quarterly revenues depend primarily upon product implementation by our customers. We have historically
recognized a significant portion of our license and services revenue through the percentage-of-completion method,
using labor hours incurred as the measure of progress towards completion of implementation of our products and we
expect this practice to continue. The percentage of completion accounting method requires ongoing estimates of
progress of complicated and frequently changing technology projects. Documenting the measure of progress towards
completion of implementation is subject to potential errors and changes in estimates. As a result, even minor errors or
minor changes in estimates may lead to significant changes in accounting results which may be revised in later
quarters due to subsequent information and events. Thus, delays or changes in customer business goals or direction
when implementing our software may negatively impact our quarterly revenue. Additionally, we may increasingly
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enter into term, subscription or transaction based licensing transactions that would cause us to recognize license
revenue for such transactions over a longer period of time than we have historically experienced for our perpetual
licenses. In addition, a significant portion of new customer orders have been booked in the third month of each
calendar quarter, with many of these bookings occurring in the last two weeks of the third month. We expect this trend
to continue and, therefore, any failure or delay in bookings would decrease our quarterly revenue and cash flows. The
terms and conditions of individual license agreements with customers vary from transaction to transaction.
Historically, the Company has been able to obtain prepayments for product in some cases. Other transactions link
payment to the delivery or acceptance of products. In particular, we have deferred the recognition of all revenue from
the license order from Citicorp Credit Services, Inc. that we received in December of 2006 pending our completion
and delivery of a collections application that was one of the required elements under that license order. We currently
anticipate that we will deliver the collections application in the third fiscal quarter of 2007 but any delay in our
development or delivery of that application could result in a significant delay in our ability to recognize revenue from
that license and may cause an unanticipated shortfall in our revenue. If we are unable to negotiate prepayments of fees
our cash flows and financial ratios with respect to accounts receivable would be negatively impacted. If our revenues,
operating margins or cash flows are below the expectations of the investment community, our stock price is likely to
decline.
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If we fail to maintain and expand our relationships with systems integrators and other business partners, our
ability to develop, market, sell, and support our products may be adversely affected.

Our development, marketing and distribution strategies rely on our ability to form and maintain long-term strategic
relationships with systems integrators, in particular, our existing business alliance partners, IBM, and Accenture.
These business relationships often consist of joint marketing programs, technology partnerships and resale and
distribution arrangements. Although most aspects of these relationships are contractual in nature, many important
aspects of these relationships depend on the continued cooperation between the parties. Divergence in strategy, change
in focus, competitive product offerings or potential contract defaults may interfere with our ability to develop, market,
sell, or support our products, which in turn could harm our business. If either IBM or Accenture were to terminate
their agreements with us or our relationship were to deteriorate, it could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. In many cases, these parties have extensive relationships with
our existing and potential customers and influence the decisions of these customers. A number of our competitors
have stronger relationships with IBM and Accenture and, as a result, these systems integrators may be more likely to
recommend competitors’ products and services. In addition, in September 2005, IBM had acquired DWL, a provider of
middleware to companies in the banking, insurance, retail and telecommunications industries. In 2006, IBM
acquired Webify, a provider of middleware to companies primarily in the insurance industry. While we do not believe
that either DWL or Webify had been a direct competitor of Chordiant in the past, IBM’s acquisition of DWL and
Webify may indicate that IBM will become a competitor of ours in the future. While the Company currently has good
relationship with IBM, this relationship and the Company’s strategic relationship agreement with IBM may be harmed
if the Company increasingly finds itself competing with IBM. Our relationships with systems integrators and their
willingness to recommend our products to their customers could be harmed if the Company were to be subject to a
take over attempt from a competitor of such systems integrators.

If systems integrators fail to properly implement our software, our business, reputation and financial results
may be harmed.

We are increasingly relying on systems integrators to implement our products, and this trend may continue. As a
result, we have less quality control over the implementation of our software with respect to these transactions and are
more reliant on the ability of our systems integrators to correctly implement our software. If these systems integrators
fail to properly implement our software, our business, reputation and financial results may be harmed.

Our primary products have a long sales and implementation cycle, which makes it difficult to predict our
quarterly results and may cause our operating results to vary significantly.

The period between initial contact with a prospective customer and the implementation of our products is
unpredictable and often lengthy, ranging from three to twenty-four months. Thus, revenue and cash receipts could
vary significantly from quarter to quarter. Any delays in the implementation of our products could cause reductions in
our revenues. The licensing of our products is often an enterprise-wide decision that generally requires us to provide a
significant level of education to prospective customers about the use and benefits of our products. The implementation
of our products involves significant commitment of technical and financial resources and is commonly associated with
substantial implementation efforts that may be performed by us, by the customer or by third-party systems integrators.
If we underestimate the resources required to meet the expectations we have set with a customer when we set prices,
then we may lose money on that customer engagement. If this happens with a large customer engagement, then this
could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. Customers generally consider a wide range of issues
before committing to purchase our products, including product benefits, ability to operate with existing and future
computer systems, vendor financial stability and longevity, ability to accommodate increased transaction volume and
product reliability.
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If we do not improve our internal control over financial reporting, investors could lose confidence in our
financial reporting and customers may delay purchasing decisions, which would harm our business and the
market price of our common stock.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports. If we cannot provide reliable
financial reports, our business could be harmed. We are a complex company with complex accounting issues and thus
subject to related risks of errors in financial reporting which may cause problems in corporate governance, the costs of
which may outweigh the costs of the underlying errors themselves. For example, the Audit Committee of the
Company’s Board of Directors, with the assistance of outside legal counsel, conducted a review of our stock option
practices covering the time from the Company’s initial public offering in 2000 through September 2006. The Audit
Committee reached a conclusion that incorrect measurement dates were used for financial accounting purposes for
stock option grants in certain prior periods. As a result, the Company has recorded additional non-cash stock-based
compensation expense, and related tax effects, related to stock option grants and concluded that a material weakness
surrounding the control activities relating to the stock option grants existed at September 30, 2006. To correct these
accounting errors, we restated the consolidated financial statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended September 30, 2006 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended June 30, 2006.
As a result of this need to restate financial statements, management and the Audit Committee determined that material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting existed. These material weaknesses have contributed to
increased expenses and efforts required for our financial reporting.
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If we are not successful in implementing effective internal controls over financial reporting, customers may delay
purchasing decisions or we may lose customers, create investor uncertainty, face litigation and the market price of our
common stock may decline. For more information, please refer to the discussion under the heading “Item 9A. Controls
and Procedures” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

If we are not able to successfully manage our partner operations in India, our operations and financial results
may be adversely affected.

In fiscal year 2003, we entered into an agreement with Ness Technologies Inc., Ness Global Services, Inc. and Ness
Technologies India, Ltd. (collectively, “Ness”), an independent contracting company with global technical resources and
an operations center in Bangalore, India and operations in other locations. The agreement provides for Ness, at our
direction, to attract, train, assimilate and retain sufficient highly qualified personnel to perform staffing for consulting
projects, technical support, product test and certain sustaining engineering functions. As of September 30, 2006, we
use the services of approximately 126 consultants through Ness. In addition, as a result of the reduction in our
workforce that took place in July 2005, and the reduction in our workforce that took place in October 2006, by
approximately 10% in each instance, we are now more dependent on Ness. The expansion of this agreement is an
important component of our strategy to address the business needs of our customers and manage our expenses. The
success of this operation will depend on our ability and Ness’s ability to attract, train, assimilate and retain highly
qualified personnel in the required periods. A disruption of our relationship with Ness could adversely affect our
operations. Failure to effectively manage the organization and operations will harm our business and financial results.

We have incurred and may continue to incur, in future periods, significant stock-based compensation charges
related to certain stock options and stock awards, which may adversely affect our reported financial results.

On October 1, 2005, we adopted SFAS 123(R), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation
expense for all share-based payment awards made to the Company’s employees and directors including employee
stock options, restricted stock awards and employee stock purchases related to the ESPP based on estimated fair
values. For the year ended September 30, 2006, we recorded $4.7 million of compensation expense associated with
these awards. Although the effect from the adoption of SFAS 123(R) is expected to continue to have a material impact
on the Company’s results of operations, future changes to various assumptions used to determine the fair value of
awards issued, or the amount and type of equity awards granted create uncertainty as to the amount of future
stock-based compensation expense.

If our products do not operate effectively in a company-wide environment, we may lose sales and suffer
decreased revenues.

If existing customers have difficulty deploying our products or choose not to fully deploy our products, it could
damage our reputation and reduce revenues. Our success requires that our products be highly scalable, and able to
accommodate substantial increases in the number of users. Our products are expected to be deployed on a variety of
computer software and hardware platforms and to be used in connection with a number of third-party software
applications by personnel who may not have previously used application software systems or our products. These
deployments present very significant technical challenges, which are difficult or impossible to predict. If these
deployments do not succeed, we may lose future sales opportunities and suffer decreased revenues. If we
underestimate the resources required to meet the expectations we have set with a customer when we set prices, then
we may lose money on that customer engagement. If this happens with a large customer engagement then this could
have a material adverse effect on our financial results.
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Defects in our products could diminish demand for our products and result in decreased revenues, decreased
market acceptance and injury to our reputation.

Errors may be found from time-to-time in our new, acquired or enhanced products. Any significant software errors in
our products may result in decreased revenues, decreased sales, and injury to our reputation and/or increased warranty
and repair costs. Although we conduct extensive product testing during product development, we have in the past
discovered software errors in our products as well as in third-party products, and as a result have experienced delays in
the shipment of our new products.

Because competition for qualified personnel is intense, we may not be able to retain or recruit personnel, which
could impact the development and sales of our products.

If we are unable to hire or retain qualified personnel, or if newly hired personnel fail to develop the necessary skills or
fail to reach expected levels of productivity, our ability to develop and market our products will be weakened. Our
success depends largely on the continued contributions of our key management, finance, engineering, sales and
marketing and professional services personnel. In particular, we have recently had significant turnover of our
executives as well as in our in our sales,
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marketing and finance organizations and many key positions are held by people who are new to the Company or to
their roles. If these people are unable to quickly become familiar with the issues they face in their roles or are not well
suited to their new roles, then this could result in the Company having problems in executing its strategy or in
reporting its financial results. Because of the dependency on a small number of large deals, we are uniquely dependent
upon the talents and relationships of a few executives and have no guarantee of their retention. Changes in key sales
management could affect our ability to maintain existing customer relationships or to close pending transactions. We
have been targeted by recruitment agencies seeking to hire our key management, finance, engineering, sales and
marketing and professional services personnel. In addition, in July 2005 and again in October of 2006, we reduced the
size of our workforce by approximately 10% in each instance, which may have a negative effect on our ability to
attract and retain qualified personnel.

To date, our sales have been concentrated in the financial services, telecommunications and retail markets, and
if we are unable to continue sales in these markets or successfully penetrate new markets, our revenues may
decline.

Sales of our products and services in three large markets—financial services, telecommunications and retail markets
accounted for approximately 89 % and 87 % of our total revenues for the year ended September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. We expect that revenues from these three markets will continue to account for a substantial portion of
our total revenues for the foreseeable future. If we are unable to successfully increase penetration of our existing
markets or achieve sales in additional markets, or if the overall economic climate of our target markets deteriorates,
our revenues may decline.

Low gross margin in services revenues could adversely impact our overall gross margin and income.

Our services revenues have had lower gross margins than our license revenues. Service revenues comprised 58% and
62% of our total revenues for the year ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Gross margin on service
revenues was 46% and 42% for the year ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. License revenues
comprised 42% and 38% of our total revenues for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Gross
margins on license revenues were 96% and 97% for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

As a result, an increase in the percentage of total revenues represented by services revenues, or an unexpected
decrease in license revenues, could have a detrimental impact on our overall gross margins. To increase services
revenues, we would expand our services organization, successfully recruit and train a sufficient number of qualified
services personnel, enter into new implementation projects and obtain renewals of current maintenance contracts by
our customers. This expansion could further reduce gross margins in our services revenues.

We may not have the workforce necessary to support our platform of products if demand for our products
substantially increased, and, if we need to rebuild our workforce in the future, we may not be able to recruit
personnel in a timely manner, which could negatively impact the development and sales of our products.

In July 2005 and again in October of 2006, we reduced the size of our workforce by approximately 10% in each
instance. In the event that demand for our products increases, we may need to rebuild our workforce or increase
outsourced functions to companies based in foreign jurisdictions and we may be unable to hire, train or retain
qualified personnel in a timely manner, which may weaken our ability to market our products in a timely manner,
negatively impacting our operations. Our success depends largely on ensuring that we have adequate personnel to
support our platform of products as well as the continued contributions of our key management, finance, engineering,
sales and marketing and professional services personnel.
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If we fail to introduce new versions and releases of functional and scalable products in a timely manner,
customers may license competing products and our revenues may decline.

If we are unable to ship or implement enhancements to our products when planned, or fail to achieve timely market
acceptance of these enhancements, we may suffer lost sales and could fail to achieve anticipated revenues. We have in
the past, and expect in the future, to derive a significant portion of our total revenues from the license of our primary
product suite. Our future operating results will depend on the demand for the product suite by future customers,
including new and enhanced releases that are subsequently introduced. If our competitors release new products that
are superior to our products in performance or price, or if we fail to enhance our products or introduce new features
and functionality in a timely manner, demand for our products may decline. We have in the past experienced delays in
the planned release dates of new versions of our software products and upgrades. New versions of our products may
not be released on schedule or may contain defects when released.

We depend on technology licensed to us by third parties, and the loss or inability to maintain these licenses
could prevent or delay sales of our products.

We license from several software providers technologies that are incorporated into our products. We anticipate that we
will continue to license technology from third parties in the future. This software may not continue to be available on
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commercially reasonable terms, if at all. While currently we are not materially dependent on any single third party for
such licenses, the loss of the technology licenses could result in delays in the license of our products until equivalent
technology is developed or identified, licensed and integrated into our products. Even if substitute technologies are
available, there can be no guarantee that we will be able to license these technologies on commercially reasonable
terms, if at all.

Defects in third party products associated with our products could impair our products’ functionality and
injure our reputation.

The effective implementation of our products depends upon the successful operation of third-party products in
conjunction with our products. Any undetected defects in these third-party products could prevent the implementation
or impair the functionality of our products, delay new product introductions or injure our reputation. In the past, while
our business has not been materially harmed, product releases have been delayed as a result of errors in third-party
software and we have incurred significant expenses fixing and investigating the cause of these errors.

Our customers and systems integration partners may have the ability to alter our source code and resulting
inappropriate alterations could adversely affect the performance of our products, cause injury to our
reputation and increase operating expenses.

Customers and systems integration partners may have access to the computer source code for certain elements of our
products and may alter the source code. Alteration of our source code may lead to implementation, operation,
technical support and upgrade problems for our customers. This could adversely affect the market acceptance of our
products, and any necessary investigative work and repairs could cause us to incur significant expenses and delays in
implementation.

If our products do not operate with the hardware and software platforms used by our customers, our
customers may license competing products and our revenues will decline.

If our products fail to satisfy advancing technological requirements of our customers and potential customers, the
market acceptance of these products could be reduced. We currently serve a customer base with a wide variety of
constantly changing hardware, software applications and networking platforms. Customer acceptance of our products
depends on many factors such as:

• Our ability to integrate our products with multiple platforms and existing or legacy systems; and,

• Our ability to anticipate and support new standards, especially Internet and enterprise Java standards.

Our failure to successfully integrate with future acquired or merged companies and technologies could prevent
us from operating efficiently.

Our business strategy includes pursuing opportunities to grow our business, both through internal growth and through
merger, acquisition and technology and other asset transactions. To implement this strategy, we may be involved in
merger and acquisition activity and additional technology and asset purchase transactions. Merger and acquisition
transactions are motivated by many factors, including, among others, our desire to grow our business, acquire skilled
personnel, obtain new technologies and expand and enhance our product offerings. Growth through mergers and
acquisitions has several identifiable risks, including difficulties associated with successfully integrating distinct
businesses into new organizations, the substantial management time devoted to integrating personnel, technology and
entire companies, the possibility that we might not be successful in retaining the employees, undisclosed liabilities, the
failure to realize anticipated benefits (such as cost savings and synergies) and issues related to integrating acquired
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technology, merged/acquired companies or content into our products (such as unanticipated expenses). Realization of
any of these risks in connection with any technology transaction or asset purchase we have entered into, or may enter
into, could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

If we become subject to intellectual property infringement claims, including patent infringement claims, these
claims could be costly and time-consuming to defend, divert management’s attention, cause product delays and
have an adverse effect on our revenues and net income.

We expect that software product developers and providers of software in markets similar to our target markets will
increasingly be subject to infringement claims as the number of products and competitors in our industry grows and
the
functionality of products overlap. Any claims, with or without merit, could be costly and time-consuming to defend,
divert our management’s attention or cause product delays. If any of our products were found to infringe a third party’s
proprietary rights, we could be required to enter into royalty or licensing agreements to be able to sell our products.
Royalty and licensing agreements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all.
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In particular, if we were sued for patent infringement by a patent holding company, one which has acquired large
numbers of patents solely for the purpose of bringing suit against alleged infringers rather than practicing the patents,
it may be costly to defend such suit. We have received a letter from one such patent holding company alleging that our
products may infringe their one or more of their patents. If any of our products were found to infringe such patent, the
patent holder could seek an injunction to enjoin our use of the infringing product. If we were not able to remove or
replace the infringing portions of software with non-infringing software, and were no longer able to license some or
all of our software products, such an injunction would have an extremely detrimental effect on our business. If we
were required to settle such claim, it could be extremely costly. A patent infringement claim could have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

The application of percentage of completion and completed contract accounting to our business is complex and
may result in delays in the reporting of our financial results and revenue not being recognized as we expect.

Although we attempt to use standardized license agreements designed to meet current revenue recognition criteria
under generally accepted accounting principles, we must often negotiate and revise terms and conditions of these
standardized agreements, particularly in multi-product transactions. At the time of entering into a transaction, we
assess whether any services included within the arrangement require us to perform significant implementation or
customization essential to the functionality of our products. For contracts involving significant implementation or
customization essential to the functionality of our products, we recognize the license and professional consulting
services revenues using the percentage-of-completion method using labor hours incurred as the measure of progress
towards completion. The application of the percentage of completion method of accounting is complex and involves
judgments and estimates, which may change significantly based on customer requirements. This complexity combined
with changing customer requirements could result in delays in the proper determination of our percentage of
completion estimates and revenue not being recognized as we expect.

We have also entered into co-development projects with our customers to jointly develop new vertical applications,
often over the course of a year or longer. In such cases we may only be able to recognize revenue upon delivery of the
new application. The accounting treatment for these co-development projects could result in delays in the recognition
of revenue. The failure to successfully complete these projects to the satisfaction of the customer could have a
material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Changes in our revenue recognition model could result in short term declines to revenue.

Historically, a high percentage of license revenues have been accounted for on the percentage of completion method
of accounting or recognized as revenue upon the delivery of product. If we were to modify future contracts with
customers, or to enter into new types of transactions accounted for on a subscription or term basis, revenues might be
recognized over a longer period of time. The impact of this change would make revenue recognition more predictable
over the long term, but it might also result in a short term reduction of revenue as the new transactions took effect.

We may continue to encounter unexpected delays in implementing the requirements relating to internal control
over financial reporting and we expect to incur additional expenses and diversion of management’s time as a
result of performing future system and process evaluation, testing and remediation required to comply with
future management assessment and auditor attestation requirements.

In connection with the Company’s compliance with Section 404 under SOX for the fiscal years ended September 30,
2006 and 2005, we identified certain material weaknesses. In future periods, we will continue to document our
internal controls to allow management to report on, and our independent registered public accounting firm to attest to,
our internal control, over financial reporting as required by Section 404 of SOX, within the time frame required by
Section 404. We may encounter unexpected delays in implementing those requirements, therefore, we cannot be
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certain about the timing of the completion of our evaluation, testing and remediation actions or the impact that these
activities will have on our operations. We also expect to incur additional expenses and diversion of management’s time
as a result of performing the system and process evaluation, testing and remediation required to comply with
management’s assessment and auditor attestation requirements. If we are not able to timely comply with the
requirements set forth in Section 404 in future periods, we might be subject to sanctions or investigation by the
regulatory authorities. Any such action could adversely affect our business or financial results.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

On August 8, 2006, we received a comment letter from the staff of the Division of Corporation Finance of the SEC.
Additional questions were received in comment letter dated October 27, 2006 and January 25, 2007. The comments
from the staff were issued with respect to its review of our Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005, our
Forms 10-Q for the quarterly periods ended December 31, 2005 and March 31, 2006 and Forms 8-K filed on February
9 and May 4, 2006. The staff’s letters included comments relating the application of, and disclosures relating to, the
percentage of completion method of accounting; the accounting for post-contract customer support; the accounting for
arrangements that include a subscription element; and the presentation of non-GAAP operating results appearing in
press releases.

On August 17, 2006 and November 13, 2006, we responded to the staff’s comments and included supplemental
analyses and information requested by the staff. On January 27, 2007, we received a third comment letter from the
Division of Corporation Finance of the SEC. In this most recent set of comments, the staff is requesting additional
clarifications of our November 13, 2006 responses. As of the date of the filing of this Form 10-K, we are in the
process of responding to this latest set of comments.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters are located in offices that are approximately 25,000 square feet in Cupertino, California pursuant to
an office lease expiring in December 2008. We also lease office space in Mahwah New Jersey and Bedford, New
Hampshire. Outside of the United States, we have offices in the greater metropolitan areas of London, Madrid,
Amsterdam, Frankfurt and Munich. Subsequent to September 30, 2006, we relocated our London office, closed our
French office, and believe our existing facilities meet our current needs and that we will be able to obtain additional
commercial space as needed.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Beginning in July 2001, we and certain of our officers and directors (“Individuals”) were named as defendants in a series
of class action stockholder complaints filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York,
now consolidated under the caption, “In re Chordiant Software, Inc. Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, Case
No. 01-CV-6222”. In the amended complaint, filed in April 2002, the plaintiffs allege that we, the Individuals, and the
underwriters of our initial public offering (“IPO”) violated section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 and section 10(b) of
the Exchange Act of 1934 based on allegations that the our registration statement and prospectus failed to disclose
material facts regarding the compensation to be received by, and the stock allocation practices of, our IPO
underwriters. The complaint also contains claims against the Individuals for control person liability under Securities
Act section 15 and Exchange Act section 20. The plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief.
Similar complaints were filed in the same court against hundreds of other public companies (“Issuers”) that conducted
IPO’s of their common stock in the late 1990s or in the year 2000 (collectively, the “IPO Lawsuits”).

In August 2001, all of the IPO Lawsuits were consolidated for pretrial purposes before United States Judge Shira
Scheindlin of the Southern District of New York. In July 2002, we joined in a global motion to dismiss the IPO
Lawsuits filed by all of the Issuers (among others). In October 2002, the Court entered an order dismissing the
Individuals from the IPO Cases without prejudice, pursuant to an agreement tolling the statute of limitations with
respect to the Individuals. In February 2003, the court issued a decision denying the motion to dismiss the Section 11
claims against Chordiant and almost all of the other Issuers and denying the motion to dismiss the Section 10(b)
claims against Chordiant and many of the Issuers.
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In June 2003, Issuers and plaintiffs reached a tentative settlement agreement that would, among other things, result in
the dismissal with prejudice of all claims against the Issuers and Individuals in the IPO Lawsuits, and the assignment
to plaintiffs of certain potential claims that the Issuers may have against the underwriters. The tentative settlement also
provides that, in the event
that plaintiffs ultimately recover less than a guaranteed sum of $1 billion from the IPO underwriters, plaintiffs would
be entitled to payment by each participating Issuer’s insurer of a pro rata share of any shortfall in the plaintiffs’
guaranteed recovery. In September 2003, in connection with the possible settlement, those Individuals who had
entered tolling agreements with plaintiffs (described above) agreed to extend those agreements so that they would not
expire prior to any settlement being finalized. In June 2004, Chordiant and almost all of the other Issuers entered into
a formal settlement agreement with the plaintiffs. On February 15, 2005, the Court issued a decision certifying a class
action for settlement purposes, and granting preliminary approval of the settlement subject to modification of certain
bar orders contemplated by the settlement. On August 31, 2005, the Court reaffirmed class certification and
preliminary approval of the modified settlement in a comprehensive Order, and directed that Notice of the settlement
be published and mailed to class members beginning November 15, 2005. On February 24, 2006, the Court dismissed
litigation filed against certain underwriters in connection with the claims to be assigned to the plaintiffs under the
settlement. On April 24, 2006, the Court held a Final Fairness Hearing to determine whether to grant final approval of
the settlement. On December 5, 2006, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals vacated the lower Court's earlier decision
certifying as class actions the six IPO Lawsuits designated as "focus cases." The Court has ordered a stay of all
proceedings in all of the IPO Lawsuits pending the outcome of Plaintiffs' rehearing petition to the Second Circuit.
Accordingly, the Court's decision on final approval of the settlement remains pending.
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If this settlement is not finalized as proposed, then this action may divert the efforts and attention of our management
and, if determined adversely to us, could have a material impact on our business, results of operations, financial
condition or cash flows.

On August 1, 2006, a stockholder derivative complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of California by Jesse Brown under the caption Brown v. Kelly, et al. Case No. C06-04671 JW (N.D. Cal.). 
On September 13, 2006, a second stockholder derivative complaint was filed in the United States District Court for
the Northern District of California by Louis Suba under the caption Suba v. Kelly et al., Case No. C06-05603 JW
(N.D. Cal.).  Both complaints were brought purportedly on behalf of the Company against certain current and former
officers and directors.   On November 27, 2006, the court entered an order consolidating these actions
and requiring the plaintiffs to file a consolidated complaint.  The consolidated complaint was filed on January 11,
2007.  The consolidated complaint alleges, among other things, that the named officers and directors: (a) breached
their fiduciary duties as they colluded with each other to backdate stock options, (b) violated section 10(b), 14(a) and
20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder through their alleged actions,
and (c) were unjustly enriched by their receipt and retention of such stock options.  The Company's response to the
complaint is due on February 28, 2007. 

In September 2006, the Company received a letter from Acacia Technologies Group, a patent holding company,
suggesting that the Company may be infringing on two patents, designated by United States Patent Numbers
5,537,590 and 5,701,400, which are held by one of their patent licensing and enforcement subsidiaries. The Company
is currently reviewing the validity of these patents and whether the Company’s products may infringe upon them. The
Company has not formed a view of whether the Company may have liability for infringement of these patents. Any
related claims, whether or not they have merit, could be costly and time-consuming to defend, divert our
management’s attention or cause product delays. If any of our products were found to infringe such patents, the patent
holder could seek an injunction to enjoin our use of the infringing product. If we were required to settle such a claim,
it could have a material impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

We are also subject to various other claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. The ultimate
disposition of these various other claims and legal actions is not expected to have a material effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. However, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

On August 1, 2006, our Annual Meeting of Stockholders was held in Cupertino, California. Of the 79,616,230 shares
outstanding and entitled to vote as of the record date of June 15, 2006, 70,010,495 shares were present or represented
by proxy at the meeting. At the meeting, stockholders were asked to vote with respect to (i) the election of two Class
III directors to hold office until the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until such time as their respective
successors are elected and qualified and the election to re-designate one Class III director to Class II to hold office for
the remaining Class II term until the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and (ii) the ratification of the selection of
BDO Seidman, LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending September 30,
2006.

The following nominees were elected as class III directors, each to hold office until the 2009 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders or until such time as their respective successors are elected and qualified, by the vote set forth below:

Nominee Votes For Withheld
Broker

Non-Votes
Samual T. Spadafora (1) 66,311,843 3,698,652 0
William J. Raduchel 67,926,871 2,083,624 0

(1) On November 30, 2006 Mr. Spadafora resigned from the Board of Directors

The following nominee was re-designated from a class III director to a class II to hold office for the remaining class II
term until the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until such time as their respective successors are elected and
qualified, by the vote set forth below:

Nominee Votes For Withheld
Broker

Non-Votes
David A. Weymouth 67,833,889 2,176,606 0

 In addition to the directors elected above, David R. Springett, Steven R. Springsteel, Charles E. Hoffman and Richard
G. Stevens continued to serve as directors after the annual meeting.

The selection of BDO Seidman, LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ended
September 30, 2006 was ratified by the vote set forth below:

Votes For Votes Against Abstentions
Broker

Non-Votes
69,859,087 133,075 18,333 0

The Company has changed the date of the 2007 annual meeting of stockholders which was previously scheduled to be
held on or about March 1, 2007. The Company expects to hold the 2007 annual meeting of stockholders on April 24,

2007.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “CHRD.” The following table shows, for
the periods indicated, the high and low per share sales prices of our common stock, as reported by the NASDAQ
National Market. The prices appearing in the tables below reflect over-the-counter market quotations, which reflect
inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, markdown or commission and may not necessarily represent actual
transactions. 

High Low
Year Ended September 30, 2006
First Quarter (October 1 - December 31) $ 3.00 $ 2.49
Second Quarter (January 1 - March 31) $ 3.53 $ 2.56
Third Quarter (April 1 - June 30) $ 3.60 $ 2.86
Fourth Quarter (July 1 - September 30) $ 3.20 $ 2.29
Year Ended September 30, 2005
First Quarter (October 1 - December 31) $ 3.50 $ 1.78
Second Quarter (January 1 - March 31) $ 2.35 $ 1.64
Third Quarter (April 1 - June 30) $ 2.16 $ 1.38
Fourth Quarter (July 1 - September 30) $ 3.00 $ 2.15

As of January 31, 2007, there were approximately 246 holders of record of our common stock who together held
approximately 3,804,797 shares of our common stock. The remainder of our shares outstanding is held by brokers and
other institutions on behalf of stockholders. We have never paid or declared any cash dividends. We currently expect
to retain working capital for use in the operation and expansion of our business and therefore do not anticipate paying
any cash dividends.

In response to the SEC’s adoption of Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we approved
amendments to our insider trading policy on July 20, 2001 to permit our directors, executive officers and certain key
employees to enter into trading plans or arrangements for systematic trading in our securities. We have been advised
that certain of our directors, officers and key employees have entered into trading plans for selling shares in our
securities. As of September 30, 2006, the directors and executive officers who have entered into trading plans include
Samuel T. Spadafora who has since retired as an executive officer and resigned as a member of the Board and James
D. St. Jean. We anticipate that, as permitted by Rule 10b5-1 and our insider trading policy, some or all of our
directors, executive officers and employees may establish trading plans at some date in the future.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

For information relating to securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans, please refer to the
information under the heading, “Employee Benefit Plans” in Item 8, Footnote 13 of this Form 10-K.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On August 12, 2002, we entered into an agreement with IBM to market our products and services to customers. We
issued a fully vested and exercisable warrant to purchase up to 0.2 million shares of common stock. The exercise price
was set at $2.25 per share. The warrant was valued at $0.1 million based on the Black-Scholes model using the
following assumptions: volatility: 105%, risk-free interest rate: 3.22% and fair market value of our common stock at
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the grant date: $0.84. The value of the warrant was recorded as a prepaid expense and was offset against revenue
during 2003 upon the completion of an IBM revenue generating transaction. On September 20, 2006, IBM exercised
the warrants in a cashless transaction resulting in 48,075 of Chordiant shares being issued to IBM.

The shares were issued under the exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 (the”Act”) set forth in
Section 4(2) of the Act
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2005 and the consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2005 and the nine months ended September 30, 2004 have been restated as set forth in this
2006 Form 10-K. We derived the selected data for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and years ended
September 30, 2005 and 2006 from our audited restated consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing
in this Form 10-K. The consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003
and the consolidated balance sheet date as of September 30, 2004, December 31, 2003 and 2002 have been restated to
conform to the restated consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K and are presented herein on an
unaudited basis. The data for the consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 have been restated to reflect the impact of stock-based compensation
adjustments described below, but such restated data have not been audited and are derived from the books and records
of the Company. The diluted net loss per share computation excludes potentially dilutive shares of common stock
(restricted stock, options and warrants to purchase common stock), since their effect would be anti-dilutive. See the
notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed explanation of the determination of the shares used to
compute basic and diluted net loss per share. The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of results of
future operations, and should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto included in
Item 8 of this Form 10-K to fully understand factors that may affect the comparability of the information presented
below. The information presented in the following tables has been adjusted to reflect the restatement of the Company’s
financial results, which is more fully described in the “Explanatory Note” preceding Part 1, Item 1 and in Note 3
“Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial Statements in this
Form 10-K.

The Company has not amended its previously-filed Annual Reports on Form 10-K or Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q
for the periods affected by this restatement. The financial information that has been previously filed or otherwise
reported for these periods is superseded by the information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the financial
statements and related financial information contained in such previously-filed reports should no longer be relied
upon.

Years Ended September 30,

Nine Months
Ended

September 30, Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Restated(1) Restated(1) Restated(1)(2) Restated(1)(2)
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated
Statement of
Operations Data:
Revenues $ 97,536 $ 83,725 $ 61,023 $ 68,266 $ 73,851
Net loss (16,001) (19,865) (1,371) (17,932) (35,036)
Net loss per
share—basic and
diluted $ (0.21) $ (0.27) $ (0.02) $ (0.30) $ (0.64)
Weighted average
shares used in
computing basic and
diluted net loss per

77,682 74,449 69,761 59,353 55,055
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Years Ended September 30, Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Restated(1) Restated(1) Restated(1)(2) Restated(1)(2)
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash
equivalents $ 45,278 $ 38,546 $ 55,748 $ 36,218 $ 30,731
Working capital 22,323 23,733 46,296 19,480 20,569
Total assets 111,503 107,250 115,340 83,811 90,759
Current and long
term portion of
capital lease
obligations 95 309 508 — —
Short-term and
long-term borrowings — — — — 1,250
Short-term and
long-term deferred
revenue 29,505 26,197 20,581 18,396 18,594
Stockholders’ equity $ 57,225 $ 65,157 $ 75,912 $ 48,350 $ 50,811

(1) See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments 
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Years Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30
2005 (1) 2004 (1)

As
previously
reported Adjustment Restated

As
previously
reported Adjustment Restated

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated
Statement of
Operations Data:
Revenues $ 83,725 $ — $ 83,725 $ 61,023 $ — $ 61,023
Net loss (19,540) (325) (19,865) (443 ) (928) (1,371)
Net loss per
share—basic and
diluted $ (0.26) $ (0.01) $ (0.27) $ (0.01 ) $ (0.01) $ (0.02)
Weighted average
shares used in
computing basic
and diluted net
loss per share 74,449 — 74,449 69,761 — 69,761

September 30,
2005 (1) 2004 (1)

As
previously
reported Adjustment Restated

As
previously
reported Adjustment Restated

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated
Balance Sheet
Data:
Cash and cash
equivalents $ 38,546 $ — $ 38,546 $ 55,748 $ — $ 55,748
Working capital 24,133 (400) 23,733 46,560 (264) 46,296
Total assets 107,250 — 107,250 115,340 — 115,340
Current and long
term portion of
capital lease
obligations 309 — 309 508 — 508
Short-term and
long-term
borrowings — — — — — —
Short-term and
long-term deferred
revenue 26,197 — 26,197 20,581 — 20,581
Stockholders’
equity $ 65,557 $ (400) $ 65,157 $ 76,176 $ (264) $ 75,912

(1) See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments.

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

51



28

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

52



Table of Contents

Years ended December 31,
2003 (1) (2) 2002 (1) (2)

As
previously
reported Adjustment Restated

As
previously
reported Adjustment Restated

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated
Statement of
Operations Data:
Revenues $ 68,266 $ — $ 68,266 $ 73,851 $ — $ 73,851
Net loss (16,403) (1,529 ) (17,932) (32,321) (2,715 ) (35,036)
Net loss per
share—basic and
diluted $ (0.28) $ (0.02) $ (0.30) $ (0.59 ) $ (0.05) $ (0.64)
Weighted average
shares used in
computing basic
and diluted net
loss per share 59,353 — 59,353 55,055 — 55,055

December 31,
2003 (1) (2) 2002 (1) (2)

As
previously
reported Adjustment Restated

As
previously
reported Adjustment Restated

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated
Balance Sheet
Data:
Cash and cash
equivalents $ 36,218 $ — $ 36,218 $ 30,731 $ — $ 30,731
Working capital 19,576 (96 ) 19,480 20,569 — 20,569
Total assets 83,811 — 83,811 90,759 — 90,759
Short-term and
long-term
borrowings — — — 1,250 — 1,250
Short-term and
long-term deferred
revenue 18,396 — 18,396 18,594 — 18,594
Stockholders’
equity $ 48,446 $ (96 ) $ 48,350 $ 50,811 $ — $ 50,811

(1)  See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments.

(2)  The unaudited consolidated statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
and the unaudited consolidated balance sheet data as of September 30, 2004, December 31, 2003 and 2002 have
been revised to reflect adjustments related to the restatement described below under “Management’s Discussion and
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Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements”
and Note 3 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The cumulative after tax impact of all
restatement adjustments related to years prior to 2002 totaled $2.6 million and these amounts are reflected in the
restated stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2001. The impact on previously reported net loss of these
adjustments was a decrease of $2.1 million and $0.5 million or 4.9% and 1.3% for the fiscal years 2001 and 2000,
respectively. The impact on previously reported basic and diluted loss per share of these adjustments was an
increase in loss per share of ($0.04) and ($0.01) for fiscal years 2001 and 2000, respectively

No dividends have been paid or declared since our inception. Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142 (“SFAS 142”), “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” and ceased amortizing goodwill balances. Effective October 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS
No. 123R as more fully described in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Safe Harbor

The following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements. These statements are based on our
current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections about our business and our industry, and involve known
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our or our industry’s results, levels of activity,
performance or achievement to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or
achievements expressed or implied in or contemplated by the forward-looking statements. Words such as “believe,”
“anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “will,” “may,” “should,” “estimate,” “predict,” “guidance,” “potential,”
“continue” or the negative of such terms or other similar expressions, identify forward-looking statements. Our actual
results and the timing of events may differ significantly from those discussed in the forward-looking statements as a
result of various factors, including but not limited to, those discussed in Item 1 of this Form 10-K under the caption
“Risk Factors” and those discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report and in our other filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Chordiant undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events
after the date of this report.

Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements and Related Proceedings

The following information has been adjusted to reflect the restatement of the Company’s financial results, which is
more fully described in the “Explanatory Note” immediately preceding Part I, Item 1 and in Note 3, “Restatement of
Consolidated Financial Statements” in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-K. The impact of
the restatements on the Company’s results of operations resulted in an increase in stock-based compensation expenses
and associated payroll tax expense of $2.1 million, $2.7 million, $1.5 million for the twelve months ended December
31, 2001, 2002, 2003, respectively, $0.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004, $0.3 million for the
twelve months ended 2005, and $0.2 million for the twelve months ended 2006.

Executive Overview

As an enterprise software vendor, we generate substantially all of our revenues from the financial services,
telecommunications, and retail industries. Our customers typically fund purchases of our software and services out of
their lines of business and information technology budgets. As a result, our revenues are heavily influenced by our
customers’ long-term business outlook and willingness to invest in new enterprise information systems and business
applications.

Beginning in late calendar 2000, the financial services and telecommunications industries entered into a steep and
long economic downturn, with industry sales dropping from late 2000 through the first part of 2003. Over the past
several years, our customers have focused on controlling costs and reducing risk, including constraining information
technology and lines of business expenditures and requiring more favorable pricing terms from their suppliers and
pursuing consolidation within their own industries. As a result of this downturn, our license fee revenues declined
19% in fiscal 2003.

Beginning in the latter part of 2003, economic conditions began to show signs of improvement, which were reflected
in increases in various economic indicators such as productivity, labor statistics and consumer confidence. This trend
has continued through our fiscal year 2006 and appears to have had a favorable impact, specifically in information
technology spending. For the year ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 and the nine months ended September 30,
2004, we were able to grow total revenues on a year over year basis.
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Software Industry Consolidation and Possible Increased Competition

The software industry in general is continuing to undergo a period of consolidation, and there has been recent
consolidation in sectors of the software industry in which we operate. During 2006, Oracle completed the acquisition
of i-flex Solutions Ltd., a banking software maker headquartered in Mumbai, India, acquired Siebel Systems, Inc., a
maker of customer relationship management software products and acquired Portal Software, a provider of billing and
revenue management solutions for the communications and media industry. Also, during 2006, IBM acquired Webify,
a provider of middleware to companies primarily in the insurance industry.

In September 2005, IBM acquired DWL, a provider of middleware to companies in the banking, insurance, retail and
telecommunications industries. In September 2005, SSA Global Technologies acquired Epiphany, Inc., a maker of
customer relationship management software products. While we do not believe that these acquired companies are
direct competitors of Chordiant, the acquisition activity of these large corporations of software providers to the
industries we target may indicate that we will face increased competition from significantly larger and more
established entities in the future.
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Stock-based Compensation Expense

On October 1, 2005, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based
Payment,” (“SFAS 123(R)”) which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all
share-based payment awards made to our employees and directors related to employee stock options (“employee stock
purchases”) based on estimated fair values. Stock-based compensation expense recognized under SFAS 123(R) for the
year ended September 30, 2006 was $4.7 million which consisted of stock-based compensation expense related to
employee stock options of $2.7 million and stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock awards of
$2.0 million.

Upon adoption of SFAS 123(R), we began estimating the value of employee stock options on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes model. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the value of each employee stock option was
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model for the purpose of the pro forma financial information in
accordance with SFAS 123. The determination of fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using
an option-pricing model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of highly complex
and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to the expected stock price volatility over the
term of the awards, and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. The use of a Black-Scholes
model requires the use of extensive actual employee exercise behavior data and the use of a number of complex
assumptions including expected volatility, risk-free interest rates, expected lives and expected dividend yields. The
weighted-average estimated value of employee stock options granted during the twelve months ended September 30,
2006 was $1.99 per share using the Black-Scholes model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

For the twelve months ended September
30,

For the nine
months ended
September 30,

2006 2005 2004
Expected lives in years 3.9 2.6 2.6
Risk free interest rates 4.8% 3.3% 2.8%
Volatility 88% 98% 85%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model
with the weighted average assumptions for volatility, expected term and risk-free rate. With the adoption of
SFAS 123(R) on October 1, 2005, we used the trinomial lattice valuation technique to determine the assumptions used
in the Black-Scholes model. The trinomial lattice valuation technique was used to provide a better estimate of fair
values and meet the fair value objectives of SFAS 123( R). The expected term of options granted is derived from
historical data on employee exercises and post-vesting employment termination behavior. The risk-free interest rate is
based on the U.S. Treasury rates in effect during the corresponding period of grant. The expected volatility rate is
based on the historical volatility of our stock price.

As stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for fiscal year 2006 is
based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS 123(R) requires
forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates. Forfeitures were estimated based on historical experience.

If factors change and we employ different assumptions in the application of SFAS 123(R) in future periods, the
compensation expense that we record under SFAS 123(R) may differ significantly from what we have recorded in the
current period. The estimated value of a stock option is most sensitive to the volatility assumption. Based on the
September 30, 2006 variables, it is estimated that a change of 10% in either the volatility, expected life or interest rate
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assumption would result in a corresponding 7%, 4% or 1% change in the estimated value of the option being valued
using the Black-Scholes model.

Financial Trends

Backlog. An increasingly material portion of our revenues has been derived from large orders, as major customers
deployed our products. As of September 30, 2006 and 2005, we had approximately $36 million and $33 million,
respectively, in backlog, which we define as contractual commitments by our customers through purchase orders or
contracts. Backlog is comprised of:

• software license orders which have not been accepted by customers or have not otherwise met all of the required
criteria for revenue recognition. This component includes both unbilled amounts plus billed amounts classified as
deferred revenue;

• deferred revenue from customer support contracts;
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• consulting service orders representing the unbilled remaining balances of consulting contracts not yet completed or
delivered, plus deferred consulting revenue; and

• education orders for services not yet completed or delivered.

Backlog is not necessarily indicative of revenues to be recognized in a specified future period and except for items
included in non-current deferred revenue, backlog is generally recognizable as revenue within a twelve-month period.
There are many factors that would impact Chordiant’s conversion of backlog as recognizable revenue, such as
Chordiant’s progress in completing projects for its customers, Chordiant’s customers meeting anticipated schedules for
customer-dependent deliverables and customers increasing the scope or duration of a contract causing license revenue
to be deferred for a longer period of time.

Chordiant provides no assurances that any portion of its backlog will be recognized as revenue during any fiscal year
or at all or that its backlog will be recognized as revenues in any given period. In addition, it is possible that customers
from whom we expect to derive revenue from backlog will default and as a result we may not be able to recognize
expected revenue from backlog.

Product Development. Chordiant has entered into several product co-development arrangements with its customers.
These projects relate to software products that were in various stages of development prior to the consummation of the
individual arrangements. Upon the completion of the software, the Company intends to license these products to other
customers. License revenue relating to these arrangements will be deferred until the delivery of the final products,
provided all other requirements of SOP 97-2 are met. Expenses associated with these co-development arrangements
are expensed as incurred as they are considered to be research and development costs that do not qualify for
capitalization or deferral. The accounting for these transactions differs from the percentage of completion method or
completed contract method, as expenses are recognized in the period incurred and no revenue is recognized until the
final product is delivered. As of September 30, 2006, license fees aggregating approximately $2.6 million associated
with these arrangements had been deferred. We expect that research and development costs will increase as the
volume of co-development activities increase.

Gross margins. Management focuses on license and service gross margin in evaluating our financial condition and
operating performance. Gross margins on license revenues were 96%, 97%, and 94% for twelve months ended
September 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. The changes in gross margins are primarily related to the
amortization expense associated with capitalized software development costs pertaining to a banking product. We
expect license gross margin on current products to range from 95% to 97% in the foreseeable future. The margin will
fluctuate with the mix of products sold. Historically, the enterprise solution products have higher associated third
party royalty expense than the marketing solution products and decision management products. The banking product
that was completed during the year ended September 30, 2005 also has higher royalties than other products.

Gross margins on service revenues were 46%, 42%, and 40% for the twelve months ended September 30, 2006, 2005,
and 2004, respectively. The increase in gross margins from 2005 and 2004 is primarily due to improved service
utilization rates in the U.S. In addition, margins increased as a result of the company switching to lower cost third
party service providers and an increase in higher margin post-contract customer support revenues.

Service revenues. Service revenues as a percentage of total revenues were 58%, 62%, and 59% for the twelve months
ended September 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. We expect that service revenues will represent between 50%
and 60% of our total revenues in the foreseeable future.
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Revenues from international customers versus North America revenues. For all periods presented, revenues were
principally derived from customer accounts in North America and Europe. For the twelve months ended September
30, 2006, 2005, and 2004, international revenues were $37.5 million, $42.0 million, and $45.3 million or
approximately 38%, 50%, and 56% of our total revenues, respectively. We believe international revenues will
continue to represent a significant portion of our total revenues in future periods. International revenues were
negatively impacted for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, as compared to fiscal year ended September 30,
2005, as both the British Pound and the Euro decreased in average value by less than 1% and approximately 3%,
respectively, as compared to the U.S. Dollar.

For the twelve months ended September 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004, North America revenues were $60.0 million, $41.7
million, and $30.2 million or approximately 62%, 50%, and 44%% of our total revenues, respectively. As the U.S.
economy has strengthened, we have seen an increase in North America revenues. Large customers have become more
willing to invest in new enterprise infrastructure projects. We believe North America revenues will continue to
represent an increasing portion of our total revenues in the future.
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Acquisition of KiQ Limited. On December 21, 2004, we acquired KiQ Limited, a privately-held United Kingdom
software company with branch offices in the Netherlands (“KiQ”), specializing in the development and sales of decision
management systems. The year ended September 30, 2005 includes the revenue and expense of KiQ from the
acquisition date, December 21, 2004, through the end of the fiscal year, September 20, 2005. The year ended
September 30, 2006 includes the revenues and expenses of KiQ for the entire fiscal year. The acquisition resulted in
an increase to our headcount of approximately 20 employees as of the acquisition date. The majority of these
individuals are in the Cost of Service and Research and Development areas, accordingly personnel costs are now
higher in these categories for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2006. KiQ operations have been integrated into
the financial operations and the decision management products are actively being marketed to customers across all
regions.

Costs related to compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Significant professional services are included in
general and administrative costs relating with efforts to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. For the year
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, these costs were $1.8 million, and $4.5 million, respectively. We expect these
costs to continue for the year ended September 30, 2007. While these costs are expected to decline as compared to the
costs incurred for the year ended September 30, 2006, the level and timing of the decline is uncertain.

Costs related to stock option investigation. Significant professional services are included in general and administrative
costs associated with the Company’s stock option investigation which is more fully described in the “Explanatory Note”
immediately preceding Part I, Item 1 and in Note 3, “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial
Statements” in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-K. For the year ended September 30, 2006,
these costs were $1.2 million. We expect these costs to continue through the first half of fiscal year 2007. In the first
quarter of fiscal 2007, we incurred aggregate costs of $1.0 million.

Reduction in workforce. In October 2006, the Company initiated a restructuring plan intended to align its resources
and cost structure with expected future revenues. The restructuring plan included a balancing of services resources
worldwide, an elimination of duplicative functions internationally, and a shift in the U.S. field organization toward a
focus on domain-based sales and pre-sales teams.

The restructuring plan included an immediate reduction in positions of slightly more than ten percent of the
Company's workforce, consolidation of European facilities, and the closure of our French office. A majority of the
positions eliminated were in Europe. The plan was committed to on October 24, 2006, and employees were begun to
be notified on October 25, 2006.

The Company estimates that it will record pre-tax cash restructuring charges, in the first quarter of fiscal year 2007 of
approximately $1.9 to $2.1 million for severance costs, between $4.0 million to $4.8 million for exiting excess
facilities, and $0.1 million for other charges. The facilities are subject to operating leases expiring thru 2010. The
Company anticipates that between $5.2 million to $6.2 million of the charge will result in cash expenditures of which
the majority will be severance paid in cash during the first quarter of fiscal year 2007.

In July 2005, we undertook an approximate 10% reduction in our workforce. In connection with this action, we
incurred a one-time cash charge of approximately $1.0 million in the fourth quarter ended September 30, 2005 for
severance benefits.

Past results may not be indicative of future performance. We believe that period-to-period comparisons of our
operating results should not be relied upon as indicative of future performance. Our prospects must be considered
given the risks, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in early stages of development,
particularly companies in new and rapidly evolving businesses. There can be no assurance we will be successful in
addressing these risks and difficulties. Moreover, we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

61



Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities.

On an on-going basis, we evaluate the estimates, including those related to our allowance for doubtful accounts,
valuation of stock-based compensation, valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, valuation of deferred tax assets,
restructuring costs, contingencies, vendor specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value in multiple element
arrangements and the estimates associated with the percentage-of-completion method of accounting for certain of our
revenue contracts. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
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We believe the following critical accounting judgments and estimates are used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements:

• Revenue recognition, including estimating the total estimated time required to complete sales arrangements involving
significant implementation or customization essential to the functionality of our products;

• Estimating valuation allowances and accrued liabilities, specifically the allowance for doubtful accounts, and
assessment of the probability of the outcome of our current litigation;

• Stock-based compensation expense;

• Accounting for income taxes;

• Valuation of long-lived and intangible assets and goodwill;

• Restructuring costs; and

• Determining functional currencies for the purposes of consolidating our international operations.

Revenue recognition. We derive revenues from licenses of our software and related services, which include assistance
in implementation, customization and integration, post-contract customer support, training and consulting. The
amount and timing of our revenue is difficult to predict and any shortfall in revenue or delay in recognizing revenue
could cause our operating results to vary significantly from quarter to quarter and could result in increased operating
losses. The accounting rules related to revenue recognition are complex and are affected by interpretation of the rules
and an understanding of industry practices, both of which are subject to change. Consequently, the revenue
recognition accounting rules require management to make significant estimates based on judgments.

Software license revenue is recognized in accordance with Statement of Position No. 97-2 “Software Revenue
Recognition,” as amended by Statement of Position No. 98-9 “Software Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain
Arrangements” (collectively “SOP 97-2”).

For arrangements with multiple elements, we recognize revenue for services and post-contract customer support based
upon VSOE of fair value of the respective elements. VSOE of fair value for the services element is based upon the
standard hourly rates we charge for the services when such services are sold separately. The VSOE of fair value for
annual post-contract customer support is generally established with the contractual future renewal rates included in the
contracts when the renewal rate is substantive and consistent with the fees when support services are sold separately.
When contracts contain multiple elements and VSOE of fair value exists for all undelivered elements, we account for
the delivered elements, principally the license portion, based upon the “residual method” as prescribed by SOP 97-2. In
multiple element transactions where VSOE is not established for an undelivered element, we recognize revenue upon
the establishment of VSOE for that element or when the element is delivered.

At the time we enter into a transaction, we assess whether any services included within the arrangement require us to
perform significant implementation or customization essential to the functionality of our products.

For contracts for products that do not involve significant implementation or customization essential to the product
functionality, we recognize license revenues when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the fee is fixed or
determinable, collection of the fee is probable and delivery has occurred as prescribed by SOP No. 97-2.
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For contracts that involve significant implementation or customization essential to the functionality of our products,
we recognize the license and professional consulting services revenue using either the percentage-of-completion
method or the completed contract method as prescribed by Statement of Position No. 81-1, “Accounting for
Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Product-Type Contracts” (“SOP 81-1”).

The percentage-of-completion method is applied when we have the ability to make reasonable dependable estimates
of the total effort required for completion using labor hours incurred as the measure of progress towards completion.
The progress toward completion is measured based on the “go-live” date. We define the “go-live” date as the date the
essential product functionality has been delivered or the application enters into a production environment or the point
at which no significant additional Chordiant supplied professional service resources are required. Estimates are subject
to revisions as the contract progresses to completion. We account for the changes as changes in accounting estimates
when the information becomes known. Information impacting estimates obtained after the balance sheet date but
before the issuance of the financial statements is used to update the estimates. Provisions for estimated contract losses,
if any, are recognized in the period in which the loss becomes
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probable and can be reasonably estimated. When we sell additional licenses related to the original licensing
agreement, revenue is recognized upon delivery if the project has reached the go-live date, or if the project has not
reached the go-live date, revenue is recognized under the percentage-of-completion method. We classify revenues
from these arrangements as license and service revenues based upon the estimated fair value of each element using the
residual method.

The completed contract method is applied when we are unable to obtain reasonable dependable estimates of the total
effort required for completion. Under the completed contract method, all revenue and related costs of revenue are
deferred and recognized upon completion.

For product co-development arrangements relating to software products in development prior to the consummation of
the individual arrangements, where the Company retains the intellectual property being developed, and intends to sell
the resulting products to other customers, license revenue is deferred until the delivery of the final product, provided
all other requirements of SOP 97-2 are met. Expenses associated with these co-development arrangements are
accounted for under SFAS 86 and are normally expensed as incurred as they are considered to be research and
development costs that do not qualify for capitalization or deferral.

Revenue from subscription or term license agreements, which include software, rights to unspecified future products
and maintenance, is recognized ratably over the term of the subscription period. Revenue from subscription or term
license agreements, which include software, but exclude rights to unspecified future products or maintenance, is
recognized upon delivery of the software if all conditions of recognizing revenue have been met including that the
related agreement is non-cancelable, non-refundable and provided on an unsupported basis.

In situations in which we are obligated to provide unspecified additional software products in the future, we recognize
revenue as a subscription ratably over the term of the subscription period.

Revenues generated from fees charged to customers for providing transaction processing are recognized as revenue in
the same period as the related transactions occur.

We recognize revenue for post-contract customer support ratably over the support period which ranges from one to
three years.

Our training and consulting services revenues are recognized as such services are performed on an hourly or daily
basis for time and material contracts. For consulting services arrangements with a fixed fee, we recognize revenue on
the proportional performance method.

For all sales we use either a signed license agreement or a binding purchase order where we have a master license
agreement as evidence of an arrangement. Sales through our third party systems integrators are evidenced by a master
agreement governing the relationship together with binding purchase orders or order forms on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Revenues from reseller arrangements are recognized on the “sell-through” method,
when the reseller reports to us the sale of our software products to end-users. Our agreements with customers and
resellers do not contain product return rights.

We assess collectibility based on a number of factors, including past transaction history with the customer and the
credit-worthiness of the customer. We generally do not request collateral from our customers. If we determine that the
collection of a fee is not probable, we defer the fee and recognize revenue at the time collection becomes probable,
which is generally upon the receipt of cash. If a transaction includes extended payment terms, we recognized revenue
as the payments become due and payable.
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Allowance for doubtful accounts. We must make estimates of the uncollectability of our accounts receivables. We
specifically analyze accounts receivable and analyze historical bad debts, customer concentrations, customer
credit-worthiness and current economic trends when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts.
Generally, we require no collateral from our customers. Our gross accounts receivable balance was $19.1 million with
an allowance for doubtful accounts of $0.1 million as of September 30, 2006. Our gross accounts receivable balance
was $19.2 million with an allowance for doubtful accounts of $0.2 million as of September 30, 2005. If the financial
condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowances would be required. To date bad debts have not been material and have been within
management’s expectations.

Stock-based Compensation Expense. Upon adoption of SFAS 123(R) on October 1, 2005, we began estimating the
value of employee stock options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model. Prior to the adoption of SFAS
123(R), the value of each employee stock option was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model for
the purpose of the pro forma financial disclosure in accordance with SFAS 123. The determination of fair value of
share-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by our stock price as well
as assumptions regarding a number of highly complex
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and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to the expected stock price volatility over the
term of the awards, and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. The expected term of options
granted is derived from historical data on employee exercises and post-vesting employment termination behavior. The
expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of our stock.

With the adoption of SFAS 123(R) on October 1, 2005, we used the trinomial lattice valuation technique to determine
the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model. The trinomial lattice valuation technique was used to provide better
estimates of fair values and meet the fair value objectives of SFAS 123(R).

In connection with the Company’s restatement of its consolidated financial statements, the Company has applied
judgment in choosing whether to revise measurement dates for prior options grants. Information regarding the
restatement, including ranges of possible additional stock-based compensation expense if other measurement dates
had been selected for certain grants, is set forth in Note 3-“Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial
Statements” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-K.

Accounting for income taxes. As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements we are required
to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves estimating our
actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items,
such as deferred revenue, for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and
liabilities, which are included within our consolidated balance sheet. We must then assess the likelihood that our
deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and to the extent we believe that recovery is not
likely, we must establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we establish a valuation allowance or increase this
allowance in a period, we must include an expense within the tax provision in the statement of operations.

We have recorded a valuation allowance equal to 100% of the deferred tax assets as of September 30, 2006, due to
uncertainties related to our ability to utilize our net deferred tax assets, primarily consisting of certain net operating
losses carried forward and research and development tax credits. Deferred tax assets have been fully reserved for in all
periods presented.

Valuation of long-lived and intangible assets and goodwill. We assess the impairment of identifiable intangibles and
long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. Furthermore, we assess the impairment of goodwill annually. Factors we consider important which could
trigger an impairment review include the following:

• Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;

• Significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business;

• Significant negative industry or economic trends;

• Significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period;

• Market capitalization declines relative to net book value; and

• A current expectation that, more likely than not, a long-lived asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of significantly
before the end of its previously estimated useful life.

When one or more of the above indicators of impairment occurs we estimate the value of long-lived assets and
intangible assets to determine whether there is impairment. We measure any impairment based on the projected
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discounted cash flow method, which requires us to make several estimates including the estimated cash flows
associated with the asset, the period over which these cash flows will be generated and a discount rate commensurate
with the risk inherent in our current business model. These estimates are subjective and if we made different
estimates, it could materially impact the estimated fair value of these assets and the conclusions we reached regarding
an impairment. To date, we have not identified any triggering events which would require us to perform this analysis.

We are required to perform an impairment review of our goodwill balance on at least an annual basis. This
impairment review involves a two-step process as follows:

Step 1—We compare the fair value of our reporting units to the carrying value, including goodwill, of each of those
units. For each reporting unit where the carrying value, including goodwill, exceeds the unit’s fair value, we proceed
on to Step 2. If a unit’s fair value exceeds the carrying value, no further work is performed and no impairment charge is
necessary.
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Step 2—We perform an allocation of the fair value of the reporting unit to our identifiable tangible and non-goodwill
intangible assets and liabilities. This derives an implied fair value for the reporting unit’s goodwill. We then compare
the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill. If the
carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill is greater than the implied fair value of its goodwill, an impairment
charge would be recognized for the excess.

We determined that we have one reporting unit. We completed a goodwill impairment review for the period including
September 30, 2006 and 2005 and performed Step 1 of the goodwill impairment analysis required by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” and concluded that goodwill
was not impaired as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 using the methodology described above. Accordingly, Step 2
was not performed. We will continue to test for impairment on an annual basis and on an interim basis if an event
occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of our reporting units below their
carrying amount.

Restructuring costs. During fiscal years 2005, 2003, and the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we implemented
cost-reduction plans as part of our continued effort to streamline our operations to reduce ongoing operating expenses.
In October 2006, we implemented a restructuring plan intended to align our resources and cost structure. These plans
resulted in restructuring charges related to, among others, the consolidation of excess facilities. These charges relate to
facilities and portions of facilities we no longer utilize and either seek to terminate early or sublease. Lease
termination costs and brokerage fees for the abandoned facilities were estimated for the remaining lease obligations
and were offset by estimated sublease income. Estimates related to sublease costs and income are based on
assumptions regarding the period required to locate and contract with suitable sub-lessees and sublease rates which
can be achieved using market trend information analyses provided by a commercial real estate brokerage retained by
us. Each reporting period we review these estimates and to the extent that these assumptions change due to new
agreements with landlords, new subleases with tenants, or changes in the market, the ultimate restructuring expenses
for these abandoned facilities could vary by material amounts.

Determining functional currencies for the purpose of consolidation. We have several foreign subsidiaries that together
account for a significant portion of our revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities.

In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to translate the financial statements of the foreign
subsidiaries from the currency in which they keep their accounting records, generally the local currency, into United
States dollars. This process results in exchange gains and losses which, under the relevant accounting guidance are
either included within the statement of operations or as a separate part of our net equity under the caption “accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss).” Under the relevant accounting guidance, the treatment of these translation gains or
losses is dependent upon management’s determination of the functional currency of each subsidiary. The functional
currency is determined based on management’s judgment and involves consideration of all relevant economic facts and
circumstances affecting the subsidiary. Generally, the currency in which the subsidiary conducts a majority of its
transactions, including billings, financing, payroll and other expenditures would be considered the functional currency
but any dependency upon the parent and the nature of the subsidiary’s operations must also be considered.

If any subsidiary’s functional currency were deemed to be the local currency, then any gain or loss associated with the
translation of that subsidiary’s financial statements would be included in cumulative translation adjustments. However,
if the functional currency were deemed to be the United States dollar then any gain or loss associated with the
translation of these financial statements would be included within our statement of operations. If we dispose of any of
our subsidiaries, any cumulative translation gains or losses would be recognized in our statement of operations. If we
determine that there has been a change in the functional currency of a subsidiary to the United States dollar, any
translation gains or losses arising after the date of change would be included within our statement of operations.
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Based on our assessment of the factors discussed above, we consider the relevant subsidiary’s local currency to be the
functional currency for each of our international subsidiaries. Accordingly, foreign currency translation gains and
loses are included as part of accumulated other comprehensive income within our balance sheet for all periods
presented.

The magnitude of these gains or losses is dependent upon movements in the exchange rates of the foreign currencies
in which we transact business against the United States dollar. These currencies include the United Kingdom
Pound Sterling, the Euro and the Canadian Dollar. Any future translation gains or losses could be significantly higher
than those reported in previous periods. At September 30, 2006, approximately $14.6 million of our cash and cash
equivalents were held by our subsidiaries outside of the United States.

Prior to June 30, 2005, the settlement of accumulated intercompany loans and advances was not planned or
anticipated. Loans and advances made subsequent to this date are anticipated as cash balances may need to be
transferred between entities. Exchange gains or losses on these intercompany balances are reflected in the statement of
operations.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Staff Position (FSP) EITF 00-19-2,
“Accounting for Registration Payment Arrangements.” This FSP specifies that the contingent obligation to make future
payments or otherwise transfer consideration under a registration payment arrangement, whether issued as a separate
agreement or included as a provision of a financial instrument or other agreement, should be separately recognized
and measured in accordance with FASB Statement No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” The guidance is effective for
fiscal years beginning December 15, 2006. The Company has evaluated the new pronouncement and has determined
that it will not have a significant impact on the determination or reporting of our financial results.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides
guidance on how the effects of the carryover or reversal of prior year misstatements should be considered in
quantifying a current year misstatement. The guidance is applicable for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006.
The Company has evaluated the new statement and has determined that it will not have a significant impact on the
determination or reporting of our financial results.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 157, (“SFAS 157”) “Fair
Value Measurement.” SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and also expands
disclosures about fair value measurements. The SFAS 157 is effective for periods beginning after November 15, 2007.
The Company is currently evaluating the effects of implementing this new standard.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, (“SFAS 158”) “Employer’s Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension
and Other Postretirement Plans-an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132R.” SFAS 158 requires an
entity to recognize in its statement of financial position an asset for a defined benefit postretirement plan’s overfunded
status or a liability for a plan’s under funded status. The requirement to recognize the funded status of a defined
postretirement plan and the disclosure requirements are effective for fiscal years ending after December 31, 2006. The
Company has evaluated the new statement and has determined that it will not have a significant impact on the
determination or reporting of our financial results.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (FIN 48), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions.
This Interpretation requires that the Company recognize in its financial statements the impact of a tax position based
on the technical merits of the position. This interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2006, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained
earnings; accordingly, the Company expects to adopt this standard in its fiscal year commencing October 1, 2007. The
Company is currently evaluating the effects of implementing this new standard.

In March 2006, the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force issued Issue 06-3 (EITF 06-3), “How Sales Taxes Collected
From Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement.” A
tentative consensus was reached that a company should disclose its accounting policy (i.e., gross or net presentation)
regarding presentation of taxes within the scope of EITF 06-3. If taxes are significant, a company should disclose the
amount of such taxes for each period for which an income statement is presented. The guidance is effective for periods
beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company presents sales net of sales taxes in its consolidated statement of
operations and does not anticipate changing its policy as a result of EITF 06-3.

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, “Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets - an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 140”, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2006. This statement was
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issued to simplify the accounting for servicing rights and to reduce the volatility that results from using different
measurement attributes. The Company has evaluated the new statement and has determined that it will not have a
significant impact on the determination or reporting of our financial results.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments - an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140”, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15,
2006. The statement was issued to clarify the application of FASB Statement No. 133 to beneficial interests in
securitized financial assets and to improve the consistency of accounting for similar financial instruments, regardless
of the form of the instruments. The Company has evaluated the new statement and has determined that it will not have
a significant impact on the determination or reporting of our financial results.

In November 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS123(R)-3, “Transition Election to Accounting for the
Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards.” This FSP requires an entity to follow either the transition guidance for
the additional-paid-in-capital pool as prescribed in SFAS No. 123(R), or the alternative transition method as described
in the FSP. An entity that
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adopts SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective application may make a one-time election to adopt the
transition method described in this FSP. An entity may take up to one year from the later of its initial adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R) or the effective date of this FSP to evaluate its available transition alternatives and make its
one-time election. This FSP became effective in November 2005. The Company has elected the alternative transition
method as described in the FSP.

In November 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS115-1/124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and
Its Application to Certain Investments,” which addresses the determination as to when an investment is considered
impaired, whether that impairment is other than temporary, and the measurement of an impairment loss. This FSP also
includes accounting considerations subsequent to the recognition of an other-than-temporary impairment and requires
certain disclosures about unrealized losses that have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impairments. The
guidance in this FSP amends FASB Statements No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities,” and No. 124, “Accounting for Certain Investments Held by Not-for-Profit Organizations,” and APB Opinion
No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock.” The Company has evaluated the new
statement and has determined that it will not have a significant impact on the determination or reporting of our
financial results.

In June 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154 (“SFAS 154”), “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement
of APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and Statement No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim
Financial Statements.” SFAS 154 changes the requirements for the accounting for, and reporting of, a change in
accounting principle. Previously, most voluntary changes in accounting principles were required to be recognized by
way of a cumulative effect adjustment within net income during the period of the change. SFAS 154 requires
retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is impracticable to determine either the
period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes made in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005; however, the Statement does not change the transition provisions of
any existing accounting pronouncements. The Company does not believe adoption of SFAS 154 will have a material
effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No. 47 (“FIN 47”), “Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143.” FIN 47 requires asset retirement obligations to
be recorded when a legal obligation exists even though the timing and/or method of the settlement of such obligations
is conditional on a future event. FIN 47 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company
has evaluated the new statement and has determined that it will not have a significant impact on the determination or
reporting of our financial results.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. FSP 109-2 (“FSP 109-2”), “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the
Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creations Act of 2004.” FSP 109-2 provides
guidance under FASB Statement No. 109 (“SFAS 109”), “Accounting for Income Taxes,” with respect to recording the
potential impact of the repatriation provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Jobs Act”) on enterprises’
income tax expense and deferred tax liability. The Jobs Act was enacted on October 22, 2004. FSP 109-2 states that an
enterprise is allowed
time beyond the financial reporting period of enactment to evaluate the effect of the Jobs Act on its plan for
reinvestment or repatriation of foreign earnings for purposes of applying SFAS 109. FSP 109-2 is effective for fiscal
years after December 15, 2005. The Company has evaluated the impact of the repatriation provisions and has
determined that it will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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Results of Operations

On December 29, 2004, Chordiant’s Board of Directors approved a change in the Company’s fiscal year end from
December 31 to September 30. The nine-month results reported by the Company relate to the transitional period
ended September 30, 2004. The financial information for the twelve months ended September 30, 2004 is unaudited
and is presented for comparative purposes.

The following table sets forth, in dollars (in thousands) and as a percentage of total revenues, consolidated statements
of operations data for the periods indicated. This information, except for the year ended September 30, 2004, has been
derived from the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Years Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended
September 30, 20042006 2005 2004

(Restated) (1) (Restated) (1) (Restated) (1)
(Unaudited)

Statements of
Operations Data:
Revenues:
License $ 40,514 42% $ 31,678 38% $32,909 41% $23,661 39%
Service 57,022 58 52,047 62 47,714 59 37,362 61
Total revenues 97,536 100 83,725 100 80,623 100 61,023 100
Cost of revenues:
License 1,690 2 1,079 1 1,836 2 1,262 2
Service 30,566 31 30,155 36 28,617 36 21,630 35
Amortization of
intangible assets 1,211 1 1,068 2 1,838 2 1,044 2
Total cost of revenues 33,467 34 32,302 39 32,291 40 23,936 39
Gross profit 64,069 66 51,423 61 48,332 60 37,087 61
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 33,616 34 29,561 36 24,395 30 17,825 29
Research and
development 25,858 27 20,272 24 18,569 23 13,160 22
General and
administrative 20,445 21 18,549 22 9,293 12 7,099 12
Amortization of
intangible assets — — 117 — 222 — 126 —
Restructuring expense — — 1,052 1 1,200 2 172 —
Purchased in-process
research and
development — — 1,940 2 — — — —
Total operating
expenses 79,919 82 71,491 85 53,679 67 38,382 63
Loss from operations (15,850) (16) (20,068) (24) (5,347) (7) (1,295) (2)
Interest income, net 1,120 1 755 1 515 1 498 1
Other expense, net (627) — (103) — 9 — (132) —
Loss before income
taxes (15,357) (15) (19,416) (23) (4,823) (6) (929) (1) 

644 1 449 1 899 1 442 1
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Provision for income
taxes
Net loss $ (16,001) (16)% $(19,865) (24)% $ (5,722) (7)% $ (1,371) (2)%

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments.

Comparison of the Year Ended September 30, 2006 to the Year Ended September 30, 2005

Revenues

License Revenue. Total license revenue increased $8.8 million, or 28%, to $40.5 million for the year ended
September 30, 2006 compared to $31.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. License revenues for
enterprise solutions increased $5.8 million, or 23%, to $30.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared
to $24.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. This increase was primarily due to an increase in value of the
average customer transaction. License
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revenues for marketing solutions increased $3.9 million, or 161%, to $6.4 million for the year ended September 30,
2006 compared to $2.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. License revenues for decision management
solutions relate to the products acquired in the KiQ transaction. License revenues for decision manager decreased $0.8
million, or 19% to 3.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared to $4.6 million for year ended
September 30, 2005.

Service Revenue. Total service revenue, which include reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses, increased $5.0
million, or 10%, to $57.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared to $52.0 million for the year ended
September 30, 2005. This increase is primarily related to a $2.3 million increase in support and maintenance revenue,
a $2.1 million increase in training revenue and a $0.5 million increase in consulting revenue. Service revenue
associated with enterprise solution products decreased less than $0.5 million, or 1%, to $39.9 million for the year
ended September 30, 2006 compared to $40.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. Service revenues
associated with marketing solution products increased $3.3 million, or 34%, to $13.0 million for the year ended
September 30, 2006 compared to $9.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. Service revenues associated
with decision management solution products relate to the products acquired in the KiQ transaction. Service revenues
associated with decision management increased $2.2 million or 114% to $4.1 million for the year ended September
30, 2006 compared to $1.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses (which are included in total service revenues) decreased $0.2 million, or
4%, to $3.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared to $3.5 million for the year ended September 30,
2005.

Cost of revenues

License. Cost of license revenues includes third-party software royalties and amortization of capitalized software
development costs. Royalty expenses can vary depending upon the mix of products sold within the period. The
capitalized software development costs pertain to a banking product that was completed and available for general
release in August 2005. Annual amortization expense associated with this product is $0.9 million. Amortization of
these costs is expected through 2008.

Cost of license revenues increased $0.6 million, or 57%, to $1.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2006
compared to $1.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. This increase is primarily related to the fiscal year
2006 including a full year of amortization related to the banking product versus the prior year which included only 1.5
months of amortization. These costs resulted in license gross margins of approximately 96% and 97% for the years
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Service. Cost of service revenues consists primarily of personnel, third-party consulting, facility and travel costs
incurred to provide consulting implementation and integration, consulting customization, training, post-contract
customer support services. Cost of service revenues increased $0.4 million, or 1%, to $30.6 million for the year ended
September 30, 2006 compared to $30.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. This increase in costs is
primarily due to increases in personnel related costs of $0.7 million related to an increase in headcount, facility and
information technology costs of $0.6 million, third party support and maintenance costs of $0.3 million offset by a
decrease in third party consulting costs of $1.5 million. These costs resulted in service gross margins of approximately
46% and 42% for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Amortization of intangible assets (included in cost of revenues). Amortization of intangible assets cost consists
primarily of the amortization of amounts paid for developed technologies, customer lists and trade-names resulting
from business acquisitions. Amortization of intangible assets was $1.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2006
compared to $1.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The amortization expense in the year ended
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September 30, 2006 is solely related to $6.1 million of intangible assets associated with the acquisition of KiQ in
December 2004. We expect to continue to amortize these assets through December 2009.

Operating Expenses

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses is composed primarily of costs associated with selling, promoting
and advertising our products, product demonstrations and customer sales calls. These costs consist primarily of
employee salaries, commissions and bonuses, benefits, facilities, travel expenses and promotional and advertising
expenses. Sales and marketing expenses increased $4.0 million, or 14%, to $33.6 million for the year ended
September 30, 2006 compared to $29.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The $4.0 million increase in
these expenses was mainly attributable to an increase of $2.7 million in personnel related expenses, $1.0 million in
sales events, and $0.3 million increase in legal contract and personnel costs.

Research and development. Research and development expenses is composed primarily of costs associated with the
development of new products, enhancements of existing products and quality assurance activities. These costs consist
primarily of employee salaries and benefits, facilities, the cost of software and development tools and equipment and
consulting costs, including costs for offshore consultants. Research and development expenses increased $5.6 million,
or 27%, to $25.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared to $20.3 million for the year ended
September 30, 2005. This increase was driven by two large co-development projects; one in North America and one in
the United Kingdom. The United Kingdom project was completed in September 2006 and the North America project
is expected to be completed in the second half of 2007. This $5.6
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million increase in costs was primarily composed of $6.6 million in consulting expenses related to our outsourcing of
technical support and certain sustaining engineering functions and $0.4 million in travel costs which were offset by
decreases of $1.1 million in personnel costs and $0.3 million in information technology costs.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses is composed primarily of costs associated with our
executive and administrative personnel (e.g. the CEO, legal and finance personnel). These costs consist primarily of
employee salaries, bonuses, stock compensation expense, benefits, facilities, consulting costs, including costs for
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX) consultants and stock option investigation professional services.

General and administrative expenses increased $1.9 million, or 10%, to $20.4 million for the year ended
September 30, 2006 compared to $18.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase in costs is
primarily due to increases of $3.4 million for personnel costs, $0.7 million for severance costs associated with two
senior executives, offset by a reduction of $2.3 million in professional services as consultants. The increase in
personnel costs and decrease in professional services was driven by the replacement of accounting consultants with
permanent employees. The decrease in professional services was also due to a decrease in SOX consulting fees of $2.7
million which was offset by stock option investigation professional fees of $1.2 million during the year. We do not
expect to experience the same level of decrease in SOX costs in 2007 that we did in 2006. We expect the costs
associated with the stock option investigation to continue in the first half of 2007.

Amortization of intangible assets (included in operating expenses). There was no amortization of intangible assets
included in operating costs for 2006. All intangible assets attributable to operating expenses were fully amortized in
2005. Amortization of intangible assets included in operating expenses was $0.1 million for the year ended
September 30, 2005. These intangible assets are the result of the Prime Response acquisition in March 2001.

Purchased in-process research and development. In-process research and development expense represents acquired
technology that, on the date of acquisition, had not achieved technological feasibility and did not have an alternative
future use, based on the state of development. Because the product under development may not achieve commercial
viability, the amount of acquired in-process research and development was immediately expensed. The nature of the
efforts required to develop the purchased in-process research and development into a commercially viable product
principally relate to the completion of all planning, designing, prototyping, verification and testing activities that are
necessary to establish that the product can be produced to meet its designed specifications, including functions,
features and technical performance requirements. There was no purchased in-process research and development
expense for the year ended September 30, 2006. For the year ended September 30, 2005, we recorded an expense of
$1.9 million related to acquired in-process technology attributable to the acquisition of KiQ.

Restructuring expenses. In July 2005, we announced a reduction in workforce and incurred a one-time cash charge of
approximately $1.1 million in the year ended September 30, 2005. During the year ended September 30, 2004, we
announced plans to reallocate staff between our North American and European operations to better support our growth
in North America, and an associated restructuring expense was recorded. Please refer to Note 7 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, “Restructuring.”

Stock-based compensation (included in individual operating expense and cost of revenue categories). The following
table sets forth our stock-based compensation expense in terms of absolute dollars and functional breakdown for the
years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands):

Years Ended September 30,
2006 2005

(Restated) (1)
Stock-based compensation expense: 
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Cost of revenues $ 248 $ 690
Sales and marketing 2,327 986
Research and development 332 843
General and administrative 1,788 512
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 4,695 $ 3,031

(1)  - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments.

For the year ended September 30, 2006, the aggregate stock-based compensation cost included in cost of revenues and
in operating expenses was $4.7 million which is a combination of $2.7 million related to stock options and $2.0
million associated with restricted stock awards. Included in the restricted stock award compensation expense of $2.0
million is $1.2 million associated with the amortization of restricted stock awards attributable to the KiQ acquisition
in December 2004. Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation attributable to the acquisition of KiQ will be
expensed through June 2007.
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For the year ended September 30, 2005, the aggregate stock-based compensation cost included in cost of revenues and
in operating expenses was $3.0 million which was a combination of a $0.4 million benefit related to stock options and
$3.4 million expense associated with restricted stock awards. Included in the restricted stock award compensation
expense of $3.4 million is $2.7 million associated with the amortization of restricted stock awards attributable to the
KIQ acquisition.

Interest income, net. Interest income, net, consists primarily of interest income generated from our cash and cash
equivalents, offset by interest expense incurred in connection with our capital leases and letters of credit. Interest
income, net, increased to approximately $1.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 from $0.8 million for the
year ended September 30, 2005. This increase is primarily due to improved interest rates related to interest-bearing
cash and cash equivalents accounts and a higher average cash balance during 2006 versus 2005.

Other expense, net. These gains and losses are primarily associated with foreign currency transaction gains or losses
and re-measurement of our short-term intercompany balances between the U.S. and our foreign denominated
subsidiaries. Other expense resulted in a net loss of $0.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 as compared
to a net loss of $0.1 million for the same period in the prior year. The change is primarily attributable to currency
exchange gains and losses recognized during the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. These gains and losses
are primarily associated with our U.S. dollar account balances held in Europe and the U.S. dollar’s fluctuations in
value against the Euro and U.K. Pound Sterling.

Provision for income taxes. Our provisions for income taxes were $0.6 million and $0.4 million for the years ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The provisions were attributable to taxes on earnings from our foreign
subsidiaries and certain state income taxes.

Our deferred tax assets primarily consist of net operating loss carryforwards, nondeductible allowances and research
and development tax credits. We have recorded a valuation allowance for the full amount of our net deferred tax
assets, as the future realization of the tax benefit is not considered by management to be more-likely-than-not.

Comparison of the Year Ended September 30, 2005 to the Year Ended September 30, 2004

Revenues

License Revenue. Total license revenue decreased $1.2 million, or 4%, to $31.7 million for the year ended
September 30, 2005 compared to $32.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. License revenues for
enterprise solutions decreased $2.2 million, or 8%, to $24.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared
to $26.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. This decrease was primarily due to the timing of revenues
recognized under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. The timing and amount of revenue recognized
is influenced by the progress of work performed relative to the project length of customer contracts and the dollar
value of such contracts. License revenues for marketing solutions decreased $3.6 million, or 60%, to $2.5 million for
the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to $6.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. License
revenues for decision management solutions relate to the products acquired in the KiQ transaction and were $4.6
million for year ended September 30, 2005.

Service Revenue. Total service revenues, which include reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses, increased
$4.3 million, or 9%, to $52.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to $47.7 million for the year
ended September 30, 2004. Service revenues associated with enterprise solution products increased $4.0 million, or
12%, to $40.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to $36.2 million for the year ended
September 30, 2004. This increase was due to a continuation in large customer implementations as well as
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maintenance, support and consulting revenues associated with license agreements entered into in current and prior
periods. Service revenues associated with marketing solution products decreased $1.9 million, or 16%, to $9.7 million
for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to $11.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. Service
revenues associated with decision management solution products relate to the products acquired in the KiQ transaction
and were $1.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses (which are included in total service revenues) increased $0.6 million, or
22%, to $3.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to $2.8 million for the year ended
September 30, 2004. This increase is primarily due to the higher number of third party consultants and employees
working on projects.

Cost of revenues

License. Cost of license revenues decreased $0.7 million, or 41%, to $1.1 million for the year ended September 30,
2005 compared to $1.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. These costs resulted in license gross margins
of approximately 97% and 94% for the year ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The license gross
margin for the year ended September 30, 2005 is higher than in the recent past due to lower royalties payable
associated with the mix of products sold. The number of product components subject to the payment of royalties in the
past declined during the year ended September 30, 2005.
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Revenues derived from the sale of KiQ products are also not subject to significant royalties.

Service. Cost of service revenues increased $1.4 million, or 5%, to $30.2 million for the year ended September 30,
2005 compared to $28.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. These costs resulted in service gross margins
of approximately 42% and 40% for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Amortization of intangible assets (included in cost of revenues). Amortization of intangible assets was $1.1 million for
the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to $1.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The
amortization expense in the year ended September 30, 2004 primarily related to intangibles associated with the
acquisition of OnDemand in April 2002. Intangibles associated with the acquisitions of certain assets from
ActionPoint and ASP Outfitter in May 2001 became fully amortized during calendar 2004. On December 21, 2004,
we recorded, and began to amortize, aggregate additions of $6.1 million of intangible assets related to the acquisition
of KiQ. Amortization of intangible assets attributable to the acquisition of KiQ will be expensed through December
2009. In addition, beginning in the quarter ended September 30, 2005, quarterly amortization expense increased $0.2
million relating to an internally developed banking product that was completed and available for general release.
These costs are being amortized over a three-year period.

Operating Expenses

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses increased $5.2 million, or 21%, to $29.6 million for the year
ended September 30, 2005 compared to $24.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The $5.2 million
increase in these expenses was mainly attributable to an increase of $3.9 million in personnel related expenses and an
$0.8 million increase in travel costs due to a higher number of sales representatives. Recruiting fees also increased
$0.3 million over the prior period.

Research and development. Research and development expenses increased $1.7 million, or 9%, to $20.3 million for
the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to $18.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. This $1.7
million increase was mainly attributable to an increase of approximately $1.9 million in research and development
consulting expenses related to our outsourcing of technical support and certain sustaining engineering functions.
Personnel costs also increased $0.6 million, in part due to the addition of KiQ employees. Offsetting these increases
was an increase to the capitalization of internal salary and fringe benefit costs of approximately $0.8 million
associated with the development of a banking product. The development of this product was completed in July 2005
and no additional costs are expected to be capitalized.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased $9.2 million, or 100%, to $18.5 million
for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to $9.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase
in these expenses was mainly attributable to an increase of $5.1 million in consulting related expenses associated with
efforts to comply with SOX and fill vacant accounting positions. Professional service fees also increased $1.9 million
primarily due to the accounting and legal fees associated with SOX, additional procedures required in conjunction
with the material weaknesses identified at June 30, 2004 and September 30, 2004 and additional fees related to the
restatement of our prior year results. Higher costs associated with efforts to comply with SOX continued for the first
quarter of fiscal year 2006. In conjunction with new hires in the accounting and finance areas, personnel related costs
and recruiting fees increased $1.0 million and $0.5 million, respectively. Due to the higher general and administrative
headcounts, the allocation of common costs and facilities costs to the department also increased by $0.6 million.

Amortization of intangible assets (included in operating expenses). Amortization of intangible assets included in
operating expenses was $0.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to $0.2 million for the year
ended September 30, 2004. Amortization expense classified in operating expenses for these periods is mainly
attributable to the acquisition of Prime Response in March 2001. These intangibles were fully amortized as of
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Purchased in-process research and development. In-process research and development expense represents acquired
technology that, on the date of acquisition, had not achieved technological feasibility and did not have an alternative
future use, based on the state of development. Because the product under development may not achieve commercial
viability, the amount of acquired in-process research and development was immediately expensed. The nature of the
efforts required to develop the purchased in-process research and development into a commercially viable product
principally relate to the completion of all planning, designing, prototyping, verification and testing activities that are
necessary to establish that the product can be produced to meet its designed specifications, including functions,
features and technical performance requirements. For the year ended September 30, 2005, we recorded an expense of
$1.9 million related to acquired in-process technology attributable to the acquisition of KiQ. There was no purchased
in-process research and development expense for the year ended September 30, 2004.

Restructuring expenses. In July 2005, we announced a reduction in workforce and incurred a one-time cash charge of
approximately $1.1 million in the year ended September 30, 2005. During the year ended September 30, 2004, we
announced plans to reallocate staff between our North American and European operations to better support our growth
in North America, and an associated restructuring expense was recorded. Please refer to Note 7 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, “Restructuring.”
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Stock-based compensation (included in individual operating expense and cost of revenue categories). The following
table sets fourth our stock-based compensation expense in terms of absolute dollars and functional breakdown for the
twelve months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands):

The related functional breakdown of total stock-based compensation is outlined below (in thousands):

Year Ended
September 30,

2005

Year Ended
September 30,

2004
(Restated) (1) (Restated) (1)

Stock-based compensation expense: 
Cost of revenues $ 690 $ 825
Sales and marketing 986 887
Research and development 843 1,175
General and administrative 512 1,218
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 3,031 $ 4,105

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments.

For the year ended September 30, 2005, the aggregate stock-based compensation cost included in cost of revenues and
in operating expenses was $3.0 million which was a combination of a $0.4 million benefit related to stock options and
$3.4 million expense associated with restricted stock awards. Included in the restricted stock award compensation
expense of $3.4 million is $2.7 million associated with the amortization of restricted stock awards attributable to the
KiQ acquisition which occurred in December 2004. The $0.4 million benefit is partially due to the decrease in our
stock price during the period which affects the variable accounting calculation to which some restricted stock and
outstanding stock options are subject. Also included in these costs for the year ended September 30, 2005 were
charges associated with the issuance of 450,000 shares of restricted stock to certain officers of the Company.
Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation attributable to the acquisition of KiQ will be expensed through
June 2007.

Interest income, net. Interest income, net, consists primarily of interest income generated from our cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments, offset by interest expense incurred in connection with outstanding borrowings
and letters of credit. Interest income, net, increased to approximately $0.8 million for the year ended September 30,
2005 from $0.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. This increase is primarily due to improved interest
rates related to interest-bearing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investment accounts.

Other expense, net. Realized foreign currency gains and losses and other non-operating income and expenses resulted
in a net loss of $0.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 as compared to net income of less than $0.1
million for the same period in the prior year. The change is primarily attributable to currency exchange gains and
losses recognized during the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. These gains and losses are primarily
associated with our U.S. dollar account balances held in Europe and the U.S. dollar’s fluctuations in value against the
Euro and U.K. Pound Sterling.

Provision for income taxes. Our provisions for income taxes were $0.4 million and $0.9 million for the years ended
September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The provisions were attributable to taxes on earnings from our foreign
subsidiaries and certain state income taxes.
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Our deferred tax assets primarily consist of net operating loss carryforwards, nondeductible allowances and research
and development tax credits. We have recorded a valuation allowance for the full amount of our net deferred tax
assets, as the future realization of the tax benefit is not considered by management to be more-likely-than-not.
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Quarterly Financial Information

The following table presents the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets (unaudited, in thousands):

September 30,
2006 June 30, 2006

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 45,278 $ 42,664
Restricted cash 185 175
Accounts receivable 19,025 22,233
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,210 4,864
Total current assets 69,698 69,936
Restricted cash 334 341
Property and equipment, net 2,630 2,607
Goodwill 32,044 32,044
Intangible assets, net 3,937 4,239
Other assets 2,860 2,789
Total assets $ 111,503 $ 111,956

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 7,665 $ 7,787
Accrued expenses 15,706 13,781
Deferred revenue 23,909 21,060
Current portion of capital lease obligations 95 150
Total current liabilities 47,375 42,778
Deferred revenue—long-term 5,596 3,976
Restructuring costs, net of current portion 1,239 1,331
Other long-term liabilities 68 75
Total liabilities 54,278 48,160

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock — —
Common stock 80 79
Additional paid-in capital and deferred compensation 286,392 284,908
Accumulated deficit (232,943) (224,579)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,696 3,388
Total stockholders’ equity 57,225 63,796)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 111,503 $ 111,956
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The following tables presents the effects of the stock-based compensation adjustments made to the Company’s
previously reported condensed consolidated balance sheets (unaudited, in thousands):

March 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
As

Previously
Reported

Adjustments
(1) Restated

As
Previously
Reported

Adjustments
(1) Restated

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash
equivalents $ 43,287 $ —$ 43,287 $ 41,466 $ —$ 41,466
Restricted cash 461 — 461 486 — 486
Accounts receivable 16,464 — 16,464 19,184 — 19,184
Prepaid expenses and
other current assets 4,788

—
4,788 5,290

—
5,290

Total current assets 65,000 — 65,000 66,426 — 66,426
Restricted cash 394 — 394 365 — 365
Property and
equipment, net 2,446

—
2,446 2,312

—
2,312

Goodwill 31,907 — 31,907 31,907 — 31,907
Intangible assets, net 4,542 — 4,542 4,845 — 4,845
Other assets 3,039 — 3,039 3,306 — 3,306
Total assets $ 107,328 $ —$ 107,328 $ 109,161 $ —$ 109,161

LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,567 $ —$ 4,567 $ 3,555 $ —$ 3,555
Accrued expenses 10,765 428 11,193 11,500 411 11,911
Deferred revenue 22,743 — 22,743 27,017 — 27,017
Current portion of
capital lease obligations 204

—
204 217

—
217

Total current liabilities 38,279 428 38,707 42,289 411 42,700
Deferred
revenue—long-term 2,985 — 2,985 445 — 445
Restructuring costs, net
of current portion 1,428 — 1,428 1,539 — 1,539
Other long-term
liabilities 121 — 121 40 — 40
Total liabilities 42,813 428 43,241 44,313 411 44,724

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock — — — — — —
Common stock 79 — 79 79 — 79
Additional paid-in
capital and deferred

274,754 7,734 282,488 273,165 7,697 280,862
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compensation
Accumulated deficit (212,735) (8,162) (220,897) (210,587) (8,108) (218,695)
Accumulated other
comprehensive income 2,417 — 2,417 2,191 — 2,191
Total stockholders’
equity 64,515 (428) 64,087 64,848 (411) 64,437
Total liabilities and
stockholders’ equity $ 107,328 $ —$ 107,328 $ 109,161 $ —$ 109,161

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments
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September 30, 2005 June 30, 2005
As

Previously
Reported

Adjustments
(1) Restated

As
Previously
Reported

Adjustments
(1) Restated

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash
equivalents $ 38,546 $ —$ 38,546 $ 32,739 $ —$ 32,739
Marketable securities — — — 4,100 4,100
Restricted cash 1,982 — 1,982 1,785 — 1,785
Accounts receivable 18,979 — 18,979 23,719 — 23,719
Prepaid expenses and
other current assets 4,345

—
4,345 4,463

—
4,463

Total current assets 63,852 — 63,852 66,806 — 66,806
Restricted cash 365 — 365 559 — 559
Property and
equipment, net 2,479

—
2,479 2,790

—
2,790

Goodwill 31,907 — 31,907 31,978 — 31,978
Intangible assets, net 5,148 — 5,148 5,451 — 5,451
Other assets 3,499 — 3,499 3,525 — 3,525
Total assets $ 107,250 $ —$ 107,250 $ 111,109 $ —$ 111,109

LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,554 $ —$ 4,554 $ 5,000 $ —$ 5,000
Accrued expenses 8,902 400 9,302 9,277 273 9,550
Deferred revenue 26,050 — 26,050 25,166 — 25,166
Current portion of
capital lease obligations 213

—
213 209

—
209

Total current liabilities 39,719 400 40,119 39,652 273 39,925
Deferred
revenue—long-term 147 — 147 301 — 301
Restructuring costs, net
of current portion 1,731 — 1,731 2,316 — 2,316
Other long-term
liabilities 96 — 96 150 — 150
Total liabilities 41,693 400 42,093 42,419 273 42,692

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock — — — — — —
Common stock 78 — 78 77 — 77
Additional paid-in
capital and deferred
compensation 273,824 7,653 281,477 269,475 7,669 277,144
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Deferred stock-based
compensation (1,940) — (1,940) — — —
Accumulated deficit (208,889) (8,053) (216,942) (203,437) (7,942) (211,379)
Accumulated other
comprehensive income 2,484 2,484 2,575 — 2,575
Total stockholders’
equity 65,557 (400) 65,157 68,690 (273) 68,417
Total liabilities and
stockholders’ equity $ 107,250 $ —$ 107,250 $ 111,109 $ —$ 111,109

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments
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March 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
As

Previously
Reported

Adjustments
(1) Restated

As
Previously
Reported

Adjustments
(1) Restated

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash
equivalents $ 35,325 $ —$ 35,325 $ 47,287 $ —$ 47,287
Marketable securities 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000
Restricted cash 1,782 — 1,782 1,780 — 1,780
Accounts receivable 15,849 — 15,849 17,928 — 17,928
Prepaid expenses and
other current assets 3,578

—
3,578 3,841

—
3,841

Total current assets 60,534 — 60,534 74,836 — 74,836
Restricted cash 558 — 558 558 — 558
Property and
equipment, net 2,867

—
2,867 3,172

—
3,172

Goodwill 32,028 — 32,028 32,028 — 32,028
Intangible assets, net 5,754 — 5,754 6,178 — 6,178
Other assets 3,093 — 3,093 2,419 — 2,419
Total assets $ 104,834 $ —$ 104,834 $ 119,191 $ —$ 119,191

LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,899 $ —$ 4,899 $ 6,656 $ —$ 6,656
Accrued expenses 9,656 269 9,925 13,981 265 14,246
Deferred revenue 17,040 — 17,040 18,582 — 18,582
Current portion of
capital lease obligations 205

—
205 201

—
201

Total current liabilities 31,800 269 32,069 39,420 265 39,685
Deferred
revenue—long-term 947 — 947 1,622 — 1,622
Other long-term
liabilities 204 — 204 257 — 257
Total liabilities 32,951 269 33,220 41,299 265 41,564

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock — — — — — —
Common stock 77 — 77 77 — 77
Additional paid-in
capital and deferred
compensation 268,614 7,629 276,243 267,629 7,549 275,178
Accumulated deficit (199,971) (7,898) (207,869) (193,541) (7,814) (201,355)
Accumulated other
comprehensive income 3,163 — 3,163 3,727 — 3,727
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Total stockholders’
equity 71,883 (269) 71,614 77,892 (265) 77,627
Total liabilities and
stockholders’ equity $ 104,834 $ —$ 104,834 $ 119,191 $ —$ 119,191

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments
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As a result of the restatement, the trends and variance analysis previously disclosed in Forms 10-Q have only been
impacted by changes in stock-based compensation and related payroll tax expense. Such changes to the quarters
appearing in the tables below are not so significant as to change the trends previously disclosed in the respective
management discussions and analyses. The increase in net loss for each of the six quarterly periods restated ranges
from 1% to 3%. Our Form 10-Q for June 30, 2006 has been filed simultaneously with this Form 10-K and also
includes restated results. See management discussion and analysis contained in our Form 10-Q for the nine month
period ended June 30, 2006 which reflects the restated quarterly and nine month comparative results and provides
additional detail.

Quarterly Trends

Revenues

License Revenue. License revenues can vary significantly from quarter to quarter depending upon the underlying
terms of the license agreements. The quarters ended March 31, 2006 and June 30, 2006 contained $5.0 million and
$2.5 million in term licenses, respectively. These term licenses were non-cancelable, non-refundable and were
provided on an unsupported basis; accordingly, revenue was recognized in full upon delivery of the software as there
were no undelivered elements.

The timing of revenues recognized under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting is also influenced by the
progress of work performed relative to the project length of customer contracts and the dollar value of such contracts.

Service Revenue. Total service revenue includes consulting, training, customer support and reimbursement of
out-of-pocket expenses. These revenues can also vary significantly from quarter to quarter depending upon the timing
of customer purchases.

Cost of revenues

License. Cost of license revenues includes third-party software royalties and amortization of capitalized software
development costs. Royalty expenses can vary depending upon the mix of products sold within the period. The
capitalized software development costs pertain to a banking product that was completed and available for general
release in August 2005. Accordingly the cost of revenues associated with licenses increased beginning with the
quarter ended September 30, 2005 as the amortization of the capitalized costs began.

Service. The cost of service revenues fluctuates with internal headcount, the use of third party consultants used on
certain customer engagements, and the pass through charges associated with out-of-pocket expenses.

Amortization of intangible assets (included in cost of revenues). The $0.1 million of amortization expense in the
quarter ended December 31, 2004 primarily relates to intangibles associated with the acquisition of OnDemand in
April 2002. These intangible became fully amortized in the quarter ended March 31, 2005. On December 21, 2004, we
recorded, and began to amortize, aggregate additions of $6.1 million of intangible assets related to the acquisition of
KiQ. The $0.3 million of amortization expense per quarter beginning with the March 31, 2005 quarter relates to these
KiQ intangibles. The amortization expense for the amortization of intangible assets attributable to the acquisition of
KiQ will be expensed through December 2009.

Operating Expenses
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Sales and marketing. Changes in sales and marketing expenses from quarter to quarter are primarily driven by
changes in headcount, changes in stock-based compensation and the timing of periodic sales and customer events. For
the sequential quarters ending June 30, 2005 aggregate costs were between $7.2 and $7.3 million per quarter.
Additions to headcount and severance payments increased payroll related costs by approximately $0.1 million, $0.2
million and $0.2 million per quarter for each of the next three sequential quarters ending March 31, 2006. For the
same three sequential quarters, stock-based compensation expense also increased (decreased) by $0.2 million, $0.3
million and ($0.1) million. For the March 31, 2006 quarter, these changes combined with the $0.4 million cost of the
annual sales event resulted in $8.8 million in total costs for the quarter. Headcount declined in the June 30, 2006
quarter and no sales or customer events took place, resulting in $8.0 million of costs for the quarter. During the quarter
ended September 30, 2006, $0.5 million of costs associated with a customer event, combined with $0.3 million of
increases in marketing spending resulted in $8.7 million of costs for the quarter.

Research and development. Changes in research and development expenses from quarter to quarter are primarily
driven by changes in headcount and changes to the level of consulting services contracted by the Company. Research
and development costs were $4.9 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2004. For the next three sequential
quarters, total research and development costs increased (decreased) by $0.4 million, $0.1 million and ($0.7) million.
These changes were primarily due to headcount fluctuations, with the $0.7 million decrease being associated with the
2005 restructuring. Research and development costs remained between $4.7 million and $4.5 million for the next two
quarters ending September 30, 2005 and December 31, 2005, respectively. Beginning with the quarter ended March
31, 2006 consulting costs and interdepartmental transfers of costs
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associated with co-development product increased total research and development spending. These increases of $1.3
million and $1.9 million for the quarters ended March 31, 2006 and June 30, 2005, respectively, brought total research
and development spending to $7.8 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2006. One of the co-development products
was completed during the quarter ended September 30, 2006 and total research and development expense declined by
$0.1 million to $7.7 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2006.

General and administrative. Changes in general and administrative expenses from quarter to quarter are primarily
driven by consulting and audit fees, increases in headcount associated with converting consultants to permanent
employee status and severance payments made to former employees. During the quarter ended March 31, 2005 audit
and other consulting fees increased approximately $0.8 million from the prior quarter. These increases related to the
change in the Company’s fiscal year end and the restatement of fiscal 2004 results. Audit and other consulting fees
declined $0.4 million during the quarter ended June 30, 2005 resulting in $4.7 million of total costs for the period.
Total general and administrative costs remained at this level for three quarters. During the quarter ended March 31,
2006, audit and other consulting costs declined $0.8 million from the prior quarter, reflecting the completion of the
year end audit and associated SOX procedures. This decrease was offset by $0.6 million in severance payments, an
approximate $0.4 million increase in payroll costs relating to headcount increases and a $0.1 million increase to
stock-based compensation. There were no significant severance payments in the quarter ended June 30, 2006 and total
general and administrative costs declined to $4.8 million. For the quarter ended September 30, 2006, audit and other
consulting fees increased $1.2 million from the June quarter reflecting the activity associated with the stock option
investigation and the normal year end audit of the financial statements. This increase was partially offset by a $0.2
million decline in stock-based compensation expense.

Amortization of intangible assets (included in operating expenses). Amortization expense was less than $0.1 million
for the quarters ended December 31, 2004 and March 31, 2005. The associated intangible assets became fully
amortized in the quarter ended March 31, 2005.

Purchased in-process research and development. In-process research and development expense represents acquired
technology that, on the date of acquisition, had not achieved technological feasibility and did not have an alternative
future use, based on the state of development. Because the product under development may not achieve commercial
viability, the amount of acquired in-process research and development was immediately expensed. The nature of the
efforts required to develop the purchased in-process research and development into a commercially viable product
principally relate to the completion of all planning, designing, prototyping, verification and testing activities that are
necessary to establish that the product can be produced to meet its designed specifications, including functions,
features and technical performance requirements. For the quarter ended December 31, 2004, we recorded an expense
of $1.9 million related to acquired in-process technology attributable to the acquisition of KiQ. There was no
purchased in-process research and development expense for any other quarters presented in the tables below..

Restructuring expenses. During the quarter ended September 30, 2004, we announced plans to reallocate staff between
our North American and European operations in order to better support our growth in North America, and an
associated restructuring expense was recorded. As the earned portions of severed employee retention bonuses were
paid, adjustments to the previously recorded estimates were necessary. These adjustments resulted in a $0.1 million
benefit in the quarter ended December 31, 2004 and a less than $0.1 million expense in the quarter ended March 31,
2005. In July 2005, we announced a reduction in workforce and incurred a one-time cash charge of approximately
$1.1 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2005. There was no restructuring expenses in the other quarters
presented in the tables below.

Interest income, net. Interest income, net was $.02 million in the quarters ended December 31, 2004 and March 31,
2005, then declined to $0.1 million in the quarter ended June 30, 2005. This decline was primarily due to a reduction
in cash balances associated with the $9.8 million used to acquire KiQ in December of 2004. Interest income, net
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increased to $0.2 million for the quarters ended September 30, 2005 and December 31, 2005 and then to $0.3 million
for quarters thereafter. This increase was primarily due to increases in interest rates and higher average cash balances,
as the Company’s operating and financing activities generated cash during this period.

Other expense, net. These gains and losses are primarily associated with foreign currency transaction gains or losses
and re-measurement of our short-term intercompany balances between the U.S. and our foreign denominated
subsidiaries. Gains and losses are also associated with our U.S. dollar account balances held in Europe and the U.S.
dollar’s fluctuations in value against the Euro and U.K. Pound Sterling.

Provision for income taxes. . Our provisions for income taxes were between $0.1million and $0.2 million for each of
the quarters presented in the table below. The provisions were attributable to taxes on earnings from our foreign
subsidiaries and certain state income taxes.

Our deferred tax assets primarily consist of net operating loss carryforwards, nondeductible allowances and research
and development tax credits. We have recorded a valuation allowance for the full amount of our net deferred tax
assets, as the future realization of the tax benefit is not considered by management to be more-likely-than-not.
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The following tables set forth a summary of the Company’s quarterly financial information for each of the four
quarters in the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 (unaudited, in thousands, except per share data):

Year ended September 30, 2006:

Quarter -Ended
September 30,

2006
June 30,

2006
March 31,

2006
December 31,

2005
(Restated)(1) (Restated)(1)

Revenues:
License $ 7,925 $ 10,257 $ 13,206 $ 9,126
Service 13,754 16,769 13,067 13,432
Total revenues 21,679 27,026 26,273 22,558
Cost of net revenues:
License 331 398 518 443
Service (2) 7,349 8,965 7,867 6,385
Amortization of intangible assets 302 303 303 303
Cost of revenues 7,982 9,666 8,688 7,131
Gross profit 13,697 17,360 17,585 15,427
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (2) 8,739 7,976 8,761 8,140
Research and development (2) 7,699 7,780 5,862 4,517
General and administrative (2) 5,640 4,842 5,244 4,719
Total operating expense 22,078 20,598 19,867 17,376
Loss from operations (8,381) (3,238) (2,282) (1,949)
Interest income, net 311 329 281 199
Other income (expense), net (91) (623) (31) 118
Net loss before income taxes (8,161) (3,532) (2,032) (1,632)
Provision for income taxes 203 150 170 121
Net loss $ (8,364) $ (3,682) $ (2,202) $ (1,753)
Net loss per share—basic and diluted$ (0.11) $ (0.05) $ (0.03) $ (0.02)
Weighted average shares used in
computing basic and diluted net
loss per share 78,669 78,035 77,228 76,824

(1)-See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

(2)-Includes stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 72 $ 92 $ 58 $ 26
Sales and marketing 421 571 613 722
Research and development 80 124 69 59
General and administrative 430 669 396 293
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 1,003 $ 1,456 $ 1,136 $ 1,100
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Year ended September 30, 2005:

Quarter -Ended
September 30,

2005
June 30,

2005
March 31,

2005
December 31,

2004
(Restated)(1) (Restated)(1) (Restated)(1) (Restated)(1)

Revenues:
License $ 6,649 $ 9,228 $ 6,959 $ 8,842
Service 14,607 12,393 12,212 12,835
Total revenues 21,256 21,621 19,171 21,677
Cost of net revenues:
License 377 337 198 166
Service (2) 7,698 7,311 7,622 7,523
Amortization of intangible
assets 303 303 331 131
Cost of revenues 8,378 7,951 8,151 7,820
Gross profit 12,878 13,670 11,020 13,857
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (2) 7,882 7,275 7,179 7,226
Research and development (2) 4,670 5,421 5,312 4,868
General and administrative (2) 4,742 4,679 5,197 3,933
Amortization of intangible
assets — — 93 24
Restructuring expense 1,149 — 26 (123)
Purchased in-process research
and development — — — 1,940
Total operating expense 18,443 17,375 17,807 17,868
Loss from operations (5,565) (3,705) (6,787) (4,011)
Interest income, net 216 147 182 210
Other income (expense), net (58) 186 166 (397)
Net loss before income taxes (5,407) (3,372) (6,439) (4,198)
Provision for income taxes 156 138 75 80
Net loss $ (5,563) $ (3,510) $ (6,514) $ (4,278)
Net loss per share—basic and
diluted $ (0.07) $ (0.05) $ (0.09) $ (0.06)
Weighted average shares used
in computing basic and diluted
net loss per share 77,886 75,080 74,745 72,223

(1)-See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

(2)-Includes stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 222 $ 176 $ 273 $ 19
Sales and marketing 460 222 300 10
Research and development 274 227 330 3
General and administrative 215 114 166 20
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 1,171 $ 739 $ 1,069 $ 52
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The following tables present the effects of adjustments made to the Company’s previously reported quarterly financial
information as of September 30, 2006 (unaudited, in thousand, except per share data):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 Three Months Ended December 31, 2005
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
Revenues:
License $ 13,206 $ — $ 13,206 $ 9,126 $ — $ 9,126
Service 13,067 — 13,067 13,432 — 13,432
Total revenues 26,273 — 26,273 22,558 — 22,558
Cost of net revenues:
License 518 — 518 443 — 443
Service (2) 7,864 3 7,867 6,384 1 6,385
Amortization of
intangible assets 303 — 303 303 — 303
Cost of revenues 8,685 3 8,688 7,130 1 7,131
Gross profit 17,588 (3) 17,585 15,428 (1) 15,427
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
(2) 8,732 29 8,761 8,104 36 8,140
Research and
development (2) 5,859 3 5,862 4,514 3 4,517
General and
administrative (2) 5,225 19 5,244 4,704 15 4,719
Total operating
expense 19,816 51 19,867 17,322 54 17,376
Loss from operations (2,228) (54) (2,282) (1,894) (55) (1,949)
Interest income, net 281 — 281 199 — 199
Other income
(expense), net (31) — (31) 118 — 118
Net loss before income
taxes (1,978) (54) (2,032) (1,577) (55) (1,632)
Provision for income
taxes 170 — 170 121 — 121
Net loss $ (2,148) $ (54) $ (2,202) $ (1,698) $ (55) $ (1,753)
Net loss per share—basic
and diluted $ (0.03) $ — $ (0.03) $ (0.02) $ — $ (0.02)
Weighted average
shares used in
computing basic and
diluted net loss per
share 77,228 — 77,228 76,824 — 76,824

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

(2)-Includes stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 56 $ 2 $ 58 $ 25 $ 1 $ 26
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Sales and marketing 593 20 613 693 29 722
Research and development 67 2 69 57 2 59
General and administrative 383 13 396 281 12 293
Total stock-based compensation
expense $ 1,099 $ 37 $ 1,136 $ 1,056 $ 44 $ 1,100
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The following tables present the effects of adjustments made to the Company’s previously reported quarterly financial
information as of September 30, 2005 (unaudited, in thousand, except per share data):

Three Months Ended September 30, 2005 Three Months Ended June 30, 2005
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
Revenues:
License $ 6,649 $ — $ 6,649 $ 9,228 $ — $ 9,228
Service 14,607 — 14,607 12,393 — 12,393
Total revenues 21,256 — 21,256 $ 21,621 — 21,621
Cost of net revenues:
License 377 — 377 337 — 337
Service (2) 7,677 21 7,698 7,300 11 7,311
Amortization of
intangible assets 303 — 303 303 — 303
Cost of revenues 8,357 21 8,378 7,940 11 7,951
Gross profit 12,899 (21) 12,878 13,681 (11) 13,670
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
(2) 7,838 44 7,882 7,262 13 7,275
Research and
development (2) 4,644 26 4,670 5,408 13 5,421
General and
administrative (2) 4,722 20 4,742 4,672 7 4,679
Amortization of
intangible assets — — — — — —
Restructuring expense 1,149 — 1,149 — — —
Purchased in-process
research and
development — — — — — —
Total operating
expense 18,353 90 18,443 17,342 33 17,375
Loss from operations (5,454) (111) (5,565) (3,661) (44) (3,705)
Interest income, net 216 — 216 147 — 147
Other income
(expense), net (58) — (58) 186 — 186
Net loss before income
taxes (5,296) (111) (5,407) (3,328) (44) (3,372)
Provision for income
taxes 156 — 156 138 138
Net loss $ (5,452) $ (111) $ (5,563) $ (3,466) $ (44) $ (3,510)
Net loss per share—basic
and diluted $ (0.07) $ — $ (0.07) $ (0.05) $ — $ (0.05)
Weighted average
shares used in
computing basic and
diluted net loss per
share 77,886 — 77,886 75,080 — 75,080
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(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

(2)-Includes stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 225 $ (3) $ 222 $ 166 $ 10 $ 176
Sales and marketing 466 (6) 460 210 12 222
Research and development 278 (4) 274 215 12 227
General and administrative 218 (3) 215 108 6 114
Total stock-based compensation
expense $ 1,187 $ (16) $ 1,171 $ 699 $ 40 $ 739
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2005 Three Months Ended December 31, 2004
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
Revenues:
License $ 6,959 $ — $ 6,959 $ 8,842 $ — $ 8,842
Service 12,212 — 12,212 12,835 — 12,835
Total revenues 19,171 — 19,171 $ 21,677 — 21,677
Cost of net revenues:
License 198 — 198 166 — 166
Service (2) 7,601 21 7,622 7,492 31 7,523
Amortization of
intangible assets 331 — 331 131 — 131
Cost of revenues 8,130 21 8,151 7,789 31 7,820
Gross profit 11,041 (21) 11,020 13,888 (31) 13,857
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
(2) 7,155 24 7,179 7,209 17 7,226
Research and
development (2) 5,286 26 5,312 4,863 5 4,868
General and
administrative (2) 5,184 13 5,197 3,900 33 3,933
Amortization of
intangible assets 93 — 93 24 — 24
Restructuring expense 26 — 26 (123) — (123)
Purchased in-process
research and
development — — — 1,940 — 1,940
Total operating
expense 17,744 63 17,807 17,813 55 17,868
Loss from operations (6,703) (84) (6,787) (3,925) (86) (4,011)
Interest income, net 182 — 182 210 — 210
Other income
(expense), net 166 — 166 (397) — (397)
Net loss before income
taxes (6,355) (84) (6,439) (4,112) (86) (4,198)
Provision for income
taxes 75 — 75 80 — 80
Net loss $ (6,430) $ (84) $ (6,514) $ (4,192) $ (86) $ (4,278)
Net loss per share—basic
and diluted $ (0.09) $ — $ (0.09) $ (0.06) $ — $ (0.06)
Weighted average
shares used in
computing basic and
diluted net loss per
share 74,745 — 74,745 72,223 — 72,223

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments
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(2)-Includes stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 253 $ 20 $ 273 $ (11) $ 30 $ 19
Sales and marketing 277 23 300 (6) 16 10
Research and development 305 25 330 (2) 5 3
General and administrative 154 12 166 (12) 32 20
Total stock-based compensation
expense $ 989 $ 80 $ 1,069 $ (31) $ 83 $ 52
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, we have not been profitable and we have financed our activities through the issuance of our common
stock. Our cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and long-term restricted cash consist principally of money market
accounts and certificates of deposit and totaled $45.8 million and $40.9 million at September 30, 2006 and
September 30, 2005, respectively, an increase of $4.9 million.

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities was $3.2 million during the year ended September 30, 2006, which consisted
primarily of our net loss of $16.0 million adjusted for non-cash items (depreciation, amortization, non-cash
stock-based compensation expense, provision for doubtful accounts, loss on disposal of assets and other non-cash
charges) aggregating approximately $8.2 million and the net cash inflow effect from changes in assets and liabilities
of approximately $11.0 million. This net cash inflow was primarily caused by an increase in liability balances for
accrued expenses and other liabilities of $6.1 million, accounts payable of $3.0 million and deferred revenue of $2.8
million offset by cash outflows related to an increase in prepaid expenses of $1.0 million. The increase in accrued
expenses, other liabilities and accounts payable is primarily due to the timing of when the payments were made for
these liabilities. The increase in deferred revenue was primarily due to an increase in license revenue backlog for the
year.

Cash used in operating activities was $9.0 million during the year ended September 30, 2005, which consisted
primarily of our net loss of $19.9 million adjusted for non-cash items (primarily the write off of in-process research
and development costs associated with the KiQ acquisition, depreciation, amortization, non-cash stock-based
compensation expense and other non-cash charges) aggregating approximately $7.9 million and the net cash inflow
effect from changes in assets and liabilities of approximately $3.1 million. This net cash inflow was primarily caused
by an increase in revenue and the collection of accounts receivable, offset by the payment of accounts payable and
accrued expenses, and additions to prepaid expenses and other assets. The increase in deferred revenue is primarily
attributable to two significant license agreements signed in the three month period ended June 30, 2005. These
agreements are being accounted for under the percentage of completion method of accounting.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2004, the $4.4 million use of cash consisted primarily of our net loss of $1.4
million adjusted for non-cash items (primarily depreciation, amortization, non-cash stock-based compensation
expense and other non-cash charges) of approximately $2.5 million and the net cash outflow effect from changes in
assets and liabilities of approximately $5.5 million. This net cash outflow was caused primarily by $8.1 million
increase in accounts receivable, which was caused in part by a new financial information system conversion during the
third quarter. This conversion delayed normal accounts receivable collection efforts, resulting in higher balances due
from customers.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities during the year ended September 30, 2006 was less than $0.1 million. The cash used
primarily related to the purchase of $1.7 million of property and equipment and the capitalization of $0.3 million of
software development costs associated with the porting an existing product to a new platform. This use of cash was
offset by the release of $1.9 million of restricted cash during the period.

Cash used in investing activities during the year ended September 30, 2005 was $8.8 million. This use of cash
primarily related to the $9.8 million in funds used to acquire KiQ, $2.2 million in funds used to complete development
of an acquired banking product offset by the $4.0 million in net proceeds from the sale of marketable securities.
Property and equipment purchases also consumed $0.7 million of cash during the period.
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Cash used in investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2004 was $4.8 million. This use of cash
related to the $4.0 million purchase of marketable securities and $0.8 million in property and equipment additions.

Financing Activities

Financing activities were a source of cash in the amounts of $2.0 million, $1.0 million, and $28.7 million for the year
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 and nine months ended September 30, 2004, respectively.

For the year ended September 30, 2006, the amount relates to $2.2 million in proceeds from stock option exercises,
offset by payments of $0.2 million on capital lease obligations.

For the year ended September 30, 2005, the amount relates to $1.2 million in proceeds from stock option exercises,
offset by payments of $0.2 million on capital lease obligations. During the year ended September 30, 2005, we
suspended our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). Historically, proceeds to us from the ESPP have been
significant. During the nine months ended
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September 30, 2004, this source of financing provided proceeds to the company in the amount of $1.5 million. We
have not yet determined if and when the ESPP will be reinstated and, accordingly, we do not anticipate that we will
receive proceeds from the ESPP in the near term.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, the cash provided by financing activities primarily resulted from:
(i) net proceeds of approximately $24.8 million, net of issuance costs of approximately $0.2 million, from the sale of
4,854,368 shares of our common stock at $5.15 per share; (ii) proceeds of approximately $1.5 million from the
issuance of common stock as part of the employee stock purchase plan; and (iii) proceeds of approximately $2.4
million from the exercise of employee stock options.

Revolving line of credit

Our revolving line of credit with Comerica Bank was amended and restated on March 8, 2006 and was extended to
March 7, 2008. The terms of the agreement include a $5.0 million line of credit and require us to (i) maintain at least a
$5.0 million cash balance in Comerica Bank accounts, (ii) maintain a minimum quick ratio of 2.00 to 1.00, and (iii) 
subordinate any debt issuances subsequent to the effective date of the agreement, and to comply with certain other
covenants. All assets of the Company have been pledged as collateral on the credit facility. The Company failed to
timely file its periodic report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2006 and on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2006. The line of credit agreement was amended in August 2006, November 2006, and December
2006 to extend the deadline related to the filing of its periodic reports to February 20, 2007.

The revolving line of credit contains a provision of up to $5.0 million for issuances of standby commercial letters of
credit. As of September 30, 2006, we had utilized $1.2 million of the standby commercial letter of credit limit of
which $0.7 million serves as collateral for computer equipment leases for Ness. The revolving line of credit also
contains a provision for a sub-limit of up to $3.0 million for issuances of foreign exchange forward contracts. As of
September 30, 2006, we had not entered into any foreign exchange forward contracts. Pursuant to the amendment in
March 2006, we are required to secure our standby commercial letters of credit and foreign exchange forward
contracts as of March 7, 2008. If these have not been secured to Comerica Bank’s satisfaction, our cash and cash
equivalent balances held by Comerica Bank automatically secure such obligations to the extent of the then continuing
or outstanding and undrawn letters of credit or foreign exchange contracts.

Borrowings under the revolving line of credit bear interest at the lending bank’s prime rate. Except for the standby
commercial letters of credit, as of September 30, 2006, there was no outstanding balance on our revolving line of
credit.

Prior to the March 2006 amendment, advances were available on a non-formula basis up to $2.0 million (non-formula
portion); however, if advances exceeded $2.0 million, then subsequent advances could not exceed 80% of eligible
accounts receivable balances, and the bank would hold a security interest in those accounts receivable. As of March
2006, advances are available on a non-formula basis up to $5.0 million.

Contractual Obligations and Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have entered into an agreement with Ness, effective December 15, 2003, wherein Ness will provide our customers
with technical product support, a sustaining engineering function, product testing services, and product development
services (collectively, the “Services”). The agreement had an initial term of three years and was extended for an
additional one year term. Under the terms of the agreement, we pay for services rendered on a monthly fee basis,
including the requirement to reimburse Ness for approved out-of-pocket expenses. In addition, upon our approval or at
our direction, Ness may procure equipment to be used in performance of the Services, either through leasing
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arrangements or direct cash purchases, for which we are obligated under the agreement to reimburse them. In
connection with the procurement of equipment, Ness has entered into a 36 month equipment lease agreement with
IBM India and, in connection with the lease agreement we have issued a standby letter of credit in the amount of $0.7
million in guarantee of Ness financial commitments under the lease. Management believes that the likelihood of the
performance of the guarantee being called is remote.

We have no material commitments for capital expenditures and do not anticipate capital expenditures to fluctuate
significantly from historic levels.
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Future payments due under lease obligations as of September 30, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

Capital
Leases

Operating
Leases

Fiscal Year Ended September 30:
2007 $ 97 $ 3,712
2008 — 3,318
2009 — 2,582
2010 — 2,009
2011 — 1,068
Thereafter — 1,208
Total minimum payments $ 97 $ 13,897

Our existing cash and cash equivalents balances may decline in future periods. However, we believe that the effects of
our strategic actions implemented to improve revenue as well as to control costs will be adequate to generate
sufficient cash flows from operations, which, when combined with existing cash balances, we anticipate will be
sufficient to meet our working capital and operating resource expenditure requirements for the near term. In early
2007 we received $20.0 million associated with a customer license arrangement. If the global economy weakens, cash
balances could be unfavorably impacted.

We anticipate that operating expenses will continue to be a material use of our cash resources. We may continue to
utilize cash resources to fund acquisitions or investments in other businesses, technologies or product lines. In the
long-term, we may require additional funds to support our working capital and operating expense requirements or for
other purposes, and may seek to raise these additional funds through public or private debt or equity financings. There
can be no assurance that this additional financing will be available, or if available, will be on reasonable terms. Failure
to generate sufficient revenues or to control spending could adversely affect our ability to achieve our business
objectives.

Indemnification

As permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers, directors and certain
employees for certain events or occurrences while the employee, officer or director is, or was serving, at our request in
such capacity. The term of the indemnification period is for the officer’s or director’s lifetime. The maximum potential
amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited;
however, we have a Director and Officer insurance policy that limits our exposure and may enable us to recover a
portion of any future amounts paid. Future payments may be required to defend current and former directors in the
derivative class action lawsuits described in Note 11. As a result of our insurance policy coverage, we believe the
estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal. Accordingly, we have no liabilities recorded for
these agreements as of September 30, 2006.

We enter into standard indemnification agreements in our ordinary course of business. Pursuant to these agreements,
we agree to indemnify, defend, hold harmless, and to reimburse the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred
by the indemnified party, generally our business partners or customers, in connection with any patent, copyright or
other intellectual property infringement claim by any third party with respect to our products. The term of these
indemnification agreements is generally perpetual after execution of the agreement. The maximum potential amount
of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited. We have not
incurred significant costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements. We believe
the estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal. Accordingly, we have no liabilities recorded for these
agreements as of September 30, 2006.
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We enter into arrangements with our business partners, whereby the business partners agree to provide services as
subcontractors for our implementations. We may, at our discretion and in the ordinary course of business, subcontract
the performance of any of our services. Accordingly, we enter into standard indemnification agreements with our
customers, whereby we indemnify them for other acts, such as personal property damage by our subcontractors. The
maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements
is unlimited; however, we have general and umbrella insurance policies that may enable us to recover a portion of any
amounts paid. We have not incurred significant costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these
indemnification agreements. As a result, we believe the estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal.
Accordingly, we have no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of September 30, 2006.

When, as part of an acquisition, we acquire all of the stock or all of the assets and liabilities of a company, we may
assume the liability for certain events or occurrences that took place prior to the date of acquisition. The maximum
potential amount of future payments, if any, we could be required to make for such obligations is undeterminable at
this time. Accordingly, we have no amounts recorded for these contingent liabilities as of September 30, 2006.

59

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

111



Table of Contents

We warrant that our software products will perform in all material respects in accordance with our standard published
specifications and documentation in effect at the time of delivery of the licensed products to the customer for a
specified period of time. Additionally, we warrant that our maintenance and consulting services will be performed
consistently with generally accepted industry standards. If necessary, we would provide for the estimated cost of
product and service warranties based on specific warranty claims and claim history, however, we have not incurred
significant expense under our product or services warranties to date. As a result, we believe the estimated fair value on
these warranties is minimal. Accordingly, we have no amounts recorded for these contingent liabilities as of
September 30, 2006.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes and foreign currency fluctuations.

The following table presents the amounts of restricted cash that are subject to interest rate risk by year of expected
maturity and average interest rates as of September 30, 2006 (in thousands):

September 30,
2006

Fair
Value

Restricted cash in short-term investments $ 185 $ 185
Average interest rates 2.96%

The following table presents the amounts of restricted cash that are subject to interest rate risk by year of expected
maturity and average interest rates as of September 30, 2005 (in thousands)

September 30,
2005

Fair
Value

Restricted cash in short-term investments $ 1,982 $ 1,982
Average interest rates 0.70%

Interest Rate Risk. Our exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our money market
accounts. We invest our excess cash in money market accounts and certificates-of-deposits less than one year in
maturity.

Foreign Currency Risk. A significant portion of our sales and operating expenses result from transactions outside of
the United States, often in foreign currencies. These currencies include the United Kingdom Pound Sterling, the Euro
and Canadian Dollars. International revenues from our foreign subsidiaries accounted for approximately 38% of total
revenues for the year ended September 30, 2006. International sales are made mostly from our foreign sales
subsidiaries in their respective countries and are typically denominated in the local currency of each country. These
subsidiaries also incur most of their expenses in the local currency. Accordingly, all foreign subsidiaries use the local
currency as their functional currency.

Additionally, two of our foreign subsidiaries hold cash equivalent investments in currencies other than their respective
local currencies. Such holdings increase our exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. As exchange rates vary,
the holdings may magnify foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations or upon translation or adversely impact overall
expected profitability through foreign currency losses incurred upon the sale or maturity of the investments. At
September 30, 2006, approximately $14.6 million of our cash and cash equivalents were held by our subsidiaries
outside of the United States.

Our international business is subject to risks, including, but not limited to changing economic conditions, changes in
political climate, differing tax structures, other regulations and restrictions, and foreign exchange rate volatility when
compared to the United States. Accordingly, our future results could be materially adversely impacted by changes in
these or other factors.
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ITEM 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Chordiant Software, Inc. and Subsidiaries: Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005, and for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004.

Consolidated Financial Statements:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm as of and for the years ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005 63
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for the nine months ended
September 30, 2004 64
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 65
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended September 30, 2006, the year ended
September 30, 2005, and the nine months ended September 30, 2004 66
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Loss for the year ended
September 30, 2006, the year ended September 30, 2005, and the nine months ended
September 30, 2004 67
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended September 30, 2006, the year ended
September 30, 2005, and the nine months ended September 30, 2004 68
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 69

Financial Statement Schedule:
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the year ended September 30, 2006, the year
ended September 30, 2005, and the nine-month period ended September 30, 2004 132

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the
Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Chordiant Software, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Chordiant Software, Inc. (the “Company”) as of
September 30, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and
comprehensive loss, and cash flows for each of the years then ended. We have also audited the financial statement
schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) as of and for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements and schedule are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and schedule. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements and schedule. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Chordiant Software, Inc. at September 30, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States.

Also, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule as of and for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005,
presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule as of and for the year ended September 30, 2005, have been restated.

As discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, effective October 1, 2005, the Company adopted the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based Payment.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of Chordiant Software, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30,
2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 9, 2007 expressed an unqualified
opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and an adverse
opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting due to the existence of material weaknesses.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

San Jose, California
February 9, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Chordiant Software, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated Statements of Operations, Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Loss and Cash
Flows of Chordiant Software, Inc. present fairly, in all material respects, the results of their operations and their cash
flows for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule for the
nine-month period ended September 30, 2004 listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects,
the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These
financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our
audit. We conducted our audit of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has restated its 2004 consolidated
financial statements and financial statement schedule.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
March 18, 2005, except for the restatement described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, as to which
the date is February 8, 2007.
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CHORDIANT SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

September 30,
2006

September 30,
2005

(restated)
(1)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 45,278 $ 38,546
Restricted cash 185 1,982
Accounts receivable, net, including $142 and $263 due from related
parties at September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively 19,025 18,979
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,210 4,345
Total current assets 69,698 63,852
Restricted cash 334 365
Property and equipment, net 2,630 2,479
Goodwill 32,044 31,907
Intangible assets, net 3,937 5,148
Other assets 2,860 3,499
Total assets $ 111,503 $ 107,250

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable, including $132 and nil to related parties at
September 30, 2006 and 2005 respectively $ 7,665 $ 4,554
Accrued expenses 15,706 9,302
Deferred revenue, including related party balances of $112 and $370 at
September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively 23,909 26,050
Current portion of capital lease obligations 95 213
Total current liabilities 47,375 40,119
Deferred revenue—long-term 5,596 147
Restructuring costs, net of current portion 1,239 1,731
Other long-term liabilities 68 96
Total liabilities 54,278 42,093

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 7, 10 and 11)

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 51,000 shares authorized; none issued
and outstanding at September 30, 2006 and 2005 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; 80,075
and 78,488 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2006 and
2005, respectively 80 78
Additional paid-in capital 286,392 281,649
Deferred stock-based compensation — (2,112)
Accumulated deficit (232,943) (216,942)
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Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,696 2,484
Total stockholders’ equity 57,225 65,157
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 111,503 $ 107,250

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHORDIANT SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended
September 30,

2006

Year Ended
September 30,

2005

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2004

(restated)(1) (restated)(1)
Revenues:
License, including related party items aggregating
nil, $5,612, and nil for year ended September 30,
2006 and 2005, and nine months ended September
30, 2004, respectively $ 40,514 $ 31,678 $ 23,661
Service, including related party items aggregating
$663, $2,443, and nil for years ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005, and nine months
ended September 30, 2004, respectively 57,022 52,047 37,362
Total revenues 97,536 83,725 61,023
Cost of revenues:
License 1,690 1,079 1,262
Service, including related party items aggregating
$669, nil, and nil for the years ended September 30,
2006 and 2005, and nine months ended September
30, 2004, respectively 30,566 30,155 21,630
Amortization of intangible assets 1,211 1,068 1,044
Total cost of revenues 33,467 32,302 23,936
Gross profit 64,069 51,423 37,087
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 33,616 29,561 17,825
Research and development 25,858 20,272 13,160
General and administrative 20,445 18,549 7,099
Amortization of intangible assets — 117 126
Restructuring expense — 1,052 172
Purchased in-process research and development — 1,940 —
Total operating expenses 79,919 71,491 38,382
Loss from operations (15,850) (20,068) (1,295)
Interest income, net 1,120 755 498
Other expense, net (627) (103) (132)
Loss before income taxes (15,357) (19,416) (929)
Provision for income taxes 644 449 442
Net loss $ (16,001) $ (19,865) $ (1,371)

Net loss per share—basic and diluted $ (0.21) $ (0.27) $ (0.02)
Weighted average shares used in computing basic
and diluted net loss per share 77,682 74,449 69,761
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(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHORDIANT SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands)
(restated) (1)

Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Deferred
Stock-Based

Compensation
Accumulated

Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Total
Stockholders’

Equity
Comprehensive

(Loss)Shares Amount
Balance at
December 31, 2003-
as previously reported 64,763 $ 65 $ 235,911 $ (1,665) $ (188,906) $ 3,041 $ 48,446
Restatement
adjustments to
opening stockholders’
equity — — 7,512 (808) (6,800) — (96 )
Balance at December
31, 2003- restated 64,763 65 243,423 (2,473) (195,706) 3,041 48,350
Exercise of stock
options 1,150 1 2,414 — — — 2,415
Amortization of
unearned
compensation — — — (311) — — (311)
Amortization of
restricted stock — — — 87 — — 87
Change in grantee
status — — 362 — — — 362
Cancellation of
restricted stock (234) (1) (409) 409 — — (1)
Issuance of restricted
stock 3 — 17 — — — 17
Unearned
compensation on
variable options — — (1,901) 1,901 — — —
Issuance of common
stock for Employee
Stock Purchase Plan 2,000 2 1,546 — — — 1,548
Issuance of common
stock, net of offering
costs 4,854 5 24,809 — — — 24,814
Warrants issued to
customer — — (46) — — — (46)
Unearned
compensation on
stock
options-restatement — — 313 (313) — — —
Net loss — — — — (1,371) — (1,371) $ (1,371)
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Foreign currency
translation gain — — — — — 48 48 48
Comprehensive loss $ (1,323)
Balance at
September 30, 2004-
restated 72,536 72 270,528 (700) (197,077) 3,089 75,912
Exercise of stock
options 1,246 1 1,511 — — — 1,512
Amortization of
unearned
compensation related
to acquisitions — — — 2,729 — — 2,729
Amortization of
unearned
compensation — — — (348) — — (348)
Amortization of
restricted stock — — — 650 — — 650
Cancellation of
restricted stock (96) — (221) 221 — — —
Unearned
compensation on
variable options — — (411) 411 — — —
Issuance of restricted
stock 450 1 951 (952) — — —
Issuance of common
stock, net of offering
costs, and restricted
stock related to
acquisitions 4,352 4 9,303 (4,123) — — 5,184
Warrants issued to
customer — — (12) — — — (12)
Net loss — — — — (19,865) — (19,865) $ (19,865)
Foreign currency
translation loss — — — — — (605) (605) (605)
Comprehensive loss $ (20,470)
Balance at
September 30, 2005-
restated 78,488 78 281,649 (2,112) (216,942) 2,484 65,157
Exercise of stock
options and warrants 1,282 2 2,024 — — — 2,026
Amortization of
unearned
compensation related
to acquisitions — — 756 — — — 756
Amortization of
unearned
compensation — — 3,475 — — — 3,475
Amortization of
restricted stock — — 463 — — — 463
Cancellation of
restricted stock (20) — — — — — —
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Issuance of restricted
stock 325 — — — — — —
Issuance of common
stock, net of offering
costs, and restricted
stock related to
acquisitions — — 137 — — — 137
Reclassification of
deferred
compensation due to
adoption of SFAS
123R — — (2,112) 2,112 — — —
Net loss — — — — (16,001) — (16,001) $ (16,001)
Foreign currency
translation gain — — — — — 1,212 1,212 1,212
Comprehensive loss $ (14,789)
Balance at
September 30, 2006 80,075 $ 80 $ 286,392 $ — $ (232,943) $ 3,696 $ 57,225

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHORDIANT SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year Ended
September 30,

2006

Year Ended
September 30,

2005

Nine Months
Ended

September
30,

2004
(restated)(1) (restated)(1)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (16,001) $ (19,865) $ (1,371)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used
in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,238 1,382 1,199
Purchased in-process research and development — 1,940 —
Amortization of intangibles and capitalized software 2,111 1,335 1,170
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense 4,695 3,031 80
Provision (reversal) for doubtful accounts (9) 103 22
Warrants issued to customers — (12) (46)
Loss on disposal of assets 40 27 —
Other non-cash charges 140 29 21
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 292 1,479 (8,137)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (1,028) (988) (378)
Other assets (136) 250 (393)
Accounts payable 3,004 (3,893) 2,456
Accrued expenses and other long term liabilities 6,106 743 (1,144)
Deferred revenue 2,793 5,489 2,088
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 3,245 (8,950) (4,433)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Property and equipment purchases (1,694) (726) (804)
Capitalized product development costs (250) (2,226) —
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 11 — —
Cash used for acquisitions, net — (9,800) —
Proceeds from release of restricted cash 1,893 (12) (9)
Purchases of marketable securities available for sale and short
term investments — (100) (4,000)
Proceeds from maturities of short term investments — 4,100 —
Net cash used for investing activities (40) (8,764) (4,813)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net — — 24,814
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 2,250 1,210 2,415
Proceeds from issuance of common stock for Employee Stock
Purchase Plan — — 1,548
Payment on capital leases (213) (199) (40)
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,037 1,011 28,737
Effect of exchange rate changes 1,490 (499) 39
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Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,732 (17,202) 19,530
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 38,546 55,748 36,218
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 45,278 $ 38,546 $ 55,748
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 17 $ 29 $ 6
Cash paid for taxes $ 360 $ 478 $ 195

Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activities:
Compensation expense relating to issuance of common stock to
employees $ 4,695 $ 3,031 $ 80
Receivable related to issuance of stock options $ 77 $ 302 $ —
Fair value of assets acquired in acquisition, excluding acquired
intangible assets $ —$ 1,134 $ —
Liabilities assumed in acquisitions $ —$ 477 $ —
Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisition $ —$ 9,307 $ —
Purchase of assets under capital lease obligations $ —$ —$ 549
Cashless exercise of stock warrants $ 450 $ —$ —

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1—THE COMPANY

Chordiant Software, Inc. (“the Company”, “Chordiant”, or “we”) is an enterprise software vendor that offers software
solutions for global business-to-consumer companies that seek to improve the quality of their customer interactions
and to reduce costs through increased employee productivity and process efficiencies. We concentrate on serving
global customers in retail financial services, communications and other consumer direct industries. We were
incorporated in California in March 1991 and reincorporated in Delaware in October 1997.

We deliver a complete customer solution that includes software applications and tools and services that enable
businesses to integrate their customer information and corporate systems so that they can have an accurate, real-time
view of their customers across multiple forms of customer interaction.

We believe our solutions offer flexibility to businesses to set business policies and processes to control the quality of
servicing, fulfillment and marketing to their customers. Our solutions enable companies to control and change their
business policies and processes. We believe that we are leaders in providing business process driven solutions for
customer management.

Our software solutions and architecture are based on leading industry standards that are widely adopted by business
customers in the industries we serve. We believe these solutions are capable of being the foundation for contemporary
distributed computing environments required by global business-to-consumer enterprises.

We have incurred cumulative losses and negative cash flows from operating activities since inception. As of
September 30, 2006 we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $232.9 million. For the year ended
September 30, 2006, we incurred a net loss of approximately $16.0 million and positive cash flows from operations of
approximately $3.2 million.

NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Change in Year End

On December 29, 2004, Chordiant Software’s Board of Directors approved a change in the Company’s fiscal year end
from December 31 to September 30. The nine month results reported by the Company relate to the transitional period
ended September 30, 2004.

Principles of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts and those of our wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All significant inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

126



On an on-going basis, we evaluate the estimates, including those related to our allowance for doubtful accounts,
valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, valuation of deferred tax assets, restructuring costs, contingencies, vendor
specific evidence of fair value in multiple element arrangements and the estimates associated with the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting for certain of our revenue contracts. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

In connection with the Company’s restatement of its consolidated financial statements, the Company has applied
judgment in choosing whether to revise measurement dates for prior options grants. Information regarding the
restatement, including ranges of possible additional stock-based compensation expense if other measurement dates
had been selected for certain grants, is set forth in the “Explanatory Note: immediately preceding Part 1, Item 1 and
Note 3-“Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” in Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements of this Form 10-K.

69

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

127



Table of Contents

CHORDIANT SOFTWARE, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continued)

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year consolidated financial statements to conform to the current
year’s presentation.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less. The
Company invests primarily in money market funds as these investments are subject to minimal credit and market
risks.

Historically the Company’s marketable securities have been classified as available-for-sale. In accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities,” available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included as a
separate component of stockholder’s equity, net of any tax effect. Realized gains and losses and declines in value
judged by management to be other than temporary on these investments are included in interest income and expense
when held. The Company periodically evaluates these investments for other-than-temporary impairment. For the
purposes of computing realized gains and losses, cost is identified on a specific identification basis. As of September
30, 2006 and 2005, there were no marketable securities held by the Company.

Restricted cash

At September 30, 2006 and 2005, interest bearing certificates of deposit were classified as restricted cash. These
deposits serve as collateral for letters of credit securing certain lease obligations and post-contract customer support
obligations. On December 31, 2005, $1.5 million of restricted cash that served as a security deposit on a post-contract
customer support transaction was released as the underlying contract requirement expired. For the year ended
September 30, 2006, $0.3 million of restricted cash for letters of credit related to lease obligations was released in
accordance with the requirements of the lease agreement.

Fair value of financial instruments

Our financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and borrowings
are carried at cost, which approximates fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments. The reported
amount of borrowings approximates fair value because of the market value interest rates that these debts bear.

During the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 and the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we did not
enter into any foreign currency forward exchange contracts.

Revenue recognition

We derive revenues from licenses of our software and related services, which include assistance in implementation,
customization and integration, post-contract customer support, training and consulting. All revenue amounts are
presented net of sales taxes in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations. The amount and timing
of our revenue is difficult to predict and any shortfall in revenue or delay in recognizing revenue could cause our
operating results to vary significantly from period to period and could result in additional operating losses. The
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accounting rules related to revenue recognition are complex and are affected by interpretation of the rules and an
understanding of industry practices, both of which are subject to change. Consequently, the revenue recognition
accounting rules require management to make significant estimates based on judgment.

Software license revenue is recognized in accordance with Statement of Position No. 97-2 “Software Revenue
Recognition,” as amended by Statement of Position No. 98-9 “Software Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain
Arrangements” (collectively “SOP 97-2”).

For arrangements with multiple elements, we recognize revenue for services and post-contract customer support based
upon vendor specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value of the respective elements. VSOE of fair value for the
services element is based upon the standard hourly rates we charge for the services when such services are sold
separately. The VSOE of fair value for annual post-contract customer support is generally established with the
contractual future renewal rates included in the contracts when the renewal rate is substantive and consistent with the
fees when support services are sold separately. When contracts contain multiple elements and VSOE of fair value
exists for all undelivered elements, we account for the delivered elements, principally the license portion, based upon
the “residual method” as prescribed by SOP 97-2. In multiple element transactions where VSOE is not established for an
undelivered element, we recognize revenue upon the establishment of VSOE
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for that element or when the element is delivered.

At the time we enter into a transaction, we assess whether any services included within the arrangement require us to
perform significant implementation or customization essential to the functionality of our products.

For product contracts that do not involve significant implementation or customization essential to the product
functionality, we recognize license revenues when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the fee is fixed or
determinable, collection of the fee is probable and delivery has occurred as prescribed by SOP 97-2.

For product contracts that involve significant implementation or customization essential to the functionality of our
products, we recognize the license and professional consulting services revenues using either the
percentage-of-completion method or the completed contract method as prescribed by Statement of Position No. 81-1,
“Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Product-Type Contracts” (“SOP 81-1”).

The percentage-of-completion method is applied when we have the ability to make reasonable dependable estimates
of the total effort required for completion using labor hours incurred as the measure of progress towards completion.
The progress toward completion is measured based on the “go-live” date. We define the “go-live” date as the date the
essential product functionality has been delivered or the application enters into a production environment or the point
at which no significant additional Chordiant supplied professional service resources are required. Estimates are subject
to revisions as the contract progresses to completion. We account for the changes in estimates when the information
becomes known. Information impacting estimates obtained after the balance sheet date but before the issuance of the
financial statements is used to update the estimates. Provisions for estimated contract losses are recognized in the
period in which the loss becomes probable and can be reasonably estimated. When we sell additional licenses related
to the original licensing agreement, revenue is recognized upon delivery if the project has reached the go-live date
status, or if the project has not reached the go-live date status, revenue is recognized under the
percentage-of-completion method. We classify revenues from these arrangements as license and service revenues
based upon the estimated fair value of each element using the residual method.

The completed contract method is applied when we are unable to determine reasonable dependable estimates of the
total effort required for completion. Under the completed contract method, all revenue and related costs of revenue are
deferred and recognized upon completion.

For product co-development arrangements relating to software products in development prior to the consummation of
the individual arrangements, where the Company retains the intellectual property being developed, and intends to sell
the resulting products to other customers, license revenue is deferred until the delivery of the final product, provided
all other requirements of SOP 97-2 are met. Expenses associated with these co-development arrangements are
accounted for under SFAS 86 and are normally expensed as incurred as they are considered to be research and
development costs that do not qualify for capitalization or deferral.

Revenue from subscription or term license agreements, which include software, rights to unspecified future products
and maintenance, is recognized ratably over the term of the subscription period. Revenue from subscription or term
license agreements, which include software, but exclude rights to unspecified future products or maintenance, is
recognized upon delivery of the software if all conditions of recognizing revenue have been met including that the
related agreement is non-cancelable, non-refundable and provided on an unsupported basis.
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In situations in which we are obligated to provide unspecified additional software products in the future, we recognize
revenue as a subscription ratably over the term of the subscription period.

Revenues generated from fees charged to customers for providing transaction processing are recognized as revenue in
the same period as the related transactions occur.

We recognize revenue for post-contract customer support ratably over the support periods which have historically
ranged from one to three years.

Our training and consulting services revenues are recognized as such services are performed on an hourly or daily
basis for time and material contracts. For consulting services arrangements with a fixed fee, we recognize revenue on
the proportional performance method.
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For all sales we use either a signed license agreement or a binding purchase order where we have a master license
agreement as evidence of an arrangement. Sales through our third party systems integrators are evidenced by a master
agreement governing the relationship together with binding purchase orders on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
Revenues from reseller arrangements are recognized on the “sell-through” method, when the reseller reports to us the
sale of our software products to end-users. Our agreements with customers and resellers do not contain product return
rights.

We assess collectibility based on a number of factors, including past transaction history with the customer and the
credit-worthiness of the customer. We generally do not request collateral from our customers. If we determine that the
collection of a fee is not probable, we defer the fee and recognize revenue at the time collection becomes probable,
which is generally upon receipt of cash. If a transaction includes extended payment terms, we recognized revenue as
the payments become due and payable.

Stock-based compensation

On October 1, 2005, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment,” (“SFAS 123(R)”) which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for
all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors including employee stock options, restricted stock
awards and employee stock purchases related to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) based on estimated fair
values. SFAS 123(R) supersedes the Company’s previous accounting using the intrinsic value method under
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”). In March 2005,
the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (“SAB 107”), which provided supplemental implementation guidance
for SFAS 123(R). We have applied the provisions of SAB 107 in the adoption of SFAS 123(R).

We adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method, which requires the application of the
accounting standard as of October 1, 2005, the first day of the Company’s fiscal year 2006. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended September 30, 2006 reflect the impact of SFAS 123(R). In accordance with the modified
prospective transition method, the consolidated financial statements for prior periods have not been restated to reflect,
and do not include, the impact of SFAS 123(R).

SFAS 123(R) requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using
an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as
expense over the requisite service periods in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. Prior to the adoption
of SFAS 123(R), we accounted for stock-based awards to employees and directors using the intrinsic value method in
accordance with APB 25 as allowed under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”).
Under the intrinsic value method, when the exercise price of the Company’s fixed stock options granted to employees
and directors was equal to the fair market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant, no stock-based
compensation was required to be recognized under APB 25.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized during the period under SFAS 123(R) is based on the value of the
portion of share-based payment awards that is ultimately expected to vest during the period. Stock-based
compensation expense recognized in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
September 30, 2006 includes: (i) compensation expense for share-based payment awards granted prior to, but not yet
vested as of September 30, 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the pro forma
provisions of SFAS 123, and (ii) compensation expense for the share-based payment awards granted subsequent to
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September 30, 2005 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). In
conjunction with the adoption of SFAS 123(R), we changed our method of expense attribution from the vested graded
to the straight-line method. Compensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted on or prior to
September 30, 2005 will continue to be recognized using the vested graded method of expense attribution while
compensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted subsequent to September 30, 2005 will be
recognized using the straight-line method of expense attribution. As stock-based compensation expense recognized in
the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended 2006 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has
been reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and
revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. In the pro forma
disclosures required under SFAS 123 for the periods prior to fiscal 2006, we accounted for forfeitures as they
occurred. See Note 13.

Upon adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company has continued to utilize the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
(“Black-Scholes model”) which was previously used for the Company’s pro forma disclosures required under SFAS 123.
For additional information, see Note 13. The Company’s determination of fair value of share-based payment awards on
the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by the Company’s stock price as well as assumptions
regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to the
Company’s expected stock price volatility over the term of
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the awards, and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. Because changes in the subjective
assumptions can materially affect the estimated value, in management’s opinion, the existing valuation models may not
provide an accurate measure of the fair value of the Company’s employee stock options. Although the fair value of
employee stock options is determined in accordance with SFAS 123(R) and SAB 107 using an option-pricing model,
that value may not be indicative of the fair value observed in a willing buyer/willing seller market transaction.
Stock-based compensation expense recognized under SFAS 123(R) for the year ended 2006 was $4.7 million, which
consisted of stock-based compensation expense of $2.7 million related to employee stock options and $2.0 million
related to restricted stock awards, respectively.

The effect of the adoption of FAS 123(R) on October 1, 2005, resulted in an increase of $1.9 million in the loss from
operations, loss before income taxes and net loss, an increase of $0.02 net loss per share, for the year ended September
30, 2006, compared to the continued application of APB 25 as used in the comparable prior year period. Our reported
basic and diluted net loss per share was $0.21 for the year ended September 30, 2006. We have not recognized, and do
not expect to recognize in the near future, any tax benefit related to employee stock-based compensation expense due
to the full valuation allowance of our net deferred tax assets and our operating loss carryforwards. In addition, the
adoption of FAS 123(R) did not affect our cash flows from operations or cash flows from financing activities. No
stock-based compensation expense has been capitalized as part of the cost of an asset as of September 30, 2006.

Under APB 25, stock-based compensation expense of $3.0 million (restated) and $0.4 million (restated) for the period
ended September 30, 2005 and nine months ended September 30, 2004 was recorded as stock-based compensation
expense in the consolidated statement of operations related to variable options, options granted with exercise prices
below fair market value, and restricted stock awards. Previously, the compensation expense under APB 25 on variable
options was re-measured at the end of each operating period until the options were exercised, forfeited or expired.
Under SFAS 123(R), these options are now expensed based on the fair value approach for unvested shares as of
September 30, 2005. The restricted stock awards continue to be expensed under FAS 123(R) using a vested graded
expense attribution consistent with the prior period.

There was no stock-based compensation expense related to the ESPP recognized during the year ended September 30,
2006 and 2005. See Note 13 for additional information.

Concentrations of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents,
restricted cash and accounts receivable. At September 30, 2006 and 2005, we have invested excess funds in money
market accounts. We have cash equivalents and investments with various high quality institutions domestically and
internationally.

Our accounts receivable are derived from sales to customers located in North America, Europe, and elsewhere in the
world. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition and, generally, require no
collateral from our customers. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts when deemed necessary. The
Company estimates its allowance for doubtful accounts by analyzing accounts receivable for specific risk accounts as
well as providing for a general allowance amount based on historical bad debt and sales return percentages. The
estimate considers historical bad debts, customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness and current economic
trends. To date, bad debts have not been material and have been within management expectations. The following table
summarizes the revenues from customers that accounted for 10% or more of total revenues:

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

134



Year
Ended September 30,

2006

Year Ended
September 30,

2005

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2004

Citicorp Credit Services, Inc. 12% * *
Capital One Services, Inc. * 18% *
Barclays Bank, Plc. * * 11%
Canadian Imperial Bank of
Commerce * * 10

%

Time Warner Cable * * 11%

* Represents less than 10% of total revenues.

At September 30, 2006, IBM and Cash America International, Inc. accounted for approximately 26% and 14% of our
accounts receivable, respectively. At September 30, 2005, Capital One, Wachovia and HSBC accounted for
approximately 18%, 17% and 10% of our accounts receivable, respectively.
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Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable, net, consists of the following (in thousands):

September 30,
2006 2005

Accounts receivable, net:
Accounts receivable $ 19,108 $ 19,193
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (83) (214)

$ 19,025 $ 18,979

Research and Development

Costs incurred in the research and development of new products and enhancements to existing products are charged to
expense as incurred until the technological feasibility of the product or enhancement has been established.
Technological feasibility of the product is determined after the completion of a detailed program design and a
determination has been made that any uncertainties related to high-risk development issues have been resolved. If the
process of developing the product does not include a detail program design, technological feasibility is determined
only after completion of a working model. After establishing technological feasibility, additional development costs
incurred through the date the product is available for general release to customers is capitalized and amortized over the
estimated product life.

When technological feasibility is established through the completion of a working model the period of time between
achieving technological feasibility and the general release of new product is generally short and software development
costs qualifying for capitalization have historically been insignificant.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2006, technological feasibility to port an existing product to a new platform
was established through the completion of a detailed program design. Costs aggregating $0.3 million associated with
this product have been capitalized and included in Other Assets as of September 30, 2006. This product was not
available for general release as of September 30, 2006, accordingly the costs capitalized have not been amortized.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2004, technological feasibility for an acquired banking product was
established through the completion of a detailed program design. Costs aggregating $2.7 million associated with this
product have been capitalized and included in Other Assets as of September 30, 2005. During the quarter ended
September 30, 2005, the product became available for general release and, accordingly, the costs capitalized
commenced to be amortized. The capitalized costs are being amortized using the straight-line method over the
remaining estimated economic life of the product which is 36 months. For the years ended September 30, 2006 and
2005, amortization expense related to this product was $1.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

With respect to research and development associated with acquisitions, the value attributable to in-process research
and development is charged to expense in the period we complete the acquisition (See Note 5).

Property and equipment
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Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based upon the
estimated useful lives of assets, which range from three to seven years. Amortization of leasehold improvements is
calculated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the economic life of the asset or the lease term. Purchased
internal-use software consists primarily of amounts paid for perpetual licenses to third party software applications,
which are amortized over their estimated useful life, generally three years. Depreciation and amortization expense was
approximately $1.2 million, $1.4 million and $1.2 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, and the
nine months ended September 30, 2004, respectively.

Property and equipment included approximately $0.5 million of assets under capital leases at September 30, 2006 and
2005, respectively. Accumulated amortization under these leases at September 30, 2006 and 2005 was $0.5 million
and $0.3 million, respectively.
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Property and equipment, net consists of the following (in thousands):

September 30,
2006 2005

Property and equipment, net:
Computer hardware (useful lives of 3 years) $ 3,313 $ 9,216
Purchased internal-use software (useful lives of 3 years) 2,254 2,336
Furniture and equipment (useful lives of 3 to 7 years) 1,043 1,508
Computer equipment and software under capital leases (useful
lives of 3 years) 549 549
Leasehold improvements (shorter of 7 years or the term of the
lease) 2,729 2,855

9,888 16,464
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (7,258) (13,985)

$ 2,630 $ 2,479

Goodwill

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” which was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. SFAS 142 requires, among
other things, the discontinuance of goodwill amortization. In addition, the standard includes provisions upon adoption
for the reclassification of certain existing recognized intangibles as goodwill, reassessment of the useful lives of
existing recognized intangibles, reclassification of certain intangibles out of previously reported goodwill and the
testing for impairment of existing goodwill and other intangibles. As of January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS 142 and
have ceased to amortize goodwill.

We determined that we have one reporting unit. We are required to perform an impairment review of our goodwill
balance on at least an annual basis. This impairment review involves a two-step process as follows:

Step 1—We compare the fair value of our reporting units to the carrying value, including goodwill, of each of those
units. For each reporting unit where the carrying value, including goodwill, exceeds the unit’s fair value, we proceed
on to Step 2. If a unit’s fair value exceeds the carrying value, no further work is performed and no impairment charge is
necessary.

Step 2—We perform an allocation of the fair value of the reporting unit to our identifiable tangible and non-goodwill
intangible assets and liabilities. This derives an implied fair value for the reporting unit’s goodwill. We then compare
the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill. If the
carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill is greater than the implied fair value of its goodwill, an impairment
charge would be recognized for the excess.

We performed the annual goodwill impairment test as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, and concluded that no
impairment charge for goodwill was required at September 30, 2006 and 2005 using the methodology described
above. Accordingly, Step 2 was not performed. We will continue to test for impairment on an annual basis and on an
interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of our
reporting units below their carrying amount.
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Intangible assets

Purchased technology and other identifiable intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. The
Company amortizes other identifiable intangibles on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The range
of estimated useful lives on the Company’s identifiable intangibles is one and one half to five years (See Note 6).
Acquired in-process technology is expensed in the period of acquisition.
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We account for finite-lived intangibles and long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Under this standard, the Company reviews finite-lived intangibles or
long-lived assets to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. Factors which are considered important that could trigger an
impairment include, but are not limited to, the following:

• Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;

• Significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business;

• Significant negative industry or economic trends;

• Significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period;

• Market capitalization declines relative to net book value; and

• A current expectation that, more likely than not, a long-lived asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of significantly
before the end of its previously estimated useful life.

Based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, we measure impairment based on a
projected discounted cash flow method using a discount rate determined by our management to be commensurate with
the risk inherent in our current business model.

Royalties

We have certain royalty commitments associated with the shipment and licensing of certain products or components
of products. Royalty expense is generally based on a percentage of the underlying revenue and subject to minimum
and maximum amounts. Royalty expense was approximately $1.5 million, $1.5 million, and $1.3 million for the years
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 and the nine months ended September 30, 2004, respectively. With respect to a
licensed banking product, the Company obtained exclusive, irrevocable worldwide rights to the product. Under the
terms of the agreement, if the Company did not achieve agreed upon annual minimum royalty targets, the licensor had
the ability to cancel the exclusivity rights. During the year ended September 30, 2006, the minimum targets were not
met and the rights to distribute the product are no longer exclusive.

Accrued expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):

September 30,
2006 2005

As
Previously
Reported Adjustment

Restated
(1)

Accrued expenses:
$ 7,627 $ 4,089 $ 400 $ 4,489
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Accrued payroll, payroll taxes and related
expenses
Accrued restructuring expenses, current
portion (Note 7) 655 1,235 — 1,235
Accrued third party consulting fees 1,491 522 — 522
Accrued income, sales and other taxes 2,545 1,156 — 1,156
Accrued professional fees 1,630 729 — 729
Other accrued liabilities 1,758 1,171 — 1,171

$ 15,706 $ 8,902 $ 400 $ 9,302

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments
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Advertising costs

Advertising costs are charged to sales and marketing expense as incurred. Advertising costs for the year ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005 and nine months ended September 30, 2004 totaled approximately $0.2 million, $0.2
million, and $0.1 million, respectively.

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of our foreign entities is their respective local currency. Foreign currency assets and liabilities
are translated at the current exchange rates at each balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at
weighted average exchange rates in effect during the year. The related unrealized gains and losses from foreign
currency translation are recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity. Net gains and losses resulting from foreign exchange transactions are included in Other income,
net and have not been significant for all periods presented.

Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using an asset and liability approach, which requires the recognition of taxes payable
or refundable for the current period and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that
have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns. The measurement of current and deferred tax
liabilities and assets is based on provisions of the enacted tax law; the effects of future changes in tax laws or rates are
not anticipated. The measurement of deferred tax assets is reduced, if necessary, by the amount of any tax benefits
that, based on available evidence, are not expected to be realized.

Net loss per share

Basic and diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss for the period by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period excluding common stock subject to repurchase. The
calculation of diluted net loss per share excludes potential common shares as their effect is anti-dilutive. Potential
common shares consist of common shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options, warrants (using the treasury
stock method) and common shares subject to repurchase by us.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the periods indicated (in
thousands, except for per share data):

Year ended
September 30,

Nine months
 ended

September 30,
20042006 2005

(restated) (1) (restated) (1)
Net loss available to common
stockholders $ (16,001) $ (19,865) $ (1,371)

Weighted average common stock
outstanding 78,690 76,369 70,585
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Common stock subject to repurchase (1,008) (1,920) (824)

Denominator for basic and diluted
calculation 77,682 74,449 69,761

Net loss per share—basic and diluted  $ (0.21)  $ (0.27) $ (0.02)

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments
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The following table sets forth the potential total common shares that are excluded from the calculation of diluted net
loss per share as their effect is anti-dilutive as of the dates indicated (in thousands):

September 30,
2006 2005 2004

Warrants outstanding 862 1,662 1,662
Employee stock options 10,263 8,462 9,506
Restricted stock 1,008 1,920 824

12,133 12,044 11,992

NOTE 3—RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUSLY ISSUED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company is restating its consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2005, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive loss, and cash flows for each of the fiscal periods
ended September 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004, and each of the quarters in fiscal year 2005 and first two quarters
of 2006.

Previously filed annual reports on Form 10-K and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q affected by the restatements have
not been amended and should not be relied on.

In July 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors initiated a review of the Company’s historical stock option grant
practices and appointed the Audit Committee to oversee the investigation. The Audit Committee’s review focused on
processes used to establish the option exercise prices and to obtain required approvals of stock option grants and the
related measurement dates used for financial reporting purposes. The Audit Committee and its legal advisors reviewed
the Company’s historical stock option grants and related accounting including an assessment and review of the
Company’s accounting policies, internal records, supporting documentation and email communications, as well as
interviews with current and former employees and current and former members of the Company’s executive
management and Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee determined that, pursuant to the requirements of APB 25, the correct measurement dates for a
number of stock option grants made by Chordiant during the period 2000 to 2006 differ from the measurement dates
used to account for such option grants. The Audit Committee identified errors related to the determination of the
measurement dates for grants of options where the price of the Company’s stock on the selected grant date was lower
than the price on the actual grant date which would permit recipients to exercise these options at a lower strike price.
Under these circumstances, the Company should have recorded deferred stock compensation expense, which
subsequently should have been amortized as stock compensation expense over the vesting period of the stock options.

The Audit Committee found:

·  There was a lack of oversight in the issuance and administration of the Company’s stock options.
·  There was poor record keeping in connection with the authorization and issuance of stock options.

·  Stock options were granted for which the Company can not provide evidence of authorization consistent with the
terms of the applicable option plan and Board of Directors resolutions.

·  In some cases, the Company issued stock options having exercise prices that were not consistent with the
requirements of the applicable option plan.
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·  There is evidence to suggest that in some cases the dates used to establish the exercise prices for certain options
were intentionally and selectively chosen based on dates on which the closing prices of the Company’s stock were
lower than on the dates on which the options may have been actually granted.

·  There is inconclusive evidence that on one occasion in 2002, a former employee changed the date on documentation
relating to the exercise of a stock option by means of a promissory note to reflect an earlier exercise date. There is
also inconclusive evidence that certain other option exercises in 2001 by means of promissory notes may have been
memorialized with dates preceding the actual exercise dates.

·  With respect to certain individuals, there was insufficient evidence to support a definitive conclusion that they
appreciated the accounting or disclosure issues associated with the Company’s stock option practices, or knowingly
participated in actions intended to mislead or deceive the Company’s auditors.

On November 26, 2006, the Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee and management,
after considering the quantitative and qualitative analysis prepared by management relating to these issues, concluded
that the
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Company should restate certain of its historical financial statements. To correct the accounting errors, our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2006 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three
months ended June 30, 2006, includes restated consolidated and condensed consolidated financial statements and
selected consolidated financial data for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2004, the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005, and the quarters ended December 31, 2005 and March
31, 2006.

The Company also recorded adjustments related to payroll withholding tax for certain options formerly classified as
Incentive Stock Option (ISO) grants under Internal Revenue Service regulations. These options were determined to
have been granted with an exercise price below the fair market value of our stock on the actual grant date and
therefore do not qualify for ISO treatment. The disqualification of ISO classification and the resulting conversion to
non-qualified status results in additional payroll withholding tax obligations on the exercise of these options.

To the extent stock options have been exercised, the Company has also taken certain financial remediation measures
to recover the price difference between the original and revised measurement dates.

The Company is recording approximately $8.3 million of additional pre-tax, non-cash stock-based compensation
expense and associated withholding taxes for the fiscal periods 2000 through 2006.

In addition, as a result of the errors in determining measurement dates, certain options were determined to have been
granted at an exercise price below the fair market value of our stock on the actual grant date. These discounted options
vesting subsequent to December 2004 result in nonqualified deferred compensation for purposes of Section 409A of
the Internal Revenue Code, and holders are subject to an excise tax on the value of the options in the period in which
they vest. We have yet to determine whether we will either implement a plan to assist the affected employees for the
amount of this tax, adjust the terms of the original option grant, or adjust the terms of the original option grant and pay
the affected employees an amount to compensate such employees for this lost benefit. As such, no expense has been
recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements in the adjustments discussed above in connection with this matter.

From the date of the Company’s initial public offering in February 2000 through September 30, 2006 stock options
were granted on approximately 327 individual dates. Based upon the test work performed, errors were noted on
approximately 68 of these days impacting more than 1,300 stock option issuances.

Approximately 65% of the errors noted during the review (aggregating approximately $6.2 million before considering
the impact of employee terminations and forfeitures) relate to four annual stock option grants to employees recorded
in the years 2000, 2001, 2003 and 2004. On these dates grants were made to the majority of the Company’s employees
as a part of the annual “refresh” or “evergreen” stock option granting process. In each case, it was found that the Company
had treated option grants to multiple employees as effective prior to the date upon which it had determined the exact
number of options that would be granted to each individual employee. Because changes were made to the listing of
employees receiving grants, the measurement date for the awards should have been delayed until the listing of awards
was determined and approved with finality. To determine the corrected measurement date the Company used the date
of the final internal email approval that reconciled to the actual option grants recorded, or if such emails did not
reconcile, or if additional changes were made to the allocation of options to recipients, the Company used the date our
third party stock option service provider entered the data into the stock option database. As such, judgment was
necessary to determine the date the listing was determined with finality. It is estimated that the range between the high
and low of such accounting estimates is approximately $0.5 million (unaudited) for these items.
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Approximately 10% of the errors (aggregating approximately $0.9 million before considering the impact of employee
terminations and forfeitures) relate to activity on 20 different dates. In these instances, the date on the written
documentation supporting the option grants was inconsistent with the measurement dates initially recorded by the
Company. During fiscal periods 2000 through 2006, the Board of Directors had delegated the authority to approve
certain stock option grants to non-executive officers to the CEO of the Company. The method of documenting such
activity routinely resulted in documents being signed or approved via email after the indicated dates of the grants.
Because the terms of these stock options either were not known or were subject to change by those empowered to
approve the grants, the correct measurement date for the awards was the date the written or electronic documentation
was completed. To determine the corrected measurement dates, the Company used the dates of Board meetings, the
dates that unanimous written consents were returned or approved, or the date that the appropriate email approvals
were obtained from the CEO. Because these dates are not subject to judgment, no significant estimates were necessary
for these items.

Approximately 7% of the errors (aggregating approximately $0.6 million before considering the impact of employee
terminations and forfeitures) relate to activity on 23 different dates. In these cases the underlying differences relate to
the definition of fair market value as defined under the stock option plans of the Company. For example, the 1999
Equity Incentive
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Plan defined fair market value as the closing price of Chordiant’s stock on the day prior to the date of grant. These
errors relate to the inconsistent use of the “day of” price versus the “day prior” price used to determine the exercise price
of the options as stipulated by the plan documents. To determine the corrected measurement dates, the Company
applied the appropriate definitions as stipulated in the underlying plan documents. As such, no accounting estimates
were required for these items.

Approximately 7% of the errors (aggregating approximately $0.6 million before considering the impact of employee
terminations and forfeitures) relate to three grants awarded to members of senior management. In two of these
instances, the underlying compensation plans were in the process of being negotiated over periods spanning several
weeks. The measurement date initially recorded by the Company was a date at, or near, the beginning of the
negotiation process. Because the stock options were a part of the respective compensation package, the measurement
date for the awards should have been delayed until the respective compensation agreements were determined and
approved with finality. In the third instance, the grant was not ratified by the Board of Directors until a later date than
the date initially recorded as the measurement date. To determine the corrected measurement dates, the Company used
documents that evidenced the appropriate level of review, or if not available, the date our third party stock option
service provider entered the data into the stock option database. As such, judgment was necessary to determine the
date these grants were approved with finality. It is estimated that the range between the high and low of such
accounting estimates is less than $0.1 million (unaudited) for these items.

The remainder of the errors (aggregating approximately $1.1 million before considering the impact of employee
terminations and forfeitures) included the inconsistent treatment of option dating for newly hired employees, the
finalization and documentation of discretionary awards, options granted to non-employee consultants not being
expensed, and new hires being placed on a leave of absence at the hire date. The types of estimates necessary to arrive
at the corrected measurement dates were similar to those noted above.

As a result of the above errors and adjustments, we have restated our financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the nine-month period ended September 30, 2004, the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2005, and the quarters ended December 31, 2005 and March 31, 2006.

The expenses arising from the investigation, the restatement and related activities are recorded in the periods incurred.
The aggregate cost of external legal, accounting and auditing costs incurred through September 30, 2006 was
approximately $1.2 million and at December 31, 2006 the cumulative costs were estimated to be $2.2 million.

The impact of the restatement on the consolidated statements of operations is $0.2 million for 2006 and thereafter. For
other periods the impact is as follows (in thousands):

Total
effect at

September
30,

2005

Year ended
September

30,
2005

Nine
months
ended

September
30,

2004

Total effect
at

December
31,

2003
Net loss, as previously reported $ (19,540) $ (443)
Additional compensation expense
resulting from improper measurement
dates for stock option grants $ (7,652) (187) (761) (6,704)
Payroll tax related effects (401) (138) (167) (96)
Total increase to net loss $ (8,053) (325) (928) $ (6,800)
Net loss, as restated $ (19,865) $ (1,371)
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Year ended
December
31, 2003

Year ended
December

31,
2002

Year ended
December

31,
2001

Year ended
December

31,
2000

Additional compensation expense
resulting from improper measurement
dates for stock option grants $ (1,433) $ (2,715) $ (2,082) $ (474)
Payroll tax related effects (96) — — —
Total increase to net loss $ (1,529) $ (2,715) $ (2,082) $ (474)
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The following table presents the effects of the stock-based compensation and related payroll tax adjustments made to
the Company’s previously reported consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2005 (in thousands, except share
amounts):

September 30, 2005
As

Previously
Reported Adjustments Restated

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 38,546 $ — $ 38,546
Restricted cash 1,982 — 1,982
Accounts receivable 18,979 — 18,979
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,345 — 4,345
Total current assets 63,852 — 63,852
Restricted cash 365 — 365
Property and equipment, net 2,479 — 2,479
Goodwill 31,907 — 31,907
Intangible assets, net 5,148 — 5,148
Other assets 3,499 — 3,499
Total assets $ 107,250 $ — $ 107,250

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’
EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,554 $ — $ 4,554
Accrued expenses 8,902 400 9,302
Deferred revenue 26,050 — 26,050
Current portion of capital lease obligations 213 — 213
Total current liabilities 39,719 400 40,119
Deferred revenue—long-term 147 — 147
Restructuring costs, net of current portion 1,731 — 1,731
Other long-term liabilities 96 — 96
Total liabilities 41,693 400 42,093

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 51,000
shares authorized; none issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2005 — — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 300,000
shares authorized; 78,488 and outstanding at
September 30, 2005 78 — 78
Additional paid-in capital and deferred
compensation 273,824 7,825 281,649
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Deferred stock-based compensation (1,940) (172) (2,112)
Accumulated deficit (208,889) (8,053) (216,942)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,484 — 2,484
Total stockholders’ equity 65,557 (400) 65,157
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 107,250 $ — $ 107,250
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The following table presents the effects of the stock-based compensation and related payroll tax adjustments made to
the Company’s previously reported consolidated statement of operations for the year ended September 30, 2005 and
the nine months ended September 30, 2004 (in thousands, except share amounts):

Year Ended September 30, 2005 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004
As

Previously
Reported Adjustments Restated

As
Previously
Reported Adjustments Restated

Revenues:
License $ 31,678 $ — $ 31,678 $ 23,661 $ — $ 23,661
Service 52,047 — 52,047 37,362 — 37,362
Total revenues 83,725 — 83,725 61,023 — 61,023
Cost of revenues:
License 1,079 — 1,079 1,262 — 1,262
Service 30,071 84 30,155 21,435 195 21,630
Amortization of
intangible assets 1,068 — 1,068 1,044 — 1,044
Total cost of
revenues 32,218 84 32,302 23,741 195 23,936
Gross profit 51,507 (84) 51,423 37,282 (195) 37,087
Operating
expenses:
Sales and
marketing 29,463 98 29,561 17,724 101 17,825
Research and
development 20,202 70 20,272 13,149 11 13,160
General and
administrative 18,476 73 18,549 6,478 621 7,099
Amortization of
intangible assets 117 — 117 126 — 126
Restructuring
expense 1,052 — 1,052 172 — 172
Purchased
in-process research
and development 1,940 — 1,940 — — —
Total operating
expenses 71,250 241 71,491 37,649 733 38,382
Loss from
operations (19,743) (325) (20,068) (367) (928) (1,295)
Interest income, net 755 — 755 498 — 498
Other expense, net (103) — (103) (132) — (132)
Net loss before
income taxes (19,091) (325) (19,416) (1) (928) (929)
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Provision for
income taxes 449 — 449 442 — 442
Net loss $ (19,540) $ (325) $ (19,865) $ (443) $ (928) $ (1,371)

Net loss per
share— basic and
diluted $ (0.26) $ (0.01) $ (0.27) $ (0.01) $ (.01) $ (0.02)
Weighted average
shares used in
computing basic
and diluted loss per
share 74,449 — 74,449 69,761 — 69,761
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The restatement did not impact our net cash flows from operating, investing, or financing activities. However, certain
items within net cash provided by operating activities were affected by the restatement adjustments. The following
table presents the effects of the stock-based compensation and related payroll tax adjustments made to the Company’s
previously reported consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended September 30, 2005 and nine months
ended September 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Year Ended September 30, 2005 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004
As

Previously
Reported Adjustments Restated

As
Previously
Reported Adjustments Restated

Cash flows from
operating activities:
Net loss $ (19,540) $ (325) $ (19,865) $ (443) $ (928) $ (1,371)
Adjustments to
reconcile net loss to
net cash used in
operating activities:
Depreciation and
amortization 1,382 — 1,382 1,199 — 1,199
Purchased
in-process research
and development 1,940 — 1,940 — — —
Amortization of
intangibles and
capitalized software 1,335 — 1,335 1,170 — 1,170
Non-cash
stock-based
compensation
expense (benefit) 2,844 187 3,031 (681) 761 80
Provision for
doubtful accounts 103 — 103 22 — 22
Warrants issued to
customers (12) — (12) (46) — (46)
Loss on disposal of
assets 27 — 27 — — —
Other non-cash
charges 29 29 21 21
Changes in assets
and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 1,479 — 1,479 (8,137) — (8,137)
Prepaid expenses
and other current
assets (988)

—

(988) (378)

—

(378)
Other assets 250 — 250 (393) — (393)
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Accounts payable (3,893) — (3,893) 2,456 — 2,456
Accrued expenses 605 138 743 (1,311) 167 (1,144)
Deferred revenue 5,489 — 5,489 2,088 — 2,088
Net cash used in
operating activities (8,950) — (8,950) (4,433) — (4,433)
Cash flows from
investing activities:
Property and
equipment
purchases (726)

—

(726) (804)

—

(804)
Capitalized product
development costs (2,226)

—
(2,226) —

—
—

Cash used for
acquisitions, net (9,800)

—
(9,800) —

—
—

Proceeds from
release of restricted
cash (12)

—

(12) (9)

—

(9)
Purchases of
marketable
securities available
for sale and
short-term
investments (100) — (100) (4,000) — (4,000)
Proceeds from
maturities of
short-term
investments 4,100

—

4,100 —

—

—
Net cash used for
investing activities (8,764)

—
(8,764) (4,813)

—
(4,813)

Cash flows from
financing activities:

— —

Proceeds from
issuance of common
stock, net —

—

— 24,814

—

24,814
Proceeds from
exercise of stock
options 1,210

—

1,210 2,415

—

2,415
Proceeds from
issuance of common
stock for Employee
Stock Purchase Plan — — — 1,548 — 1,548
Payment on capital
leases (199)

—
(199) (40)

—
(40)

Net cash provided
by financing
activities 1,011

—

1,011 28,737

—

28,737
Effect of exchange
rate changes (499)

—
(499) 39

—
39

Net increase
(decrease) in cash
and cash

(17,202) — (17,202) 19,530 — 19,530
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equivalents
Cash and cash
equivalents at
beginning of period 55,748

—

55,748 36,218

—

36,218
Cash and cash
equivalents at end
of period $ 38,546

$
—

$ 38,546 $ 55,748 $

—

$ 55,748

Supplemental cash
flow information:
Cash paid for
interest $ 29 $

—
$ 29 $ 6 $

—
$ 6

Cash paid for taxes $ 478 $
—

$ 478 $ 195 $
—

$ 195

Supplemental
non-cash investing
and financing
activities:
Compensation
expense (benefit)
relating to issuance
of common stock to
employees $ 2,844

$

187 $ 3,031 $ (681) $ 761 $ 80
Receivable related
to issuance of stock
options $ 302 $

—

$ 302 $ — $

—

$ —
Fair value of assets
acquired in
acquisition,
excluding acquired
intangible assets $ 1,134 $

—

$ 1,134 $ — $

—

$ —
Liabilities assumed
in acquisitions $ 477 $

—
$ 477 $ — $

—
$ —

Issuance of
common stock in
connection with
acquisition $ 9,307 $

—

$ 9,307 $ — $

—

$ —
Purchase of assets
under capital lease
obligations $ — $

—

$ —$ 549 $

—

$ 549
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NOTE 4—RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In December 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Staff Position (FSP) EITF 00-19-2,
“Accounting for Registration Payment Arrangements.” This FSP specifies that the contingent obligation to make future
payments or otherwise transfer consideration under a registration payment arrangement, whether issued as a separate
agreement or included as a provision of a financial instrument or other agreement, should be separately recognized
and measured in accordance with FASB Statement No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” The guidance is effective for
fiscal years beginning December 15, 2006. The Company has evaluated the new pronouncement and has determined
that it will not have a significant impact on the determination or reporting of our financial results.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides
guidance on how the effects of the carryover or reversal of prior year misstatements should be considered in
quantifying a current year misstatement. The guidance is applicable for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006.
The Company has evaluated the new statement and has determined that it will not have a significant impact on the
determination or reporting of our financial results.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 157, (“SFAS 157”) “Fair
Value Measurement.” SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and also expands
disclosures about fair value measurements. The SFAS 157 is effective for periods beginning after November 15, 2007.
The Company is currently evaluating the effects of implementing this new standard.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, (“SFAS 158”) “Employer’s Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension
and Other Postretirement Plans-an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132R.” SFAS 158 requires an
entity to recognize in its statement of financial position an asset for a defined benefit postretirement plan’s over funded
status or a liability for a plan’s under funded status. The requirement to recognize the funded status of a defined
postretirement plan and the disclosure requirements are effective for fiscal years ending after December 31, 2006. The
Company has evaluated the new statement and has determined that it will not have a significant impact on the
determination or reporting of our financial results.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (FIN 48), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions.
This Interpretation requires that the Company recognize in its financial statements the impact of a tax position based
on the technical merits of the position. This interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2006, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained
earnings; accordingly, the Company expects to adopt this standard in its fiscal year commencing October 1, 2007. The
Company is currently evaluating the effects of implementing this new standard.

In March 2006, the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force issued Issue 06-3 (EITF 06-3), “How Sales Taxes Collected
From Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement.” A
tentative consensus was reached that a company should disclose its accounting policy (i.e., gross or net presentation)
regarding presentation of taxes within the scope of EITF 06-3. If taxes are significant, a company should disclose the
amount of such taxes for each period for which an income statement is presented. The guidance is effective for periods
beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company presents sales net of sales taxes in its consolidated statement of
operations and does not anticipate changing its policy as a result of EITF 06-3.
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In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, “Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets - an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 140”, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2006. This statement was
issued to simplify the accounting for servicing rights and to reduce the volatility that results from using different
measurement attributes. The Company has evaluated the new statement and has determined that it will not have a
significant impact on the determination or reporting of our financial results.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments - an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140”, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15,
2006. The statement was issued to clarify the application of FASB Statement No. 133 to beneficial interests in
securitized financial assets and to improve the consistency of accounting for similar financial instruments, regardless
of the form of the instruments. The Company has evaluated the new statement and has determined that it will not have
a significant impact on the determination or reporting of our financial results.
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In November 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS123(R)-3, “Transition Election to Accounting for the Tax Effects of
Share-Based Payment Awards.” This FSP requires an entity to follow either the transition guidance for the
additional-paid-in-capital pool as prescribed in SFAS No. 123(R), or the alternative transition method as described in
the FSP. An entity that adopts SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective application may make a one-time
election to adopt the transition method described in this FSP. An entity may take up to one year from the later of its
initial adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) or the effective date of this FSP to evaluate its available transition alternatives
and make its one-time election. This FSP became effective in November 2005. The Company has elected the
alternative transition method as described in the FSP.

In November 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS115-1/124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and
Its Application to Certain Investments,” which addresses the determination as to when an investment is considered
impaired, whether that impairment is other than temporary, and the measurement of an impairment loss. This FSP also
includes accounting considerations subsequent to the recognition of an other-than-temporary impairment and requires
certain disclosures about unrealized losses that have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impairments. The
guidance in this FSP amends FASB Statements No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities,” and No. 124, “Accounting for Certain Investments Held by Not-for-Profit Organizations,” and APB Opinion
No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock.” The Company has evaluated the new
statement and have determined that it will not have a significant impact on the determination or reporting of our
financial results.

In June 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154 (“SFAS 154”), “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement
of APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and Statement No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim
Financial Statements.” SFAS 154 changes the requirements for the accounting for, and reporting of, a change in
accounting principle. Previously, most voluntary changes in accounting principles were required to be recognized by
way of a cumulative effect adjustment within net income during the period of the change. SFAS 154 requires
retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is impracticable to determine either the
period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes made in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005; however, the Statement does not change the transition provisions of
any existing accounting pronouncements. The Company does not believe adoption of SFAS 154 will have a material
effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No. 47 (“FIN 47”), “Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143.” FIN 47 requires asset retirement obligations to
be recorded when a legal obligation exists even though the timing and/or method of the settlement of such obligations
is conditional on a future event. FIN 47 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company
has evaluated the new statement and has determined that it will not have a significant impact on the determination or
reporting of our financial results.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. FSP 109-2 (“FSP 109-2”), “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the
Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creations Act of 2004.” FSP 109-2 provides
guidance under FASB Statement No. 109 (“SFAS 109”), “Accounting for Income Taxes,” with respect to recording the
potential impact of the repatriation provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Jobs Act”) on enterprises’
income tax expense and deferred tax liability. The Jobs Act was enacted on October 22, 2004. FSP 109-2 states that an
enterprise is allowed time beyond the financial reporting period of enactment to evaluate the effect of the Jobs Act on
its plan for reinvestment or repatriation of foreign earnings for purposes of applying SFAS 109. FSP 109-2 is effective
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determined that it will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 5—ACQUISITIONS

Acquisition of KiQ

On December 21, 2004, we acquired KiQ Limited, a privately held United Kingdom software company with a branch
office in the Netherlands (“KiQ”). KiQ specializes in the development and sale of decision management systems. The
aggregate purchase price was approximately $20.0 million, which was comprised of $9.8 million in cash, 4,352,084
shares of our common stock valued at $9.3 million and approximately $0.9 million in associated transaction costs.
Through this transaction we acquired decision management system products and technology. The investment value of
this synergy related to its product offerings contributed to a purchase price that was in excess of the fair value of the
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed, which resulted in the recognition of goodwill. The acquisition has been
accounted for as a business combination. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their fair values as
of December 21, 2004.

The table below summarizes the total purchase price for the acquisition (in thousands, except share and per share
data):

Acquisition date
December 21,

2004

Shares issued 4,352,084
Average per share value used to value the share consideration  $ 2.17
Purchase price:
Value of shares issued  $ 9,444
Cash in consideration of cancelled options 1,049
Cash 8,604
Direct acquisition costs 885
Total purchase price $ 19,982

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the direct acquisition costs were adjusted by less than $0.1 million.
During the year ended September 30, 2006, we adjusted goodwill by $0.1 million to properly value the share
consideration. This adjustment has been reflected in the total purchase price as of September 30, 2006. For reporting
purposes, the value of 2,387,805 shares issued was determined based on the weighted average value of our stock’s
market price, two days before, the day of, and two days after the date the terms of the acquisition were agreed upon
and announced. The value of the remaining 1,964,279 shares issued to the principal sellers of KiQ was determined
using the closing price of the day prior to the closing of the acquisition which is consistent with the method the
Company used for other stock-based compensation awards.

The total purchase price has been allocated to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as follows (in
thousands):

Fair value of tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed
(net) $ 657
In-process research and development 1,940
Deferred compensation 4,123
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Developed technology 4,530
Customer list 1,150
Tradename 410
Goodwill 7,172
Total purchase price $ 19,982

Assets acquired principally include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, fixed assets and other assets.
Liabilities assumed principally include accounts payable and accrued expenses. The excess of the purchase price over
the identified tangible
and intangible assets was recorded as goodwill and amounted to approximately $7.0 million. In accordance with
SFAS 142 the goodwill will not be amortized but instead tested for impairment in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 142 at least annually and more frequently upon the occurrence of certain events. For income tax purposes, the
Company does not believe the goodwill balances will be deductible.

86

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

162



Table of Contents

CHORDIANT SOFTWARE, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continued)

The value of the purchased in-process research and development was determined by estimating the projected net cash
flows related to products under development, based upon our estimates of costs to complete the development of the
technology, and the future revenue to be earned upon commercialization of the related products. The estimated stage
of completion (expressed as a percentage of completion) was calculated and then applied to the net cash flow for these
products. A discount rate of 25% was then applied to the projected cash flows associated with the in-process research
and development to determine the net present value. KiQ’s in-process research and development efforts consisted of
developing a new product module based on an improved architecture to allow for more power, functionality,
improved performance, as well as enhancing the product’s scalability and increasing automation to existing modules.
Also included were development efforts to complete a new user interface and various optimized data preparation
projects. The estimated state of completion for all projects was approximately 80%. In accordance with application of
SFAS 141, the value attributed to in-process research and development was charged to expense in the period we
completed the acquisition.

The two principals of KiQ, in addition to other employees of KiQ, have remained our employees. We issued
1,964,279 shares of our common stock to the two principal sellers, which we are allowed to buy back from them at a
price of $.001 per share if their employment is terminated under certain circumstances. Our right to repurchase these
shares diminishes on a monthly basis in accordance with a 30 month vesting schedule which began on the acquisition
date. We are recognizing approximately $4.1 million deferred compensation as stock-based compensation expense
over the period of the vesting schedule. As of September 30, 2006, the unamortized balance of deferred stock-based
compensation was approximately $0.2 million.

The value of the developed technology was determined by estimating the projected net cash flows related to products
which are or anticipated to be commercialized based on this technology, less any estimated cost to complete
commercialization. A discount rate of 20% was then applied to the projected cash flows associated with the
developed, core technology to determine the net present value. We are amortizing the intangible asset related to the
developed, core technology over a period of five years. The value of the customer list was determined by estimating
the projected net cash flows associated with existing customers and applying estimated attrition rates for these
customers of from 5% to 95% over future periods. A discount rate of 22.5% was then applied to the projected cash
flows associated with the customer relationships to determine the net present value. The value of the trade-name was
determined by estimating what the projected net cash flows associated with royalties derived from licensing KiQ’s
trade name would be over future periods if a third party were using the name. A discount rate of 22.5% was then
applied to the projected cash flows associated with the trade-name to determine the net present value. We are
amortizing the intangible assets related to the customer list and tradename over a period of five years.

The operating results of KiQ have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the acquisition date.
The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information reflects the results of operations for
the year ended September 30, 2005 and nine months ended September 30, 2004 as if the acquisition of KiQ had
occurred on October 1, 2003, after giving effect to purchase accounting adjustments. The purchased in-process
research and development expense of $1.9 million has not been included in the pro forma results of operations for the
year ended September 30, 2005 because it is considered a non-recurring charge. These pro forma results have been
prepared for comparative purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of what operating results would have been
had the acquisition actually taken place at the beginning of each period, and may not be indicative of future operating
results (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended Nine Months
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September 30,
2005

Ended
September 30,

2004
Restated (1) Restated (1)

(Unaudited)
Pro forma adjusted total revenue $ 84,619 $ 64,159
Pro forma adjusted net loss $ (18,408) $ (2,342)
Pro forma adjusted net loss per share—basic and diluted $ (0.24) $ (0.03)
Pro forma weighted average shares—basic and diluted 75,154 74,113

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments.
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NOTE 6—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

On January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS 142, which requires goodwill to be tested for impairment under certain
circumstances and adjusted when impaired. It also requires purchased intangible assets other than goodwill to be
amortized over their useful lives unless these lives are determined to be indefinite. We ceased amortizing goodwill
totaling approximately $20.7 million as of the beginning of fiscal 2002.

For the year ended September 30, 2006, we adjusted goodwill by $0.1 million to properly value the share
consideration for the year ended September 30, 2006. Our purchase of KiQ in December 2004 increased our goodwill
by $7.2 million to $32.0 million at September 30, 2005. During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Company
reduced its goodwill by $0.1 million related to direct acquisition costs and working capital adjustments.

The components of intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are as follows (in thousands):

September 30, 2006 September 30, 2005
Gross

Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Intangible assets:
Developed technologies $ 6,904 $ (3,972) $ 2,932 $ 6,904 $ (3,075) $ 3,829
Purchased technologies 7,162 (7,162) — 7,162 (7,162) —
Customer list and
trade-names 2,732 (1,727) 1,005 2,732 (1,413) 1,319

$ 16,798 $ (12,861) $ 3,937 $ 16,798 $ (11,650) $ 5,148

All of our acquired intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are subject to amortization and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed over their estimated useful lives which are as follows:
Developed technologies—one and one half to five years; purchased technologies—three years; trade-names—three to five
years; customer list—three to five years. Aggregate amortization expense for intangible assets totaled $1.2 million, $1.2
million, and $1.2 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 and the nine months ended September 30,
2004. We expect amortization expense on acquired intangible assets to be $1.2 million in fiscal 2007, $1.2 million in
fiscal 2008, $1.2 million in fiscal 2009, $0.3 million in fiscal 2010.
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NOTE 7—RESTRUCTURING

Restructuring Costs

Through September 30, 2005, the Company has approved certain restructuring plans to, among other things, reduce its
workforce and consolidate facilities. Restructuring and asset impairment charges have been taken to align our cost
structure with changing market conditions and to create a more efficient organization. Our restructuring charges have
been comprised primarily of: (i) severance and benefit termination costs related to the reductions in workforce; and
(ii) lease termination costs and costs associated with permanently vacating certain facilities. We account for each of
these costs in accordance with SFAS No. 146 (“SFAS 146”), “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities,” or previous guidance under EITF 94-3.

Retroactive application of SFAS 146 to periods prior to January 1, 2003 was prohibited and, accordingly, the accrual
relating to facilities approved under a plan prior to the effective date of SFAS 146 continues to be accounted for in
accordance with the guidance of EITF 94-3. The accrual for such facilities does not reflect any adjustments relating to
the estimated net present value of cash flows associated with the facilities.

For each of the periods presented herein, restructuring charges consist solely of:

• Severance and Termination Benefits—These costs represent severance and payroll taxes related to restructuring plans.

• Excess Facilities—These costs represent future minimum lease payments related to excess and abandoned space under
lease, net of estimated sublease income.

As of September 30, 2006, the total restructuring accrual of $1.9 million consisted of the following (in thousands):

Current Non-Current Total
Severance and Termination $ 32 $ —$ 32
Excess Facilities 623 1,239 1,862
Total $ 655 $ 1,239 $ 1,894

As of September 30, 2006 and 2005, $0.7 million and $1.2 million related to the restructuring reserve are included in
the accrued expenses line item on the balance sheet, respectively. The allocation between current portion and long
term portion is based on current lease agreements expiring in 2011. Attempts to exit the facilities earlier than 2011
have not proven to be economically feasible; therefore, as of September 30, 2006, those net lease payments due in
more than one year, previously classified as current liabilities, have been reclassified to long term liabilities.

Included in the facilities reserve is a note payable associated with the buyout of an office lease located in New York
City. The amount of the note payable is $0.2 million and it is payable through quarterly installments through June
2011. We expect to pay the excess facilities amounts related to restructured or abandoned leased space net of
estimated sublease income as follows (in thousands):

Total future
minimum
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payments, net
Fiscal Year Ended September 30:
2007 $ 623
2008 359
2009 365
2010 372
2011 143
Total $ 1,862
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Year Ended September 30, 2005 Restructuring

In May 2005, the Company appointed a task force to improve profitability and control expenses. The goal of the task
force was to create a better alignment of functions within the Company, to make full utilization of the Company’s India
development center, to develop a closer relationship between the Company’s field operations and customers, to review
the sales and implementation models, as well adjust as the organization model to flatten management levels, to review
the Company’s product line, and to enhance the Company’s business model for profitability and operating leverage.
This work resulted in an approximate 10% reduction in the Company’s workforce, and in July 2005 affected
employees were notified. In connection with this action, the Company incurred a one-time restructuring charge of $1.1
million in the fourth quarter ended September 30, 2005 for severance and termination benefits.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the September 30, 2005 restructuring plan (in thousands):

Severance
and Termination

Benefits
Reserve balance at September 30, 2004 $ —
Total charge 1,149
Cash paid (680)
Reserve balance at September 30, 2005 $ 469
Non-Cash 1
Cash paid (438)
Reserve balance at September 30, 2006 $ 32

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004 and Prior Restructurings

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we announced plans to reallocate staff between our North
American and European operations in order to better support our growth in North America. As part of this
restructuring plan, we recorded a workforce reduction expense of $0.2 million relating to severance and benefits.

Prior to fiscal year 2004, based upon our continued evaluation of economic conditions in the information technology
industry and our expectations regarding revenue levels, we restructured several areas of the Company to reduce
expenses and improve our revenue per employee. These restructuring programs included a worldwide workforce
reduction, and consolidation of excess facilities and certain business functions. We believe that these reductions and
realignments have resulted and will continue
to result in a more responsive management structure. As part of these restructuring programs, we recorded workforce
reduction expenses relating to severance and benefits of approximately $2.0 million and $3.8 million for years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In addition to these costs, we accrued lease costs related to excess
facilities of $0.2 million and $2.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 respectively, pertaining
to the consolidation of excess facilities associated with lease terminations and non-cancelable lease costs. This
expense is net of estimated sub-lease income based on current comparable rates for leases in the respective markets. If
facilities rental rates decrease in these markets or if it takes longer than expected to sublease these facilities, the
maximum amount by which the actual loss could exceed the original estimate is approximately $1.2 million.
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Facilities

Severance
and Termination

Benefits Total
Reserve balance at September 30, 2004 $ 2,781 $ 587 $ 3,368
Provision adjustment (1) — (96) (96) 
Non-cash — 6 6
Cash paid (284) (497) (781) 
Reserve balance at September 30,
2005  $ 2,497 $ — $ 2,497
Non-cash (298) — (298)
Cash paid (337) — (337)
Reserve balance at September 30, 2006 $ 1,862 $ — $ 1,862

(1)  Provision adjustments relate to changes in estimates.

Ness Technologies

As part of the fiscal year 2003 restructuring, we entered into an agreement with Ness Technologies Inc., Ness Global
Services, Inc. and Ness Technologies India, Ltd. (collectively, “Ness”), effective December 15, 2003, pursuant to which
Ness will provide our customers with technical product support through a worldwide help desk facility, a sustaining
engineering function that serves as the interface between technical product support and our internal engineering
organization, product testing services and product development services (collectively, the “Services”). The agreement
had an initial term of three years. Chordiant and Ness have agreed to extend the agreement until December 14, 2007.
Under the terms of the agreement, we pay for services rendered on a monthly fee basis, including the requirement to
reimburse Ness for approved out-of-pocket expenses. The agreement may be terminated for convenience by the
Company, subject to the payment of a termination fee. The maximum termination fee was initially equal to three
months of certain fees, declining to zero after 30 months. On June 16, 2004, March 15, 2005, January 30, 2006, and
May 30, 2006, the Company further expanded its agreement with Ness whereby Ness is providing certain additional
technical and consulting services. The additional agreements can be cancelled at the option of the Company without
the payment of a termination fee. The remaining minimum purchase commitments under these agreements, if
Chordiant was to cancel the contracts, were approximately $1.2 million at September 30, 2006. In addition to service
agreements, we have also guaranteed certain equipment lease obligations of Ness (See Notes 9 and 10).

NOTE 8—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In August 2005, the Company entered into a service provider agreement with Infogain. Samuel T. Spadafora, one of
our former directors and executive officers, is a director of Infogain. Mr. Spadafora terminated his relationship with
the Company in November 2006. Pursuant to the service provider agreement, revenue from Infogain was $0.4 million
and less than $0.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Cost of goods for services
provided to Infogain was $.7 million and zero for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 respectively.
Accounts receivable was less than $0.1 million and less than $0.1 million as of September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Payments and corresponding accounts payable to Infogain were $1.1 million and less than $0.1 million
for years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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In January 2005, Charles E. Hoffman became a director of the Company. Mr. Hoffman is the President and Chief
Executive Officer of Covad Communications Group, Inc. (“Covad”), a customer of ours. Pursuant to a software license
and services agreement, revenue from Covad was $0.2 million and $1.1 million for the years ended September 30,
2006 and 2005, respectively. Accounts receivable was $0.1 million and approximately zero as of September 30, 2006
and 2005, respectively. Deferred revenue was $0.1 million and $0.1 million as of September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

In January 2005, David A. Weymouth became a director of the Company. Through June 2005 Mr. Weymouth was the
Corporate Responsibility Director of Barclay’s Group, a customer of ours. Pursuant to software license agreements,
software maintenance agreements, and professional services agreements, revenue from Barclay’s Group was
approximately $7.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. Accounts receivable was $0.3 million as of
September 30, 2005. Deferred revenue as of September 30, 2005 was $0.3 million as of September 30, 2005.

Mr. Weymouth terminated his relationship with Barclay’s Group and became an associate with Deloitte & Touche
LLP, a prior provider of tax services to the Company. Payments made to Deloitte and Touche LLP, were $0.1 million
and $0.6 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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NOTE 9—BORROWINGS

Our revolving line of credit with Comerica Bank was amended and restated on March 8, 2006 and was extended to
March 7, 2008. The terms of the agreement include a $5.0 million line of credit and require us to maintain (i) at least a
$5.0 million cash balance in Comerica Bank accounts, (ii) a minimum quick ratio of 2.00 to 1.00, and (iii) 
subordinate any debt issuances subsequent to the effective date of the agreement, and certain other covenants. All
assets of the Company have been pledged as collateral on the credit facility. The Company failed to timely file its
periodic report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2006 and on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2006. The line of credit agreement was amended in August 2006, November 2006, and December 2006 to extend the
deadline related to the filing of its periodic reports to February 20, 2007.

The revolving line of credit contains a provision for a sub-limit of up to $5.0 million for issuances of standby
commercial letters of credit. As of September 30, 2006, we had utilized $1.2 million of the standby commercial letter
of credit limit of which $0.7 million serves as collateral for computer equipment leases for Ness (see Notes 7 and 10).
The revolving line of credit also contains a provision for a sub-limit of up to $3.0 million for issuances of foreign
exchange forward contracts. As of September 30, 2006, we had not entered into any foreign exchange forward
contracts. Pursuant to the amendment in March 2006, we are required to secure our standby commercial letters of
credit and foreign exchange forward contracts as of March 7, 2008. If these have not been secured to Comerica Bank’s
satisfaction, our cash and cash equivalent balances held by Comerica Bank automatically secure such obligations to
the extent of the then continuing or outstanding and undrawn letters of credit or foreign exchange contracts.

Borrowings under the revolving line of credit bear interest at the lending bank’s prime rate. Except for the standby
commercial letters of credit, as of September 30, 2006, there was no outstanding balance on our revolving line of
credit.

Prior to the March 2006 amendment, advances were available on a non-formula basis up to $2.0 million (non-formula
portion); however, if advances exceeded $2.0 million, then subsequent advances could not exceed 80% of eligible
accounts receivable balances, and the bank would hold a security interest in those accounts receivable. As of March
2006, advances are available on a non-formula basis up to $5.0 million.

NOTE 10—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We lease our facilities and some equipment under non-cancelable operating leases that expire on various dates through
July 2013. Rent expense is recognized on a straight line basis over the lease term. In addition, the Company has
entered into non-cancelable capital leases having expiration dates through 2007. Future minimum lease payments as
of September 30, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

Capital
Leases

Operating
Leases

Fiscal Year Ended September 30:
2007 $ 97 $ 3,712
2008 — 3,318
2009 — 2,582
2010 — 2,009
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2011 — 1,068
Thereafter — 1,208
Total minimum payments $ 97 $ 13,897
Less: amount representing interest (2)
Present value of minimum lease payments 95
Less: current portion of capital lease
obligations (95)
Capital lease obligations, non-current $ —

Operating lease payments in the table above include approximately $3.1 million for operating lease commitments for
facilities that are included in restructuring charges. As of September 30, 2006, the Company does not have any
sublease income contractually committed for future periods relating to facilities under operating leases. See Note 7,
Restructuring Charges, for a further discussion.
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Rent expense for the year ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 and the nine months ended September 30, 2004 totaled
$2.5 million, $2.7 million, and $1.9 million, respectively. Certain operating leases included in the table above are part
of our restructuring activities and lease payments on such leases are charged against the restructuring accrual.

In conjunction with our agreement with Ness (see Notes 7 and 9), Ness may procure equipment to be used in
performance of the certain services, either through leasing arrangements or direct cash purchases, for which we are
obligated under the agreement to reimburse them. In connection with the procurement of equipment, Ness has entered
into a 36 month equipment lease agreement with IBM India and, in connection with the lease agreement we have
issued a standby letter of credit in the amount of $0.7 million in guarantee of Ness’ financial commitments under the
lease. Over the term of the lease, our obligation to reimburse Ness is approximately equal to the amount of the
guarantee.

We have evaluated the obligation under the standby letter of credit and, pursuant to the requirements as set forth under
FASB Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” a less than $0.1 million and a $0.1 million liability equal to the estimated fair
value of the guarantee was recorded at September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Indemnification

As permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers, directors and certain
employees for certain events or occurrences while the employee, officer or director is, or was serving, at our request in
such capacity. The term of the indemnification period is for the officer’s or director’s lifetime. The maximum potential
amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited;
however, we have a Director and Officer insurance policy that limits our exposure and may enable us to recover a
portion of any future amounts paid. Future payments may be required to defend current and former directors in the
derivative class action lawsuits described in Note 11. As a
result of our insurance policy coverage, we believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is
minimal. Accordingly, we have no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of September 30, 2006.

We enter into standard indemnification agreements in our ordinary course of business. Pursuant to these agreements,
we agree to indemnify, defend, hold harmless, and to reimburse the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred
by the indemnified party, generally our business partners or customers, in connection with any patent, copyright or
other intellectual property infringement claim by any third party with respect to our products. The term of these
indemnification agreements is generally perpetual after execution of the agreement. The maximum potential amount
of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited. We have not
incurred significant costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements. We believe
the estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal. Accordingly, we have no liabilities recorded for these
agreements as of September 30, 2006.

We enter into arrangements with our business partners, whereby the business partners agree to provide services as
subcontractors for our implementations. We may, at our discretion and in the ordinary course of business, subcontract
the performance of any of our services. Accordingly, we enter into standard indemnification agreements with our
customers, whereby we indemnify them for other acts, such as personal property damage by our subcontractors. The
maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements
is unlimited; however, we have general and umbrella insurance policies that may enable us to recover a portion of any
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amounts paid. We have not incurred significant costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these
indemnification agreements. As a result, we believe the estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal.
Accordingly, we have no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of September 30, 2006.

When, as part of an acquisition, we acquire all of the stock or all of the assets and liabilities of a company, we may
assume the liability for certain events or occurrences that took place prior to the date of acquisition. The maximum
potential amount of future payments, if any, we could be required to make for such obligations is undeterminable at
this time. Accordingly, we have no amounts recorded for these contingent liabilities as of September 30, 2006.

We warrant that our software products will perform in all material respects in accordance with our standard published
specifications and documentation in effect at the time of delivery of the licensed products to the customer for a
specified period of time. Additionally, we warrant that our maintenance and consulting services will be performed
consistently with generally accepted industry standards. If necessary, we would provide for the estimated cost of
product and service warranties based on specific warranty claims and claim history, however, we have not incurred
significant expense under our product or services warranties to date. As a result, we believe the estimated fair value on
these warranties is minimal. Accordingly, we have no amounts recorded for these contingent liabilities as of
September 30, 2006.
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NOTE 11—LITIGATION

Beginning in July 2001, we and certain of our officers and directors (“Individuals”) were named as defendants in a series
of class action stockholder complaints filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York,
now consolidated under the caption, “In re Chordiant Software, Inc. Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, Case
No. 01-CV-6222”. In the amended complaint, filed in April 2002, the plaintiffs allege that we, the Individuals, and the
underwriters of our initial public offering (“IPO”) violated section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 and section 10(b) of
the Exchange Act of 1934 based on allegations that the our registration statement and prospectus failed to disclose
material facts regarding the compensation to be received by, and the stock allocation practices of, our IPO
underwriters. The complaint also contains claims against the Individuals for control person liability under Securities
Act section 15 and Exchange Act section 20. The plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief.
Similar complaints were filed in the same court against hundreds of other public companies (“Issuers”) that conducted
IPO’s of their common stock in the late 1990s or in the year 2000 (collectively, the “IPO Lawsuits”).

In August 2001, all of the IPO Lawsuits were consolidated for pretrial purposes before United States Judge Shira
Scheindlin of the Southern District of New York. In July 2002, we joined in a global motion to dismiss the IPO
Lawsuits filed by all of the Issuers (among others). In October 2002, the Court entered an order dismissing the
Individuals from the IPO Cases without prejudice, pursuant to an agreement tolling the statute of limitations with
respect to the Individuals. In February 2003, the court issued a decision denying the motion to dismiss the Section 11
claims against Chordiant and almost all of the other Issuers and denying the motion to dismiss the Section 10(b)
claims against Chordiant and many of the Issuers.

In June 2003, Issuers and plaintiffs reached a tentative settlement agreement that would, among other things, result in
the dismissal with prejudice of all claims against the Issuers and Individuals in the IPO Lawsuits, and the assignment
to plaintiffs of certain potential claims that the Issuers may have against the underwriters. The tentative settlement also
provides that, in the event that plaintiffs ultimately recover less than a guaranteed sum of $1 billion from the IPO
underwriters, plaintiffs would be entitled to payment by each participating Issuer’s insurer of a pro rata share of any
shortfall in the plaintiffs’ guaranteed recovery. In September 2003, in connection with the possible settlement, those
Individuals who had entered tolling agreements with plaintiffs (described above) agreed to extend those agreements so
that they would not expire prior to any settlement being finalized. In June 2004, Chordiant and almost all of the other
Issuers entered into a formal settlement agreement with the plaintiffs. On February 15, 2005, the Court issued a
decision certifying a class action for settlement purposes, and granting preliminary approval of the settlement subject
to modification of certain bar orders contemplated by the settlement. On August 31, 2005, the Court reaffirmed class
certification and preliminary approval of the modified settlement in a comprehensive Order, and directed that Notice
of the settlement be published and mailed to class members beginning November 15, 2005. On February 24, 2006, the
Court dismissed litigation filed against certain underwriters in connection with the claims to be assigned to the
plaintiffs under the settlement. On April 24, 2006, the Court held a Final Fairness Hearing to determine whether to
grant final approval of the settlement. On December 5, 2006, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals vacated the lower
Court's earlier decision certifying as class actions the six IPO Lawsuits designated as "focus cases." The Court has
ordered a stay of all proceedings in all of the IPO Lawsuits pending the outcome of Plaintiffs' rehearing petition to the
Second Circuit. Accordingly, the Court's decision on final approval of the settlement remains pending.

If this settlement is not finalized as proposed, then this action may divert the efforts and attention of our management
and, if determined adversely to us, could have a material impact on our business, results of operations, financial
condition or cash flows.
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On August 1, 2006, a stockholder derivative complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of California by Jesse Brown under the caption Brown v. Kelly, et al. Case No. C06-04671 JW (N.D. Cal.). 
On September 13, 2006, a second stockholder derivative complaint was filed in the United States District Court for
the Northern District of California by Louis Suba under the caption Suba v. Kelly et al., Case No. C06-05603 JW
(N.D. Cal.).  Both complaints were brought purportedly on behalf of the Company against certain current and former
officers and directors.   On November 27, 2006, the court entered an order consolidating these actions
and requiring the plaintiffs to file a consolidated complaint.  The consolidated complaint was filed on January 11,
2007.  The consolidated complaint alleges, among other things, that the named officers and directors: (a) breached
their fiduciary duties as they colluded with each other to backdate stock options, (b) violated section 10(b), 14(a) and
20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder through their alleged actions,
and (c) were unjustly enriched by their receipt and retention of such stock options.  The Company's response to the
complaint is due on February 28, 2007. 
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In September 2006, the Company received a letter from Acacia Technologies Group, a patent holding company,
suggesting that the Company may be infringing on two patents, designated by United States Patent Numbers
5,537,590 and 5,701,400, which are held by one of their patent licensing and enforcement subsidiaries. The Company
is currently reviewing the validity of these patents and whether the Company’s products may infringe upon them. The
Company has not formed a view of whether the Company may have liability for infringement of these patents. Any
related claims, whether or not they have merit, could be costly and time-consuming to defend, divert our
management’s attention or cause product delays. If any of our products were found to infringe such patents, the patent
holder could seek an injunction to enjoin our use of the infringing product. If we were required to settle such a claim,
it could have a material impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

We are also subject to various other claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. The ultimate
disposition of these various other claims and legal actions is not expected to have a material effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. However, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties. See
Note 16 with respect to subsequent events.

NOTE 12—INCOME TAXES

The components of loss before income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended September 30, Nine months
 ended

September 30,
20042006 2005

(restated)(1) (restated)(1)
United States $ (16,759 ) $ (19,766) $ (14,376)
Foreign 1,402 350 13,447

$ (15,357 ) $ (19,416) $ (929)

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

Our provision for income taxes was $0.6 million, $0.4 million and $0.4 million for the years ended September 30,
2006 and 2005 and the nine months ended September 30, 2004, respectively. The increase in the provision for the year
ended September 30, 2006 when compared to the year ended September 30, 2005 is due to a combination of increases
in both state tax expense and foreign income tax expense. The decrease in the provision for the year ended September
20, 2005 when compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2004 is due to a decrease in state tax expense
resulting from a greater portion of state earnings being taxed in jurisdictions with lower taxes.

Deferred tax assets consist of the following (in thousands):

September 30,
2006 2005

(restated)(1)
Net Operating loss carryforwards $ 67,691 $ 66,046
Accrued expenses and provisions 3,731 1,814
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Tax Credit carryforwards 5,422 5,422
Deferred revenue 9,302 6,857
Stock-based Compensation 544 1,005
Depreciation and amortization 2,227 2,206
Gross deferred tax assets 88,917 83,350
Deferred tax valuation allowance (88,917) (83,350)
Net deferred tax assets $ — $ —

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments
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The valuation allowance increased by $5.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 and increased by $19.7
million for the year ended September 30, 2005.

We provide a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets
will not be realized. Based on a number of factors, including the lack of a history of profits, future projected taxable
income and the fact that the market in which we compete is intensely competitive and characterized by rapidly
changing technology, we believe that there is sufficient uncertainty regarding the realization of deferred tax assets
such that a full valuation allowance has been provided. At September 30, 2006, we had approximately $161.1 million
and $10.2 million of net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state purposes, respectively, and net operating
loss carryforwards of approximately $35.8 million in the United Kingdom. Approximately $36.4 million of the net
operating loss carryforwards, representing net operating loss carryforwards acquired through our acquisition of Prime
Response, are subject to change in control limitations, and, if utilized beyond such limitations will reduce goodwill
and intangibles recorded at the date of acquisition before reducing the tax provision. Approximately $1.0 million of
the net operating loss carryforwards are related to stock option deductions which, if utilized, will be accounted for as
an addition to equity rather than as a reduction of the provision for income taxes. These carryforwards are available to
offset future federal and state taxable income and begin to expire in 2010 and 2006, respectively. At September 30,
2006, there are approximately $3.1 million of federal credits that begin to expire in 2010. At September 30, 2006,
there were also California state credits of approximately $3.5 million that do not expire.

Under the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the amounts of and the benefit from net operating losses that can be carried
forward may be impaired or limited in certain circumstances. Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC),
as amended, a cumulative stock ownership change of more than 50% over a three-year period can cause such
limitations. During fiscal year 2006, the Company performed an analysis of its historical ownership changes and
concluded that four such changes have occurred since inception. As a result of the IRC Section 382 study,
approximately $2.7 of the $161.1 million of net operating loss carryforwards at September 30, 2006 will expire
unutilized.

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax as
follows (in thousands):

Year ended
September 30,

Nine months
 ended

September 30,
20042006 2005

(restated)(1) (restated)(1)
Book loss $ (15,357) $ (19,416) $ (929)
Federal tax statutory rate $ (5,375 ) $ (6,796) $ (325)
State 267 215 110
Stock-based compensation 1,643 1,062 141
In process R&D — 679 —
Other — — 53
Foreign Tax 377 234 295
Valuation allowance 3,732 5,055 168
Provision for income taxes $ 644 $ 449 $ 442
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(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments
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NOTE 13—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Common Stock and Restricted Stock Awards

In February 2006, the Board of Directors approved a grant of 125,000 shares of our restricted stock to Samuel
Spadafora, Chairman of the Board. These shares vest as follows:

Grant Date
Number of

shares Vesting Schedule
February 2006 125,000 April 1 2006 - 20,000 Shares

July 1, 2006 - 20,000 Shares
October 1, 2006 - 20,000 Shares
January 1, 2007 - 20,000 Shares
April 1, 2007 - 20,000 Shares
October 1, 2007 - 25,000 Shares

In November 2006, Mr. Spadafora entered into a separation agreement with the Company. See Note 16-Subsequent
Events. Based upon the separation agreement, the shares ceased to vest at the separation date. At the date of Mr.
Spadafora’s termination 65,000 shares were cancelled.

In June 2005, we granted 125,000 shares of our restricted stock to Stephen Kelly, our chief executive officer, and
125,000 shares to Robert Mullen, our president of worldwide field operations. These shares vested on April 1, 2006.

In August 2005, the Board of Directors approved grants of 200,000 shares of our restricted stock to Robert Mullen for
August 2005, April 2006 and April 2007. These shares vested as follows:

Grant Date
Number of

shares Vesting Schedule
August 2005 200,000 October 2005 - 66,666 Shares

October 2006 - 66,667 Shares
October 2007 - 66,667 Shares

April 2006 200,000 April 2007 - 66,666 Shares
April 2008 - 66,667 Shares
April 2009 - 66,667 Shares

April 2007 200,000 April 2008 - 66,666 Shares
April 2009 - 66,667 Shares
April 2010 - 66,667 Shares

In August 2006, Mr. Mullen entered into a separation agreement with the Company, whereby he continued as an
employee until December 31, 2006 at which time vesting of his shares ceased. At the date of Mr. Mullen’s separation,
133,333 shares had vested and 466,667 shares were cancelled.

In January 2004, we sold 4,854,368 shares of our common stock to Acqua Wellington Opportunity I Limited for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $25.0 million, which was used for working capital and other general
corporate purposes.
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There were no repurchases of our common stock during the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. Cancellations
of issued but unvested shares of restricted stock were approximately 20,000, 96,000 and 235,000 shares during the
years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 and the nine months ended September 30, 2004, respectively.

2005 Equity Incentive Plan

The 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (“2005 Plan”) was approved at the annual meeting on September 27, 2005. The 2005
Plan replaces the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the “1999 Plan”) and provides for the grant of incentive stock options,
nonstatutory stock options, stock purchase awards, restricted stock awards, and other forms of equity compensation
(collectively, the “stock awards”). The option price shall not be less than the fair market value of the shares on the date
of grant and no portion may be exercised beyond ten years from that date. However, during the stock option review, it
was discovered that some options granted had the option price less than the fair market value of the shares on the date
of grant. Under the 2005 Plan, stock options generally vest over a period of four years in equal monthly installments
with 25% of the shares vesting after one year, and the remainder
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vesting in equal monthly installments over the remaining three years. Stock option grant agreements allow for the
early exercise of options granted to employees. Exercised but unvested shares are subject to repurchase by us at the
initial exercise price. Beginning September 27, 2005, no additional stock awards will be granted under the 1999 Plan.
Shares remaining available for issuance pursuant to the exercise of options or settlement of stock awards under the
1999 Plan of approximately 1.2 million shares were added to the share reserve of the 2005 Plan and, as of
September 27, 2005, became available for issuance pursuant to stock awards granted under the 2005 Plan. All
outstanding stock awards granted under the 1999 Plan will remain subject to the terms of the 1999 Plan, except that
the Board may elect to extend one or more of the features of the 2005 Plan to stock awards granted under the 1999
Plan. Any shares subject to outstanding stock awards granted under the 1999 Plan that expire or terminate for any
reason prior to exercise or settlement shall be added to the share reserve of the 2005 Plan and become available for
issuance pursuant to stock awards granted under the 2005 Plan. The 2005 Plan increases the number of shares
available for issuance by 5.5 million shares of common stock from an aggregate total of approximately 1.2 million
shares available under the 1999 Plan as of September 27, 2005, resulting in an aggregate of approximately 6.7 million
shares available for future grant and issuance under the 2005 Plan. As of September 30, 2006, there were
approximately 4.9 million shares reserved for future issuance and approximately 7.0 million options that were
outstanding under the 2005 Plan. In January 2007, the Board amended the plan to increase the number of shares
reserved for future issuance by 4.0 million shares. This amendment will be submitted to the stockholders for their
approval at the 2007 annual meeting of stockholders.

2000 Nonstatutory Equity Incentive Plan

In March 2000, the Board adopted the 2000 Nonstatutory Equity Incentive Plan (the “2000 Plan”). Stockholder approval
of this plan is not required and has not been obtained by us. The 2000 Plan was in effect as of June 30, 2003. In April
2002 and October 2002, the Board approved increases to the number of shares reserved under the 2000 Plan from 0.9
million shares to 2.4 million shares and then to 4.4 million shares, also without stockholder approval as such approval
was not required by the 2000 Plan or by applicable law. The 2000 Plan does not have a termination date, and will
continue indefinitely until suspended or terminated by the Board. The 2000 Plan provides for the grant of nonstatutory
stock options and the issuance of restricted stock and stock bonuses to our employees (other than officers, directors, or
beneficial owners of ten percent (10%) or more of our common stock and consultants who meet certain eligibility
requirements. In January 2007, the Board amended the 2000 Plan to reduce the number of shares available for future
issuance to zero. No additional stock options will be granted under the 2000 Nonstatutory Equity Incentive Plan.

As of September 30, 2006, there were approximately 1.8 million shares subject to outstanding stock option grants,
zero shares of unvested restricted stock, and approximately 0.5 million shares available for future grant and issuance
(plus any shares that might be returned to the 2000 Plan in the future as a result of cancellations or expirations of
granted options and the repurchase of unvested restricted stock and stock bonuses). The terms and price of
nonstatutory stock options granted under the 2000 Plan are determined by the Board (or a committee of the Board)
and are set forth in each optionee’s option agreement. The exercise price of nonstatutory stock options granted under
the 2000 Plan has been 100% of the fair market value on the date of grant, and the term of the options has been ten
years. Generally, stock options under the 2000 Plan vest over a period of four years in equal monthly installments with
25% of the shares vesting after one year, and the remainder vesting in equal monthly installments over the remaining
three years. In the future, stock options may have the same or different vesting terms as determined by the Board (or a
committee of the Board). The Board (or a committee of the Board) sets the terms of stock bonuses and rights to
purchase restricted stock.
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1999 Equity Incentive Plan

The 1999 Plan provides for the grant to employees of incentive stock options within the meaning of Section 422 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and for grants to employees, directors and consultants of nonstatutory stock options
and stock purchase rights. Unless terminated sooner, the 1999 Plan will terminate automatically in 2009. The option
price shall not be less than the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant and no portion may be exercised
beyond ten years from that date. Under the 1999 Plan, stock options vest over a period that is limited to five years, but
are typically granted with a four-year vesting period. Each option outstanding under the 1999 Plan may be exercised
in whole or in part at any time. Exercised but unvested shares are subject to repurchase by us at the initial exercise
price. As of September 27, 2005, approximately 1.2 million available shares under the 1999 Plan were added to the
share reserve of the 2005 Plan. No additional stock options will be granted under the 1999 Plan subsequent to
September 27, 2005. Any shares subject to outstanding stock awards granted under the 1999 Plan that expire or
terminate for any reason prior to the exercise or settlement are added to the share reserve of the 2005 Plan and become
available for issuance under the 2005 Plan.
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1999 Non-Employee Director Option Plan

The 1999 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (“Director Plan”) was adopted by the Board of Directors and
became effective on the date of the initial public offering. The Director Plan provides for the automatic grant of
a nonstatutory option to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock to each new non-employee director on the date that
such person becomes a director. Each current and future non-employee director will automatically be granted an
additional nonstatutory option to purchase 7,500 shares on the day after each of our annual meetings of the
stockholders. Each director who is a member of a board committee will automatically be granted an additional
nonstatutory option to purchase 5,000 shares, for each committee they serve on, on the day after each annual meeting
of the stockholders. As of September 30, 2006, approximately 1.1 million shares of common stock have been reserved
for issuance and 0.4 million are outstanding under the Director Plan. The amount reserved under the 1999 Director
Plan automatically increases on October 1st of each year by the greater of (1) 0.5% outstanding shares on such date or
(2) the number of shares subject to stock awards made under the Director Plan during the prior twelve month period.
This automatic increase is subject to reduction by the Board of Directors. Under the terms of the director plan, option
prices may not be less than the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant and no portion may be exercised
beyond ten years from that date. In January 2007, the Board amended and restated the Director Plan to decrease the
number of shares reserved for future issuance to 0.75 million shares and to eliminate the automatic increase provision.
The adoption of the amended and restated Director plan will be submitted to the stockholders for their approval at the
2007 annual meeting of stockholders.

Stock Option Activity

The following table summarizes stock option and restricted stock activity under our stock option plans (in thousands,
except per share data):

Options Outstanding
Shares Available

for Grant Shares
Weighted Average

Exercise Price
Balance at September 30, 2003 4,340 9,458 $ 2.01
Options granted (2,108) 2,108 4.19
Restricted stock granted (3) — —
Options exercised — (1,150) 1.80
Cancellation of unvested restricted
stock 235 — —
Options cancelled 905 (905) 2.78
Options cancelled from expired plans — (5) —
Balance at September 30, 2004 3,369 9,506 2.45
Authorized 5,660 — —
Options granted (2,084) 2,084 2.08
Restricted stock granted (450) — —
Options exercised — (1,246) 1.21
Cancellation of unvested restricted
stock 95 — —
Options cancelled 1,855 (1,855) 3.60
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Options cancelled from expired plans (326) (28) —
Balance at September 30, 2005 8,119 8,461 2.28
Authorized 305 — —
Options granted (3,762) 3,762 3.05
Restricted stock granted (325) — —
Options exercised — (1,234) 1.64
Cancellation of unvested restricted
stock 446 — —
Options cancelled 1,770 (1,770) 2.98
Balance at September 30, 2006 6,553 9,219 $ 2.53
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2006
(in thousands, except exercise prices and contractual life data):

Options Outstanding Options Vested

Range of
Exercise Prices

Number
Outstanding

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
Closing
Price at

09/30/2006
of $3.07

Number
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
Closing
Price at

09/30/2006
of $3.07

$ 0.14-$ 0.88 1,006 3.43 $ .65 $ 2,434 1,003 $ 0.65 $ 2,426
$ 0.90-$ 1.30 1,113 6.35 1.02 2,285 1,016 1.02 2,084
$ 1.33-$ 1.70 1,004 7.55 1.62 1,455 692 1.61 1,020
$ 1.80-$ 2.58 924 6.68 2.13 866 633 2.03 658
$ 2.59-$ 2.97 976 7.18 2.73 332 605 2.76 185
$ 2.99-$ 3.03 1,154 9.22 3.00 87 219 3.00 16
$ 3.05-$ 3.19 1,252 9.24 3.17 1 203 3.17 —
$ 3.22-$ 4.17 1,337 8.08 3.84 — 715 4.08 —

$ 4.21-$ 18.00 453 6.06 5.90 — 402 6.04 —
$ 0.14-$ 18.00 9,219 7.27 $ 2.53 $ 7,460 5,488 $ 2.26 $ 6,389

The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table represents the total intrinsic value, based on the Company’s closing
stock price of $3.07 as of September 30, 2006, which would have been received by the option holders had all option
holders exercised their options as of that date. The total number of in-the-money options vested and exercisable as of
September 30, 2006 was approximately 4.2 million. As of September 30, 2006, approximately 5.5 million outstanding
options were vested and exercisable, and the weighted average exercise price was $2.26. The total intrinsic value of
options exercised during the year ended September 30, 2006 was $1.8 million. The fair value of options vested was
$5.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2006. As of September 30, 2006, total unrecognized compensation
costs related to non-vested stock options was $4.2 million, which is expected to be recognized as expense over a
weighted-average period of approximately 1.4 years.

We had 1.0 million unvested restricted stock awards as of September 30, 2006, which were excluded from the
preceding tables. The total fair value of the unvested restricted stock awards at grant date was $2.4 million. The
aggregate intrinsic value of the unvested restricted stock awards at September 30, 2006 was $3.1 million. During the
year ended September 30, 2006, approximately 1.2 million shares vested related to restricted stock awards,
respectively. There were approximately 0.3 million shares of restricted stock awarded during the year ended
September 30, 2006. The weighted average fair value at grant date of the unvested restricted stock awards was $2.39
as of September 30, 2006. As of September 30, 2006, total unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested
restricted stock awards was $0.9 million which is expected to be recognized as expense over a weighted average
period of approximately one year.

We settle stock option exercises and restricted stock awards with newly issued common shares.

Valuation and Expense Information under SFAS 123(R)

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

188



On October 1, 2005, we adopted SFAS 123(R), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation
expense for all share-based payment awards made to the Company’s employees and directors including employee
stock options, restricted stock awards and employee stock purchases related to the ESPP based on estimated fair
values. The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense related to employee stock options and
restricted stock awards for years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, and nine months ended September 30, 2004,
which was allocated as follows (in thousands):  
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Year Ended September 30, Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2004

(under APB
25)

2006
(under SFAS

123(R))

2005
(under SFAS

123 /
APB 25)

(restated)(1) (restated)(1)
Stock-based compensation expense:
Cost of revenues $ 248 $ 690 $ 85
Sales and marketing 2,327 986 44
Research and development 332 843 5
General and administrative 1,788 512 270
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 4,695 $ 3,031 $ 404

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

The table below reflects net loss and basic and diluted net loss per share as if the fair value recognition provision of
SFAS 123 had been applied for the year ended September 30, 2005, and the nine months ended 2004 (in thousands
except per-share amounts):

Year Ended
September

30,
2005

Nine
Months
Ended

September
30, 2004

(restated)(1) (restated)(1)
Net loss $ (19,865) $ (1,371)
Add: Stock-based compensation included in reported net
loss 3,031 404
Less: Stock-based compensation expense determined
under fair value method (5,988) (3,294)
Net loss—pro forma $ (22,822) $ (4,261)
Basic and diluted net loss per share—as reported $ (0.27) $ (0.02)
Basic and diluted net loss per share—pro forma $ (0.31) $ (0.06)
Weighted average shares 74,449 69,761

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the value of each employee stock option was estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes model for the purpose of the pro forma financial disclosures in accordance with SFAS 123.
 The weighted-average estimated fair value of stock options granted for the year ended September 30, 2006, 2005, and
2004 was $1.99, $1.19 and $2.27 per share, respectively, using the Black-Scholes model with the following
weighted-average assumptions:
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2006 2005 2004
Expected lives in years 3.9 2.6 2.6
Risk free interest rates 4.8% 3.3% 2.8%
Volatility 88% 98% 85%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model
with the weighted-average assumptions for volatility, expected term, and risk free interest rate. With the adoption of
SFAS 123(R) on October 1, 2005, we used the trinomial lattice valuation technique to determine the assumptions used
in the Black-Scholes model. The trinomial lattice valuation technique was used to provide a better estimate of fair
values and meet the fair value objectives of SFAS 123(R). The expected term of options granted is derived from
historical data on employee exercises and post-vesting employment termination behavior. The risk-free rate is based
on the U.S. Treasury rates in effect during the corresponding period
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of grant. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of our stock price.. The estimated value of a stock
option is most sensitive to the volatility assumption. Based on the September 30, 2006 variables, it is estimated that a
change of 10% in either the volatility, expected life or interest rate assumption would result in a corresponding 7%,
4% or 1% change in the estimated value of the option being valued using the Black-Scholes model.

As stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for the years ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005 and nine months ended September 30, 2004 is based on awards ultimately expected to
vest, it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of
grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Our estimated
forfeiture rate for the year ended September 30, 2006 was based on our historical forfeiture experience. In the pro
forma disclosures required under SFAS 123 for the period prior to fiscal 2006 including the year ended September 30,
2005 and 2004, we accounted for forfeitures as they occurred. For options granted prior to October 1, 2005 and valued
in accordance with FAS 123, the expected life and expected volatility of the stock options were based upon historical
data.

Accuracy of Fair Value Estimates

We use third-party analyses to assist in developing the assumptions based on a trinomial lattice valuation technique
used in the Black-Scholes model. We are responsible for determining the assumptions used in estimating the fair value
of share-based payment awards.

Our determination of fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is
affected by the Company’s stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective
variables. These variables include, but are not limited to the Company’s expected stock price volatility over the term of
the awards, and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. Because the Company’s employee
stock options have certain characteristics that are significantly different from traded options, and because changes in
the subjective assumptions can materially affect the estimated value, in management’s opinion, the existing valuation
models may not provide an accurate measure of the fair value of the Company’s employee stock options and restricted
stock awards. Although the fair value of employee stock options and restricted stock awards is determined in
accordance with SFAS 123(R) and SAB 107 using an option-pricing model, that value may not be indicative of the
fair value observed in a willing buyer/willing seller market transaction.

401(k) Savings Plan

We sponsor a 401(k) Savings Plan (the “Plan”) for our full-time employees in the United States. Under the Plan, each
participant may elect to contribute up to 15% of their pre-tax compensation. The Plan allows Chordiant to match up to
50% the employee contributions. Chordiant has matched up to 25% of the employee contributions, except for the
period from April 2003 to April 2004 when Chordiant suspended its match. Employee contributions are fully vested,
whereas vesting in Chordiant’s matching contributions occurs at a rate of 33.3% per year of employment. Our
contributions to the 401(k) Plan totaled approximately $0.4 million, $0.4 million, and $0.1 million for the year ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005 and nine months ended September 30, 2004, respectively.

Defined Contribution Plan
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We also sponsor a defined contribution pension plan for the employees of our United Kingdom sales office. Under the
pension plan, employees of the United Kingdom sales office may elect to contribute up to 15% of their pre-tax
compensation. Our contributions to the pension plan are based on matching of employee contributions up to 5% and
totaled approximately $0.5 million, $0.7 million, and $0.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 and 2005
and nine months ended September 30, 2004, respectively.

1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) was adopted by the Board of Directors and became effective on
February 14, 2000, the date of our initial public offering. Eligible employees may have up to 15% of their earnings
withheld to be used to purchase shares of our Common Stock at 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the
Common Stock on the commencement date of each nine-month offering period or the specified purchase date. The
amount reserved under the 1999 ESPP automatically increases on October 1st of each year by the greater of (1) 2%
outstanding shares on such date or (2) the number of shares subject to stock awards made under this plan during the
prior twelve month period. However, the automatic
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increase is subject to reduction by the Board of Directors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the aggregate number of
shares that may be sold under the 1999 ESPP shall not exceed 13 million shares. There were no purchases of common
stock under the ESPP for the year ended September 2006 and 2005, as the plan is currently suspended. As of
September 30, 2006, approximately 3.6 millions shares are available for future issuances under this plan. In January
2007, the Board amended the 1999 ESPP to reduce the number of shares available for future issuance to 1,000,000.

NOTE 14—WARRANTS

On August 12, 2002, we entered into an agreement with IBM to market our products and services to customers. We
issued a fully vested and exercisable warrant to purchase up to 0.2 million shares of common stock. The exercise price
was set at $2.25 per share. The warrant was valued at $0.1 million based on the Black-Scholes model using the
following assumptions: volatility: 105%, risk-free interest rate: 3.22% and fair market value of our common stock at
the grant date: $0.84. The value of the warrant was recorded as a prepaid expense and was offset against revenue
during 2003 upon the completion of an IBM revenue generating transaction. On September 20, 2006, IBM exercised
the warrants in a cashless transaction resulting in 48,075 of Chordiant shares being issued to IBM.

In September 2001, we issued a warrant to Accenture plc to purchase up to 0.6 million shares of common stock at
$7.05 per share. The warrants expired on September 4, 2006.

In conjunction with the Prime Response, Inc. acquisition in 2001, we assumed warrants to purchase up to 1.0 million
shares of common stock issued to Accenture plc and General Atlantic Partners. The warrants were included as part of
the purchase price of Prime Response, Inc. at the date of acquisition. These warrants expired in December 2006.

NOTE 15—SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our chief operating decision maker reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by
desegregated information about revenues by geographic region for purposes of making operating decisions and
assessing financial performance. Accordingly, we have concluded that we have one reportable segment.

The following table summarizes license revenues by product emphasis (in thousands):

Year ended September 30 Nine months
ended

September 30,
20042006 2005

License revenue
Enterprise solutions $ 30,351 $ 24,587 $ 19,807
Marketing solutions  6,396 2,450 3,854
Decision management solutions 3,767 4,641 —
Total $ 40,514 $ 31,678 $ 23,661

The following table summarizes service revenues by product emphasis consisting of consulting assistance and
implementation, customization and integration, training, certain reimbursable out-of-pocket expense and post-contract
customer support (in thousands):
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Year ended September 30 Nine months
ended

September 30,
20042006 2005

Service Revenue  
Enterprise solutions $ 39,911 $ 40,441 $ 29,322
Marketing solutions  12,996 9,680 8,040
Decision management solutions 4,115 1,926 —
Total $ 57,022 $ 52,047 $ 37,362
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Foreign revenues are based on the country in which the customer is located. The following is a summary of total
revenues by geographic area (in thousands):

Year ended September 30, Nine months
ended

September 30,
20042006 2005

North America $ 60,008 $ 41,697 $ 29,016
Europe 37,528 41,939 31,927
Rest of World — 89 80
Total $ 97,536 $ 83,725 $ 61,023

Contained within the results for Europe are revenues from the United Kingdom of $16.1 million, $22.5 million, and
$31.9 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, and the nine months ended September 30, 2004.

Property and equipment information is based on the physical location of the assets. The following is a summary of
property and equipment by geographic area (in thousands):

September 30,
2006 2005 2004

North America $ 1,844 $ 1,579 $ 2,034
Europe 786 900 1,203
Total $ 2,630 $ 2,479 $ 3,237

NOTE 16—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Delinquent SEC Filings

Subsequent to September 30, 2006, the Company failed to file certain required reports with the SEC on a timely basis.
As a result, the NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Department notified us that we were not in compliance with the
requirements of NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 431(c)(14) and began delisting proceedings. We appealed this delisting
proceeding and received a written notification from the staff of The NASDAQ Stock Market stating that the
NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel has granted the Company’s request for continued listing on the NASDAQ
Stock Market, subject to the condition that the Company shall file its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006,
and any required restatements and its Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006 and any required
restatements, by February 12, 2007.

Status of SEC Review

In July 2006, the SEC commenced an investigation into our historical stock option grant practices. In November 2006,
a representative of the Audit Committee and its advisors met with the enforcement staff of the SEC and provided them
with a report of the Audit Committee’s investigation and findings. In January 2007, the enforcement staff of the SEC
notified the Company that its investigation had been terminated and no enforcement action had been recommended to
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the Commission.

Company Reorganization

On October 25, 2006, the Company initiated a restructuring plan intended to align its resources and cost structure with
expected future revenues. The restructuring plan included a balancing of services resources worldwide, an elimination
of duplicative functions internationally, and a shift in the U.S. field organization toward a focus on domain-based
sales and pre-sales teams.

The restructuring plan included an immediate reduction in positions of slightly more than ten percent of the
Company's workforce, consolidation of European facilities, and the closure of our French office. A majority of the
positions eliminated were in Europe. The plan was committed to on October 24, 2006, and employees were begun to
be notified on October 25, 2006.
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The Company estimates that it will record pre-tax cash restructuring charges, in the first quarter of fiscal year 2007 of
approximately $6.0 million to $7.0 million in the aggregate, consisting of approximately $1.9 to $2.1 million for
severance costs, between $4.0 million to $4.8 million for exiting excess facilities, and $0.1 million for other charges.
The facilities are subject to operating leases expiring thru 2010. Included in the excess facilities charge of $4.8 million
is an estimated offset of $0.4 million for sublease rental income. As of January 2007, the Company has not yet
identified a sublease tenant for the facility. As part of consolidating excess facilities, the Company entered into a new
lease in the United Kingdom for a 5 year term with expected lease payments of $1.8 million over the life of the lease.
The Company anticipates that between $5.2 million to $6.2 million of the aggregate restructuring charge will result in
cash expenditures of which the majority will be severance paid in cash during the second quarter of fiscal year 2007.

Departure of Chairman of the Board

On November 30, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors accepted the resignation of Samuel Spadafora, as Chairman
of the Board and his retirement as the Chief Strategy Officer of the Company. The Board of Directors appointed
Steven R. Springsteel, the Company's President and Chief Executive Officer, as the Chairman of the Board.

Reverse Stock Split

On December 13, 2006, the Company announced that the Board of Directors had approved a reverse stock split of
common stock such that each outstanding two and a half shares of common stock would be combined into and
become one share and that it will seek stockholder approval of the reverse stock split at a special meeting of
stockholders on February 15, 2007.
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NOTE 17—QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) (in thousands, except per share data)

The following tables set forth a summary of the Company’s quarterly financial information for each of the four
quarters ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands, except per share data):

Year ended September 30, 2006:

Quarter -Ended
September 30,

2006
June 30,

2006
March 31,

2006
December 31,

2005
(Restated)(1) (Restated)(1)

Revenues:
License $ 7,925 $ 10,257 $ 13,206 $ 9,126
Service 13,754 16,769 13,067 13,432
Total revenues 21,679 27,026 26,273 22,558
Cost of net revenues:
License 331 398 518 443
Service (2) 7,349 8,965 7,867 6,385
Amortization of intangible assets 302 303 303 303
Cost of revenues 7,982 9,666 8,688 7,131
Gross profit 13,697 17,360 17,585 15,427
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (2) 8,739 7,976 8,761 8,140
Research and development (2) 7,699 7,780 5,862 4,517
General and administrative (2) 5,640 4,842 5,244 4,719
Total operating expense 22,078 20,598 19,867 17,376
Loss from operations (8,381) (3,238) (2,282) (1,949)
Interest income, net 311 329 281 199
Other income (expense), net (91) (623) (31) 118
Net loss before income taxes (8,161) (3,532) (2,032) (1,632)
Provision for income taxes 203 150 170 121
Net loss $ (8,364) $ (3,682) $ (2,202) $ (1,753)
Net loss per share—basic and diluted$ (0.11) $ (0.05) $ (0.03) $ (0.02)
Weighted average shares used in
computing basic and diluted net
loss per share 78,669 78,035 77,228 76,824

(1)-See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

(2)-Includes stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 72 $ 92 $ 58 $ 26
Sales and marketing 421 571 613 722
Research and development 80 124 69 59
General and administrative 430 669 396 293
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Total stock-based compensation expense $ 1,003 $ 1,456 $ 1,136 $ 1,100
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Year ended September 30, 2005:

Quarter -Ended
September 30,

2005
June 30,

2005
March 31,

2005
December 31,

2004
(Restated)(1) (Restated)(1) (Restated)(1) (Restated)(1)

Revenues:
License $ 6,649 $ 9,228 $ 6,959 $ 8,842
Service 14,607 12,393 12,212 12,835
Total revenues 21,256 21,621 19,171 21,677
Cost of net revenues:
License 377 338 198 166
Service (2) 7,698 7,312 7,622 7,523
Amortization of intangible
assets 303 303 331 131
Cost of revenues 8,378 7,953 8,151 7,820
Gross profit 12,878 13,668 11,020 13,857
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (2) 7,882 7,274 7,179 7,226
Research and development (2) 4,670 5,422 5,312 4,868
General and administrative (2) 4,742 4,677 5,197 3,933
Amortization of intangible
assets — — 93 24
Restructuring expense 1,149 — 26 (123)
Purchased in-process research
and development — — — 1,940
Total operating expense 18,443 17,373 17,807 17,868
Loss from operations (5,565) (3,705) (6,787) (4,011)
Interest income, net 216 147 182 210
Other income (expense), net (58) 186 166 (397)
Net loss before income taxes (5,407) (3,372) (6,439) (4,198)
Provision for income taxes 156 138 75 80
Net loss $ (5,563) $ (3,510) $ (6,514) $ (4,278)
Net loss per share—basic and
diluted $ (0.07) $ (0.05) $ (0.09) $ (0.06)
Weighted average shares used
in computing basic and diluted
net loss per share 77,886 75,080 74,745 72,223

(1)-See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

(2)-Includes stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 222 $ 176 $ 273 $ 19
Sales and marketing 460 222 300 10
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Research and development 274 227 330 3
General and administrative 215 114 166 20
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 1,171 $ 739 $ 1,069 $ 52
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The following tables present the effects of adjustments made to the Company’s previously reported quarterly financial
information as of September 30, 2006:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 Three Months Ended December 31, 2005
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
Revenues:
License $ 13,206 $ — $ 13,206 $ 9,126 $ — $ 9,126
Service 13,067 — 13,067 13,432 — 13,432
Total revenues 26,273 — 26,273 22,558 — 22,558
Cost of net revenues:
License 518 — 518 443 — 443
Service (2) 7,864 3 7,867 6,384 1 6,385
Amortization of
intangible assets 303 — 303 303 — 303
Cost of revenues 8,685 3 8,688 7,130 1 7,131
Gross profit 17,588 (3) 17,585 15,428 (1) 15,427
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
(2) 8,732 29 8,761 8,104 36 8,140
Research and
development (2) 5,859 3 5,862 4,514 3 4,517
General and
administrative (2) 5,225 19 5,244 4,704 15 4,719
Total operating
expense 19,816 51 19,867 17,322 54 17,376
Loss from operations (2,228) (54) (2,282) (1,894) (55) (1,949)
Interest income, net 281 — 281 199 — 199
Other income
(expense), net (31) — (31) 118 — 118
Net loss before income
taxes (1,978) (54) (2,032) (1,577) (55) (1,632)
Provision for income
taxes 170 — 170 121 — 121
Net loss $ (2,148) $ (54) $ (2,202) $ (1,698) $ (55) $ (1,753)
Net loss per share—basic
and diluted $ (0.03) $ — $ (0.03) $ (0.02) $ — $ (0.02)
Weighted average
shares used in
computing basic and
diluted net loss per
share 77,228 — 77,228 76,824 — 76,824

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments
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(2)-Includes stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 56 $ 2 $ 58 $ 25 $ 1 $ 26
Sales and marketing 593 20 613 693 29 722
Research and development 67 2 69 57 2 59
General and administrative 383 13 396 281 12 293
Total stock-based compensation
expense $ 1,099 $ 37 $ 1,136 $ 1,056 $ 44 $ 1,100
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The following tables present the effects of adjustments made to the Company’s previously reported quarterly financial
information as of September 30, 2005:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2005 Three Months Ended June 30, 2005
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
Revenues:
License $ 6,649 $ — $ 6,649 $ 9,228 $ — $ 9,228
Service 14,607 — 14,607 12,393 — 12,393
Total revenues 21,256 — 21,256 $ 21,621 — 21,621
Cost of net revenues:
License 377 — 377 337 — 337
Service (2) 7,677 21 7,698 7,300 11 7,311
Amortization of
intangible assets 303 — 303 303 — 303
Cost of revenues 8,357 21 8,378 7,940 11 7,951
Gross profit 12,899 (21) 12,878 13,681 (11) 13,670
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
(2) 7,838 44 7,882 7,262 13 7,275
Research and
development (2) 4,644 26 4,670 5,408 13 5,421
General and
administrative (2) 4,722 20 4,742 4,672 7 4,679
Amortization of
intangible assets — — — — — —
Restructuring expense 1,149 — 1,149 — — —
Purchased in-process
research and
development — — — — — —
Total operating
expense 18,353 90 18,443 17,342 33 17,375
Loss from operations (5,454) (111) (5,565) (3,661) (44) (3,705)
Interest income, net 216 — 216 147 — 147
Other income
(expense), net (58) — (58) 186 — 186
Net loss before income
taxes (5,296) (111) (5,407) (3,328) (44) (3,372)
Provision for income
taxes 156 — 156 138 138
Net loss $ (5,452) $ (111) $ (5,563) $ (3,466) $ (44) $ (3,510)
Net loss per share—basic
and diluted $ (0.07) $ — $ (0.07) $ (0.05) $ — $ (0.05)
Weighted average
shares used in

77,886 — 77,886 75,080 — 75,080
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computing basic and
diluted net loss per
share

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

(2)-Includes stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 225 $ (3) $ 222 $ 166 $ 10 $ 176
Sales and marketing 466 (6) 460 210 12 222
Research and development 278 (4) 274 215 12 227
General and administrative 218 (3) 215 108 6 114
Total stock-based compensation
expense $ 1,187 $ (16) $ 1,171 $ 699 $ 40 $ 739
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2005 Three Months Ended December 31, 2004
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
As

Reported
Adjustment

(1) Restated
Revenues:
License $ 6,959 $ — $ 6,959 $ 8,842 $ — $ 8,842
Service 12,212 — 12,212 12,835 — 12,835
Total revenues 19,171 — 19,171 $ 21,677 — 21,677
Cost of net revenues:
License 198 — 198 166 — 166
Service (2) 7,601 21 7,622 7,492 31 7,523
Amortization of
intangible assets 331 — 331 131 — 131
Cost of revenues 8,130 21 8,151 7,789 31 7,820
Gross profit 11,041 (21) 11,020 13,888 (31) 13,857
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
(2) 7,155 24 7,179 7,209 17 7,226
Research and
development (2) 5,286 26 5,312 4,863 5 4,868
General and
administrative (2) 5,184 13 5,197 3,900 33 3,933
Amortization of
intangible assets 93 — 93 24 — 24
Restructuring expense 26 — 26 (123) — (123)
Purchased in-process
research and
development — — — 1,940 — 1,940
Total operating
expense 17,744 63 17,807 17,813 55 17,868
Loss from operations (6,703) (84) (6,787) (3,925) (86) (4,011)
Interest income, net 182 — 182 210 — 210
Other income
(expense), net 166 — 166 (397) — (397)
Net loss before income
taxes (6,355) (84) (6,439) (4,112) (86) (4,198)
Provision for income
taxes 75 — 75 80 — 80
Net loss $ (6,430) $ (84) $ (6,514) $ (4,192) $ (86) $ (4,278)
Net loss per share—basic
and diluted $ (0.09) $ — $ (0.09) $ (0.06) $ — $ (0.06)
Weighted average
shares used in
computing basic and
diluted net loss per
share 74,745 — 74,745 72,223 — 72,223
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(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments

(2)-Includes stock-based compensation expense, which was allocated as follows:
Cost of revenues $ 253 $ 20 $ 273 $ (11) $ 30 $ 19
Sales and marketing 277 23 300 (6) 16 10
Research and development 305 25 330 (2) 5 3
General and administrative 154 12 166 (12) 32 20
Total stock-based compensation
expense $ 989 $ 80 $ 1,069 $ (31) $ 83 $ 52
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Background Findings and Restatement

As discussed in the Explanatory Note preceding Part 1, Item 1 and Note 3 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of this Form 10-K, the Company is restating certain of its previously filed financial statements.

In July 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors initiated a review of the Company’s historical stock option grant
practices and appointed the Audit Committee to oversee the investigation. The Audit Committee’s review focused on
processes used to establish the option exercise prices and to obtain required approvals of stock option grants and the
related measurement dates used for financial reporting purposes. The Audit Committee and its advisors reviewed the
Company’s historical stock option grants and related accounting including an assessment and review of the Company’s
accounting policies, internal records, supporting documentation and email communications, as well as interviews with
current and former employees and current and former members of the Company’s executive management and Board of
Directors.

Although the Audit Committee did not find sufficient evidence to definitively support a conclusion that anyone acted
with the requisite intent to commit an illegal act or an act of fraud, based on review of the facts surrounding stock
option grants to officers, directors and employees during the Review Period, we have determined that the
measurement dates used in the accounting for certain stock options granted during the Review Period required
correction. The Audit Committee found:

·  There was a lack of oversight in the issuance and administration of the Company’s stock options.
·  There was poor record keeping in connection with the authorization and issuance of stock options.

·  Stock options were granted for which the Company can not provide evidence of authorization consistent with the
terms of the applicable option plan and Board of Directors resolutions.

·  In some cases, the Company issued stock options having exercise prices that were not consistent with the
requirements of the applicable option plan.

·  There is evidence to suggest that in some cases the dates used to establish the exercise prices for certain options
were intentionally and selectively chosen based on dates on which the closing prices of the Company’s stock were
lower than on the dates on which the options may have been actually granted.

·  There is inconclusive evidence that on one occasion in 2002, a former employee changed the date on documentation
relating to the exercise of a stock option by means of a promissory note to reflect an earlier exercise date. There is
also inconclusive evidence that certain other option exercises in 2001 by means of promissory notes may have been
memorialized with dates preceding the actual exercise dates.

·  With respect to certain individuals, there was insufficient evidence to support a definitive conclusion that they
appreciated the accounting or disclosure issues associated with the Company’s stock option practices, or knowingly
participated in actions intended to mislead or deceive the Company’s auditors.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our “disclosure controls and procedures”
(Disclosure Controls) as of September 30, 2006, the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K. The controls
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evaluation was conducted under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our CEO and
CFO. Disclosure Controls are controls and procedures designed to reasonably assure that information required to be
disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this Form 10-K, is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s (SEC’s) rules and
forms. Disclosure Controls are also designed to reasonably assure that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. Our quarterly evaluation of Disclosure Controls includes an evaluation of some components of
our internal control over financial reporting, and internal control over financial reporting is also separately evaluated
on an annual basis for purposes of providing the management report which is set forth below.

The evaluation of our Disclosure Controls included a review of the controls’ objectives and design, the company’s
implementation of the controls and the effect of the controls on the information generated for use in this Form 10-K.
In the course of the controls evaluation, we sought to identify any past instances of data errors, control problems or
acts of fraud and sought to confirm that appropriate corrective actions, including process improvements, were being
undertaken. This type of evaluation is performed on a quarterly basis so that the conclusions of management,
including the CEO and CFO, concerning the effectiveness of the Disclosure Controls can be reported in our periodic
reports on Form 10-Q and Form 10-K. Many of the components of our
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Disclosure Controls are also evaluated on an ongoing basis by our finance organization. The goals of these various
evaluation activities are to monitor our Disclosure Controls, and to modify them as necessary. Our intent is to
maintain the Disclosure Controls as dynamic systems that change as conditions warrant.

Based upon the controls evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that as of September 30, 2006, the end of the
period covered by this Form 10-K, our Disclosure Controls were not effective due to the material weaknesses
described in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting below.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation
of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2006 based on the guidelines
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting cannot
provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives. Internal control over financial reporting is a
process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting
from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper
management override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions or that the degree of compliance with established policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a
remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected. In connection with the Company’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
the Company has identified the following material weaknesses that existed as of September 30, 2006:

Control activities relating to stock option grants:

In connection with the restatement discussed above, we recorded $8.3 million of additional pre-tax non-cash stock
based compensation expense and associated withholding tax exposure related to stock option grants that occurred in
the fiscal periods 2000 thru 2006. The Company did not maintain effective control over the granting of stock options
and its accounting for its non-cash stock-based compensation and related financial statement disclosures, since the
method by which the Company originally valued certain common stock and amortized deferred stock-based
compensation for such common stock were determined to be incorrect. Our current management has determined that a
majority of the control deficiency relates to the finalization of granting stock options. This control deficiency resulted
in adjustments to the Company’s fiscal year 2006 annual and interim financial statements. Further, this control
deficiency could result in material misstatements to the Company’s annual or interim financial statements that would
not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a
material weakness.

Control activities relating to the training of the sales force and the communication of issues impacting revenue
recognition to the finance department

In conjunction with a license transaction consummated during the year ended September 30, 2006, management
became aware of a verbal agreement relating to the provision of professional services that was communicated to a
customer via a member of the sales organization. The financial statement impact of this verbal arrangement was
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determined to be not material to the financial statements at September 30, 2006 and was deemed to be isolated in
nature; however, it indicated a need to improve the level of training that the sales staff should receive to ensure that
the sales staff fully understand that verbal arrangements are strictly prohibited by Company policy and that any
contract addendums should be communicated to the finance department. As a result, the Company determined that it
did not maintain effective control over the training of the sales force and the communication of issues impacting
revenue recognition to the finance department. This control deficiency did not result in adjustments to the Company’s
fiscal year 2006 annual or interim financial statements. However, this control deficiency could result in material
misstatements to the Company’s annual or interim financial statements that would not be prevented or detected.
Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting:

As of the date of this filing, in response to the identification of the material weakness relating to stock options
described above, management has initiated the following corrective actions:
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·  The Company has hired a dedicated Stock Plan Administrator with nine years of experience in managing stock
option programs and who is a Certified Equity Professional. The Company has given first level responsibility for
option administration to this Stock Plan Administrator who reports to the Vice President and Corporate Treasurer.

·  As a further safeguard against selective dating or granting of stock options, the Board, at its August 2, 2006
meeting, directed that (i) all future stock option grants to officers had to be granted only on the third trading day
after the quarterly release of earnings and (ii) that all options to non-officers had to be granted effective on the first
trading day of a month where the authorization for the grant took place on or before that date.

·  The Compensation Committee is provided a report on the same date that the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to
the delegated authority, grants to any employee any equity awards, which report includes the optionee’s name, size
of award and exercise price.

·  Steps have been taken to ensure that grant authorizations be documented and retained.

·  Limitations have been placed on the use of unanimous written consents for option grants.

·  Procedures have been improved to ensure that option grants conform to the requirements of the applicable equity
plans.

·  Training will be provided for those involved in the process on accounting issues.

As of the date of this filing, in part in response to the identification of the material weakness relating to the training of
the sales force and the communication of issues described above, management has initiated the following corrective
actions:

·  Mandatory training covering the relevant issues will be provided for the sales department staff.

·  In conjunction with the September 30, 2006 financial statements, upon the identification of the verbal agreement,
updated written representations were obtained from the sales staff relating to the complete communication of details
to the finance department.

·  The professional services organization no longer reports to a sales executive, but rather directly to the CEO.

·  The executive responsible for the professional services organization is now responsible for approving the terms of
any professional services provided to customers.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting - Remediation of Material Weaknesses Identified in 2005

Our Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005 identified three material weaknesses which have since been
remediated. The material weakness related to the stock option grants discussed above also existed at September 30,
2005 and was not yet fully remediated at September 30, 2006. The design and operating effectiveness of the controls
implemented were tested and determined to be effective, and management has concluded that these material
weaknesses were remediated as of September 30, 2006. These items were as follows:

Stock-based Compensation - This issue related to the amortization method used to calculate expense associated with
certain shares of restricted stock associated with an acquisition that was consummated in December of 2004. Our
remediation during 2006 focused on a process to consistently account for these shares of stock in conformity with the
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Statement of Cash Flows - Our remediation during 2006 focused on the implementation of a review process to identify
the proper classification of items and ensure that such items were properly reflected in the consolidated statements of
cash flows in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Staffing Levels in the Finance Department - During 2006 the Company has improved the staffing of its finance
department through external hiring and the conversion of certain consultants to full time employee status. A majority
of these new employees have now been with the Company for several consecutive quarters and achieved efficiencies
in their areas of responsibility.

Based on the results of this evaluation, our management has concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was not effective as of September 30, 2006 due to the material weaknesses relating to stock options and the
training and communication issues with the sales staff. We reviewed the results of management’s assessment with the
Audit Committee of Chordiant’s Board of Directors.
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BDO Seidman, LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, audited management’s assessment and
independently assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2006.
BDO Seidman, LLP has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment, which is included in Item 9A of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Chordiant Software, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting, that Chordiant Software, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control over financial
reporting as of September 30, 2006, because of the effects of the material weakness identified in management’s
assessment, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Chordiant Software, Inc.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a
remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected. The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in management’s assessment.

·  In connection with the restatement of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the Company recorded $8.3
million of additional pre-tax non-cash stock based compensations expense and associated withholding tax exposure
related to stock option grants that occurred in the fiscal periods 2000 thru 2006. The Company did not maintain
effective control over the granting of stock options and its accounting for its non-cash stock-based compensation
and related financial statement disclosures, since the method by which the Company originally valued certain
common stock and amortized deferred stock-based compensation for such common stock were determined to be
incorrect. The Company’s current management has determined that a majority of the control deficiency relates to the
finalization of granting stock options. This control deficiency resulted in adjustments to the Company’s fiscal year
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2006 annual and interim financial statements. Further, this control deficiency could result in material misstatements
to the Company’s annual or interim financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly,
management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness.

·  In conjunction with a license transaction consummated during the year ended September 30, 2006, management
became aware of a verbal agreement relating to the provision of professional services that was communicated to a
customer via a member of the sales organization. The financial statement impact of this verbal arrangement was
determined to be not material to the financial statements at September 30, 2006 and was deemed to be isolated in
nature; however, it indicated a need to improve the level of training that the sales staff should receive to ensure that
the sales staff fully understand that verbal arrangements are strictly prohibited by Company policy and that any
contract addendums should be communicated to the finance department. As a result, the Company determined that it
did not maintain effective control over the training of the sales force and the communication of issues impacting
revenue recognition to the finance department. This control deficiency did not result in adjustments to the
Company’s fiscal year 2006 annual or interim financial statements. However, this control deficiency could result in
material misstatements to the Company’s annual or interim financial statements that would not be prevented or
detected. Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness.
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These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our
audit of Chordiant Software, Inc.’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended September 30, 2006,
and this report does not affect our report dated February 9, 2007 on those financial statements.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Chordiant Software, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting as of September 30, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Also in our opinion, because of the effects of the material weaknesses described above on the
achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, Chordiant Software, Inc. has not maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO).

We do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on management’s statements regarding corrective action
taken by the Company after September 30, 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Chordiant Software, Inc. as of September 30, 2006 and
2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive loss, and cash
flows for each of the years then ended, and our report dated February 9, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

San Jose, California
February 9, 2007
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Our current directors and executive officers and the positions held by them are as follows:

Name Age Position

Steven R. Springsteel 49 Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Officer

Peter S. Norman 49
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer

Derek P. Witte 50
Vice President, General Counsel, Secretary and Chief Compliance
Officer

James D. St. Jean 40 Vice President of Worldwide Engineering

Frank J. Florence 53 Chief Marketing Officer

Prashant K. (PK) Karnik 51 Vice President and General Manager, Professional Services

William J. Raduchel,
Ph.D. 60 Director

Charles E. Hoffman 58 Director

David R. Springett, Ph.D. 71 Director

Richard G. Stevens 60 Director

David A. Weymouth 51 Director

Steven R. Springsteel, age 49, has been a director of ours since January 2004 and has been the chairman of the board
of directors since November 30, 2006. He has been our president and chief executive officer since February 2006.
From January 2003 to September 2005, he served as senior vice president of finance and administration and chief
financial officer of Verity, Inc., a public intellectual capital management software company, and from September 2005
to December 2005, its president and chief financial officer, at which point Verity was purchased by Autonomy
Corporation, plc. From November 2001 to January 2003, Mr. Springsteel served as the chief operating officer and
chief financial officer of Sagent Technology, Inc., a public business intelligence software company, whose assets were
acquired by Group 1 Software, Inc. in 2003. From October 2000 to November 2001, Mr. Springsteel served as the
chief operating officer and chief financial officer of NOCpulse, a software company (subsequently sold to Red Hat).
From November 1996 to October 2000, Mr. Springsteel served as our executive vice president and chief financial
officer. Mr. Springsteel holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Business Administration from Cleveland State University.

Peter S. Norman, age 49, has served as our vice president and, chief financial officer and principal accounting officer
since March 2006. From March 2005 to March 2006, he served as our vice president and corporate controller. From
August 2004 to March 2005 he served as our director of finance. Prior to joining Chordiant, Mr. Norman spent twelve
years in the audit practice of KPMG Peat Marwick LLP most recently as a senior manager. He also served in several
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senior financial and operational positions with several private companies. Mr. Norman holds a Bachelor of Science
Degree, cum laude, from Humboldt State University with a major in accounting. He is a Certified Public Accountant
(CPA), a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of the California State
Society of Certified Public Accountants.

Derek P. Witte, age 50, has served as our vice president, general counsel, secretary and chief compliance officer since
November 2005. From February, 2003 to November, 2005, Mr. Witte served as general counsel and secretary for the
Silicon Valley Bank and its holding company, SVB Financial Group, a financial services company. From March,
2001 until June, 2002, Mr. Witte served as vice president and general counsel for Tellme Networks, a privately-held
voice recognition software company. From 1990 until 2001, Mr. Witte was with Symantec Corporation, first as their
general counsel and later as their senior vice president of worldwide operations. Prior to his corporate technology
experience, Mr. Witte practiced law with Heller Ehrman White & McAuliffe in Palo Alto, California and Brobeck,
Phleger & Harrison, in San Francisco. Mr. Witte earned a bachelor’s degree with honors in economics from the
University of California, Berkeley and a law degree from the University’s School of Law (Boalt Hall).

James D. St. Jean, age 40, has served as our vice president of worldwide engineering since July 2005 and has been an
employee of ours since 2000 when we acquired White Spider, a knowledge management solutions company he
founded. From 2000 to July 2005, Mr. St. Jean served in several management positions, including vice president of
applications and vice
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president of design and architecture. From 1997 to 1999, he was vice president and chief architect of Vantive
Corporation, a public customer relationship management company. Prior to that, he was one of the founders of
Innovative Computer Concepts (ICC), a field service management solutions company. At ICC he served in several
management positions including director of development and vice president of development. ICC was acquired by
Vantive in 1997. Before that time, Mr. St. Jean served in various development, development management and project
management roles with Raytheon Corporation and Lockheed Corporation. Mr. St. Jean holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Computer Science from the University of New Hampshire.

Frank J. Florence, age 53, has served as our chief marketing officer since May 2006. From 2003 to 2006, he served
as senior vice president, marketing and corporate development, for Dorado Corporation, a solution provider for the
mortgage industry. From 2002 to 2003, he served as senior vice president, marketing, for InStranet, a sales, marketing
and service application provider. From 2000 to 2002, he served in several management positions for Interwoven, a
public enterprise content management company, including senior vice president, business units, corporate
development and vice president and general manager. From 1997 to 2000, he served as president and chief executive
officer of SmartDB, an ERP integration software platform company. Mr. Florence earned a bachelor of arts (summa
cum laude) and a masters of business administration from the University of Santa Clara, California.

Prashant K. (PK) Karnik, age 51, has served as our vice president and general manager, professional services, since
August 2006. From 2005 to 2006, he served as the senior vice president of professional services Dorado, a solution
provider for the mortgage industry. From 2003 to 2005, he served as the chief executive officer of Datanautics
(formerly Accrue Software), a global web analytics company.  From 2001 to 2003, he served as the chief operating
officer of Accrue Software, a global web analytics company. From 1999 to 2001, he served as the vice president of
professional services at Aspect Communications, a major CRM vendor. For over a decade prior to that, he held senior
management positions within Hewlett Packard’s global services organization. PK has a Bachelor’s Degree in
Mechanical Engineering from NIT India, a MS in Industrial Engineering from Rutgers University and a masters of
business administration from Southern New Hampshire University.

William J. Raduchel, Ph.D. age 60, has been a director of ours since February 2003, and previously served as a
director of ours between August 1998 and May 2001. Since February 2005, he has served as a director of Blackboard
Inc., a public company that provides enterprise software and services to the education industry. From March 2004
until June 2006, he served as the chairman and, from May 2004 to February 2006, chief executive officer of Ruckus
Network, a digital entertainment network for students at colleges and universities over the university network. Since
December 2005, Dr. Raduchel has served as a director of Silicon Image, Inc., a semiconductor company and
previously to that was a strategic advisor to that company from April 2003. From August 2006 he has been a director
of Opera Software, a Norwegian public company. From September 1999 through January 2001, he was chief
technology officer of AOL becoming chief technology officer of AOL Time Warner (now known as Time Warner
Inc.) at that time, a position he held through 2002. Dr. Raduchel received his undergraduate degree in economics from
Michigan State University, and earned his A.M. and Ph.D. degrees in economics at Harvard University.

Charles E. Hoffman, age 58, has been a director of ours since January 2005. Since June 2001, Mr. Hoffman has
served as the president, chief executive officer, and a director of Covad Communications Group, Inc., a public internet
communications and services company. From January 1998 to June 2001, Mr. Hoffman served as president and chief
executive officer of Rogers Wireless, Inc., a Canadian communications and media company. Mr. Hoffman holds a
Bachelor of Science degree and a masters of business administration from the University of Missouri — St. Louis.

David R. Springett, Ph.D., age 71, has been a director of ours since January 2000. Dr. Springett has served as
president of the Community College Foundation, an educational foundation, since February 1994. Dr. Springett also
held various positions during his 26-year career with Xerox Corporation, retiring in 1992 as Vice President of
Strategic Marketing. He is a board member of the California Vehicle Foundation and the California State Commission

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

221



on Welfare Reform and Training. Dr. Springett holds degrees from the Royal Military College of Canada, the
University of Toronto, Queen’s University and Harvard University.

Richard G. Stevens, age 60, has been a director of ours since March 2006. Mr. Stevens is the founder and managing
director of Hunter Stevens, LLC, a professional services firm that Mr. Stevens founded in 1995. Prior to founding
Hunter Stevens, Mr. Stevens served as a partner with both Ernst & Young LLP and Coopers & Lybrand LLP, both of
which are public accounting firms. Mr. Stevens had served as the chairman of the audit committee of Verity, Inc., a
software firm based in Sunnyvale, CA and at Pain Therapeutics, Inc., a bio-science company in South San Francisco.
Mr. Stevens holds a Bachelor of Science degree with honors from the University of San Francisco, and is a licensed
certified public accountant (CPA) in the state of California and a Certified Fraud Examiner.

David A. Weymouth, age 51, has been a director of ours since January 2005. Since July 2005, Mr. Weymouth has
acted as an independent consultant, including as an associate in the U.K with Deloitte & Touche LLP, a firm
providing audit, tax, consulting and corporate finance services. From January 2005 to June 2005, Mr. Weymouth
served as corporate responsibility director for Barclay’s Group, a U.K.-based financial services company. From
February 2000 until December 2004, Mr. Weymouth served as the group chief information officer for Barclay’s
Group. Prior to February 2000, Mr. Weymouth held a
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number of senior positions with Barclay’s Group, including managing director of service provision for retail and
corporate banking and chief operating officer of Corporate Banking. Mr. Weymouth holds a Bachelor degree in
French and a masters of business administration from University of London.

The Audit Committee

Chordiant has a separately-designated standing audit committee (the “Audit Committee”). Three independent directors
comprise the Audit Committee. They are Richard G. Stevens, David R. Springett, and David A. Weymouth. The
Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that Mr.Stevens qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” and
qualifies as independent, as defined in applicable SEC and NASDAQ rules. The Board made a qualitative assessment
of Mr. Steven’s level of knowledge and experience based on a number of factors, including his formal education and
experience as a chief financial officer for public reporting companies.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “1934 Act”) requires the Company’s directors and executive
officers, and persons who own more than ten percent of a registered class of the Company’s equity securities, to file
with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of common stock and other equity
securities of the Company. Officers, directors and greater than ten percent stockholders are required by SEC
regulation to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

To the Company’s knowledge, based solely on a review of the copies of such reports furnished to the Company, during
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to its officers, directors and
greater than ten percent beneficial owners were complied with.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

The Company has adopted the Chordiant Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”), which applies to all
directors, officers and employees. The Code is available on our website at
http://chrd.client.shareholder.com/documents.cfm. If the Company makes any substantive amendments to the Code or
grants any waiver from a provision of the Code to any director or executive officer, the Company will promptly
disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on its website at the address provided above.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table shows for the twelve months ended September 30, 2006, September 30, 2005 and September 30,
2004 compensation awarded or paid to, or earned by, our chief executive officer and our other most highly
compensated executive officers at September 30, 2006 (the “Named Executive Officers”):

Annual Compensation

Long Term
Compensation

Awards

Name and Principal
Position Year

Salary
($)

Bonus
($)

Restricted
Stock

Awards
($)

Securities
Underlying

Options
(#)

All Other
Compensation

($)

Steven R. Springsteel (1) 2006 330,800 62,370 — 1,000,000 3,750(2)
Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive 2005 — — — 12,500  —
Officer and President 2004 — — — 37,500  —

Peter S. Norman (3) 2006 220,319 62,408 — 125,000 4,660(4)
Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer 2005 175,282 83,018 — 55,000 4,406(5)

2004 22,229 — — 20,000 302(6)

James D. St. Jean (7) 2006 241,200 69,210 — 50,000 5,254(8)
Vice President, Worldwide
Engineering 2005 220,405 12,638 — 100,000 3,620(9)

2004 180,306 23,871 — 26,250 1,753(10)

Derek P. Witte (11) 2006 264,999 26,046 — 300,000 13,623(12)
Vice President and General
Counsel 2005 — — — —  —

2004 — — — —  —

Samuel T. Spadafora (13) 2006 251,200 — 398,750 (24) — 7,701(14)
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Strategy 2005 250,000 25,000 — — 8,429(26)
 Officer 2004 232,787 12,500 — 40,000 5,470(27)

Stephen P. Kelly (15) 2006 187,554 160,885 — — 225,996(16)
Chief Executive Officer 2005 385,590 19,580 226,750 —  31,306(17)

2004 351,791 79,702 — 75,000  29,825(28)

Robert U. Mullen (18) 2006 351,208 347,813 658,000 (25) — 4,552(19)
President, Worldwide Field
Operations 2005 740,241 239,563 692,250 (25) —  4,040(20)

2004 878,804 45,000 — 50,000  527

George A. De Urioste (21) 2006 175,600 176,319 — 200,000 151,989(22)

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

224



Chief Financial Officer and
Chief 2005 250,192 43,653 — 750,000 3,343(23)
Operating Officer 2004 — — — —  —

(1) Mr. Springsteel commenced working as our chief executive officer on February 1, 2006. Prior
to that date, he was a member of our Board of Directors and the options issued to him in 2005
and 2004 were under the 1999 Directors’ Plan.

(2) Includes $3,750 paid in 401(k) matching contributions.

(3) Mr. Norman commenced his position as Chief Financial Officer on March, 2006. He began
working for the Company on August 5, 2004. The amounts presented are based on these dates.

(4) Includes $3,750 paid in 401(k) matching contributions and $910 for group-term life insurance.
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(5) Includes $4,406 paid in 401(k) matching contributions.

(6) Includes $302 paid in 401(k) matching contributions.

(7) Mr. St. Jean commenced his position as vice president of Worldwide Engineering in July of 2005.

(8) Includes $4,506 paid in 401(k) matching contributions and $748 for group-term life insurance.

(9) Includes $3,620 paid in 401(k) matching contributions.

(10) Includes $1,753 paid in 401(k) matching contributions.

(11) Mr. Witte commenced his position as Vice President and General Counsel on November 3, 2005.

(12) Includes $3,977 paid in 401(k) matching contributions, $1,680 for group-term life insurance, $1,692 for
executive medical check-up, and $6,274 Mr. Witte was paid for his consultant services to the Company prior
to his start date.

(13) Mr. Spadafora resigned as a director and our chief strategy officer effective November 30, 2006.

(14) Includes $4,719 paid in 410(k) matching contributions, $1,000 paid by us for tax preparation fees, and $1,982
for executive medical check-up.

(15) Mr. Kelly resigned as our chief executive officer effective February 1, 2006 but remained an employee until
May 2, 2006.

(16) Mr. Kelly’s compensation was paid in Great Britain Pound Sterling and such amounts were converted from
pounds (£) to dollars ($) using the Company's month-end conversion rates. Includes $208,219 in severance
and $17,777 paid by us to Mr. Kelly’s individual pension plan.

(17) Consists of $31,306 pension plan matching contributions paid by us to Mr. Kelly’s individual pension plan.

(18) Mr. Mullen resigned as our president, worldwide field operations, effective August 8, 2006 but remained an
employee through December 31, 2006.

(19) Includes $3,750 paid in 401(k) matching contributions and $802 paid for group-term life insurance.

(20) Includes $540 for group-term life insurance and $3,500 in 401(k) matching contributions.

(21) Mr. de Urioste resigned as our chief operating officer and chief financial officer effective March 8, 2006 but
remained an employee until March 31, 2006.

(22) Includes $6,156 paid in 401(k) matching contributions and $145,833 paid out in severance.

(23) Includes $999 for group-term life insurance and $2,344 in 401(k) matching contributions.

(24)
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On September 30, 2006, Mr. Spadafora held restricted stock awards for 85,000 unvested shares of the
Company’s common stock with an aggregate market value of $260,950 based on a $3.07 fair market value on
that date.

The following table represents the fiscal year 2006 restricted stock award granted with the respective vesting
schedule:

Grant Date Number of
shares Vesting Schedule

February 2006 125,000 April 1 2006 - 20,000
Shares
July 1, 2006 - 20,000
Shares
October 1, 2006 -
20,000 Shares
January 1, 2007 -
20,000 Shares
April 1, 2007 - 20,000
Shares
October 1, 2007 -
25,000 Shares
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(25) On September 30, 2006, Mr. Mullen held restricted stock awards for 333,334 unvested shares of the
Company’s common stock with an aggregate market value of $1,023,335 based on a $3.07 fair market value on
that date.

The following table represents the fiscal year 2006 and 2005 restricted stock awards granted with the
respective vesting schedule:

Grant Date Number of
shares Vesting Schedule

August 2005 200,000 October 2005 - 66,666
Shares
October 2006 - 66,667
Shares
October 2007 - 66,667
Shares

April 2006 200,000 April 2007 - 66,666
Shares
April 2008 - 66,667
Shares
April 2009 - 66,667
Shares

(26) Includes $1,000 paid by the Company for tax preparation fees, $3,564 for group-term life insurance and
$3,865 in 401(k) matching contributions.

(27) Includes $3,564 for group-term life insurance and $1,906 in 401(k) matching contributions.

(28) Consists of $29,825 of pension plan matching contributions paid by us to Mr. Kelly’s individual pension plan.

Stock Option Grants and Exercises

We grant options to our executive officers under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”). As of September
30, 2006, options to purchase a total of 6,916,065 shares were outstanding under the Incentive Plan and options to
purchase 4,957,986 shares remained available for grant under the Incentive Plan.

The following tables show for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, certain information regarding options
granted to, exercised by, and held at year-end by, the Named Executive Officers:

Option Grants in the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2006
Individual Grants

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Options
Granted

% of Total
Options

Granted to
Employees

in

Exercise
Price

Expiration Potential Realizable
Value at Assumed

Annual Rates of Stock Price
Appreciation for
Option Term (1)
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Twelve
Months
Ended

September
30,

Name (2) (#) 2006 (3) (4)($/Sh) Date 5%($) 10%($)
Steven R. Springsteel 1,000,000 27.4% $ 3.19 02/01/2016 $2,006,174 $5,084,038
Peter S. Norman 70,000 1.9% 2.99 01/17/2016 131,628 333,570

55,000 1.5% 3.36 03/08/2016 116,220 294,524
James J. St. Jean 50,000 1.4% 3.19 02/01/2016 100,309 254,202
Derek P. Witte 300,000 8.2% 2.65 11/03/2015 499,971 1,267,025
Samuel T. Spadafora
(5) — — — — — —
Stephen P. Kelly (6) — — — — — —
Robert U. Mullen (7) — — — — — —
George A. de Urioste
(8) 200,000(9) 5.5% $ 3.19 02/01/2016 $ 401,235 $1,016,808

(1) The potential realizable value information is calculated based on the ten-year term of the
option at the time of grant. Stock price appreciation of 5% and 10% is assumed as prescribed
by the rules promulgated by the SEC and does not represent our prediction of our future stock
price performance.

(2) Each of the options has a ten-year term, subject to earlier termination if the option holder’s
service with us ceases.

(3) Percentages shown are based on an aggregate of options granted to our employees under our
stock option plans during the period from October 1, 2005 through September 30, 2006.
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(4) The exercise price of each option is equal to the fair market value of our common stock as
valued by the Board on the date of grant. The exercise price may be paid in cash, in shares of
our common stock valued at fair market value on the date of exercise, or through a cashless
exercise procedure involving a same-day sale of the purchased shares.

(5) Mr. Spadafora resigned as a director and our chief strategy officer effective November 30,
2006.

(6) Mr. Kelly resigned as our chief executive officer effective February 1, 2006 but remained an
employee until May 2, 2006.

(7) Mr. Mullen resigned as our president, worldwide field operations, effective August 8, 2006 but
remained an employee through December 31, 2006.

(8) Mr. de Urioste resigned as our chief operating officer and chief financial officer effective
March 8, 2006 but remained an employee until March 31, 2006.

(9) In February 2006 Mr. de Urioste received a grant of 200,000 options. As of March 31, 2006,
4,166 stock options from this grant had vested, all of which have been exercised. His options
which were unvested as of March 31, 2006 have expired.

Aggregated Option Exercises in the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2006
and September 30, 2006 Option Values

Name

Shares
Acquired

on
Exercise

(#)

Value
Realized

(1)($)

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised

Options at
September 30, 2006 (#)

Value of Unexercised
In-the-Money Options at
September 30, 2006(2)($)

Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
Steve R Springsteel — $ — 195,832 854,168 $ 5,125 $ —
Peter S. Norman — — 93,541 106,459 85,983 4,667
James D. St. Jean — — 299,046 42,709 342,522 —
Derek P. Witte — — 83,332 216,688 34,999 91,001
Samuel T. Spadafora
(3) 100,000 207,000 980,919 — 1,863,675 —
Stephen P. Kelly (4) — — 330,905 — 312,568 —
Robert U. Mullen (5) — — 532,000 — 687,612 —
George A. de Urioste
(6) 404,165 $ 447,960 — — $ — $ —

(1) Based on the fair market value of our common stock on the exercise date, minus the exercise
price, multiplied by the number of shares exercised.

(2) Based on $3.07, the fair market value of our common stock as of September 29, 2006, minus
the exercise price, multiplied by the number of shares underlying the unexercised options.
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(3) Mr. Spadafora resigned as a director, as our chief strategy officer and as an employee on
November 30, 2006.

(4) Mr. Kelly resigned as our chief executive officer effective February 1, 2006 but remained an
employee until May 2, 2006.

(5) Mr. Mullen resigned as our president, worldwide field operations, effective August 1, 2006 but
remained an employee until December 31, 2006.

(6) Mr. de Urioste resigned as our chief operating officer and chief financial officer effective
March 8, 2006 but remained an employee until March 31, 2006.
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EMPLOYMENT AND CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENTS

Employment Agreements

Effective February 1, 2006, we entered into an offer letter with Mr. Springsteel pursuant to which he became our
president and chief executive officer. Mr. Springsteel will be paid an annual base salary of $495,000. Mr. Springsteel
received a grant of an option to purchase 1,000,000 shares of our common stock. The option is subject to a four-year
vesting schedule (1/48 th per month). Mr. Springsteel received bonuses of $62,370 under our 2006 Executive Bonus
Plan for the 2006 fiscal year. Mr. Springsteel is eligible for all standard employee benefits, including four weeks paid
vacation and medical and dental coverage and a term life insurance policy in the amount of $1,000,000 (with
premiums paid by us). For purposes of benefits, he was given service credit for his prior tenure with us.

In the event of the consummation of a “change in control” (as defined in the offer letter), we will accelerate the vesting
of any equity compensation that he has been granted as of the effective date of the change in control such that the
equity compensation shall be fully vested for an additional twelve (12) month period as of the effective date of the
change in control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the option to purchase one million shares of common stock granted
as of February 1, 2006 will vest 100% as of the effective date of the change in control.

Either we or Mr. Springsteel may terminate his employment relationship at any time with or without “cause” (as defined
in the offer letter) on advance notice. If we terminate his employment without cause at any time, or Mr. Springsteel
resigns his employment for “good reason” (as defined in the offer letter) at any time, then: (i) we will make severance
payments to Mr. Springsteel in the form of monthly payments in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars
($100,000) per month for ten (10) months following the termination date, and (ii) the vesting of any equity
compensation that he has been granted through the last day of his employment will automatically accelerate such that
the shares subject to each grant that would have vested had he remained employed for one year beyond the
termination date will be fully vested for such additional one year period as of the termination date. Such acceleration
shall be in addition to any accelerated vesting he previously received upon the consummation of a change of control
(if any). If he resigns without good reason or his employment is terminated for cause, all compensation and benefits
will cease immediately, and he will receive no further compensation or benefits from us. We agreed to directly pay
Mr. Springsteel’s legal fees associated with entering into the offer letter, up to $15,000, upon receiving invoices for
such services.

In the event that the payments and benefits provided for in the offer letter constitute “parachute payments” within the
meaning of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), would be subject to the
excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code, we are obligated to pay such excise tax provided that the maximum
amount of the excise tax gross - up payment which we shall be obligated to pay shall be $1,500,000.

Effective February 1, 2006, we entered into a separation agreement with Stephen Kelly. Under the terms of that
agreement, Mr. Kelly resigned as our chief executive officer but was entitled to continue as an employee of ours, but
not as an officer, until May 2, 2006. Mr. Kelly resigned from the Board of Directors on August 1, 2006. We agreed to
pay Mr. Kelly severance payments equal to his base salary of $400,000 for twelve months following the date of
termination, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings. Additionally, Mr. Kelly received his bonus for
the first two quarters of fiscal 2006 under the 2006 Executive Bonus Plan in the amount of $70,107. Pursuant to the
terms of his employment agreement, Mr. Kelly received accelerated vesting of 50% of the unvested options held by
him on May 2, 2006, which resulted in acceleration of 20,139 options. Additionally, we agreed to reimburse Mr. Kelly
for up to $7,000 for outplacement and legal services upon receipt of invoices for such services.

Effective March 8, 2006, we entered into a separation agreement with George de Urioste. Under the terms of that
agreement, Mr. de Urioste resigned as our chief operating officer and chief financial officer but was entitled to
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continue as an employee of ours, but not as an officer, until March 31, 2006 under the current terms of his
employment. We agreed to pay Mr. de Urioste severance in the amount of $145,833, payable over five months
following the date of termination, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings. For five months thereafter,
we agreed to reimburse Mr. de Urioste for premium payments sufficient to continue his group health insurance
coverage at the level in effect as of the date of termination.

Effective August 1, 2006, we entered into a separation agreement with Robert Mullen. Under the terms of that
agreement, Mr. Mullen resigned as our president, worldwide field operations, but was entitled to continue as an
employee of ours, but not as an officer, until December 31, 2006. We agreed to pay Mr. Mullen severance in the
amount of $29,167 per month, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings, until the earlier of June 30,
2007 or the date Mr. Mullen commences employment with another company. Additionally, Mr. Mullen received his
bonus of $134,630 for the June quarter and $80,583 for the September quarter of 2006 under the 2006 Executive
Bonus Plan and under the Chordiant Fiscal Year 2006 Special Profitability Bonus for President, Worldwide Field
Operations. Additionally, he will be entitled to a bonus for the December quarter of calendar 2006 based on a
quarterly target of $125,000. The bonus for the December quarter will be determined under the same terms and
conditions as the 2006 Executive Bonus Plan provided that there will be a 200% cap on the amount that can be paid.
Following termination of his employment with the Company until June 30, 2007, we agreed to reimburse Mr. Mullen
for premium payments sufficient to continue his group health insurance coverage at the level in effect as of the date of
termination. His right to such payments shall cease on the date that he becomes eligible for group health insurance
benefits through a new employer.

Effective November 30, 2006, we entered into a separation agreement with Samuel T. Spadafora. Under the terms of
that agreement, Mr. Spadafora resigned as a director, as our chief strategy officer and as an employee, effective
immediately. We agreed to pay Mr. Spadafora severance in the amount of $125,000, subject to standard payroll
deductions and withholdings. We agreed to extend the post-termination exercise period applicable to Mr. Spadafora’s
outstanding options to the later of (i) the original expiration of the post-termination exercise period of the options (as
set forth in the applicable stock option agreements) or (ii) the last day of the 30-day period measured from the first day
that the options can be exercised in compliance with applicable securities laws (e.g., the 30th day following the date
on which our Registration Statement on Form S-8 is “re-activated”), but in no event later than the expiration of the ten
year term of the options. In all other respects, the options will continue to be governed by the terms and conditions of
the options and the governing plan documents. Mr. Spadafora will be entitled to reimbursement of the premiums for
health insurance for himself and his dependents through May 30, 2009. 

Change of Control Agreements

We have entered into Change of Control Agreements with Peter S. Norman, James D. St. Jean and Derek P. Witte
(each an “Executive”). We may in the future enter into these agreements with other executives of ours. The agreement
with Mr. Norman provides that if he is terminated either without “cause,” as defined in the agreements, or voluntarily
leaves employment for “good reason,” as defined in the agreements, within 90 days prior to a “change of control,” as
defined in the agreements, or 12 months following a change of control, then he will receive, among other benefits, the
following: (1) payment of his salary for a period of 12 months, (2) payment of his annual bonus, (3) continuation of
our health and life insurance policies for one year, (4) so long as not prohibited by law, automatic extension of 60
months to repay any promissory note, loan or other indebtedness to us, and (5) with respect to options and restricted
stock, accelerated vesting of a number of shares equal to the greater of (a) 50% of the then-unvested shares, or (b) 12
months’ worth of vesting. The agreements with Messrs. Witte and St. Jean provide generally that if the Executive is
terminated either without “cause,” as defined in the agreements, or voluntarily leaves employment for “good reason,” as
defined in the agreements, within 90 days prior to a “change of control,” as defined in the agreements, or 12 months
following a change of control, then the Executive will receive, among other benefits, the following: (1) payment of the
Executive’s salary for a period of 6 months in the case of Mr. St. Jean and 12 months in the case of Mr. Witte, (2)
payment of the Executive’s annual bonus, (3) continuation of our health and life insurance policies for six months in
the case of Mr. St. Jean and 12 months in the case of Mr. Witte, and (4) with respect to options and restricted stock,

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

233



accelerated vesting of a number of shares equal to the lesser of (a) 50% of the then-unvested shares, or (b) 12 months’
worth of vesting. These agreements also obligate us to make additional payments to the executive in the event the
benefits result in the recipient having to pay certain excise taxes.

The offer letter we entered into with Mr. Springsteel contains terms regarding a change of control. In the event of the
consummation of a “change in control,” as defined in the offer letter, we will accelerate the vesting of any equity
compensation that he has been granted as of the effective date of the change in control such that the equity
compensation shall be fully vested for an additional twelve (12) month period as of the effective date of the change in
control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the option to purchase one million shares of common stock granted as of
February 1, 2006 will vest 100% as of the effective date of the change in control.

Compensation of Directors

Non-employee directors receive cash compensation from us for their services as members of the Board or for
attendance at committee meetings as follows: Directors receive a quarterly retainer of $7,500 for service as a member
of the Board (subject to attendance at three out of four regularly scheduled meetings). Directors also receive $1,500
per meeting of the Audit Committee, not to exceed $6,000 per quarter, and $1,500 per meeting of the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee, not to exceed $3,000 per quarter. Chairs of the Compensation Committee,
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and Strategy Committee each receive $2,000 per quarter. The
Chair of the Audit Committee receives $3,000 per quarter. The Lead Independent Director receives $2,000 per quarter
and, for a special assignment for the period January through September 2005, $1,500 per meeting not to exceed
$6,000 per quarter. Effective October 1, 2006, the Board eliminated the limit on quarterly attendance fees for
Committee meetings. Other committees do not carry separate cash compensation. Directors are also eligible for
reimbursement for expenses incurred in connection with attendance at Board meetings in accordance with our policy.

Each non-employee director receives stock option grants under the 1999 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan
(the “Directors’ Plan”) (only non-employee directors of ours or of an affiliate of ours are eligible to receive options under
the Directors’ Plan). Options granted under the Directors’ Plan are non-discretionary and are intended by us not to
qualify as incentive stock options.

Under the Directors’ Plan, each non-employee director is automatically entitled to receive an initial option to purchase
25,000 shares of our common stock. Pursuant to the terms of the Directors’ Plan, initial grants to purchase 25,000
shares of our common stock were made to those non-employee directors serving on the Board on February 14, 2000,
the effective date of our initial public offering. Each director elected or appointed subsequent to February 14, 2000 has
received or will receive an initial option to purchase 25,000 shares of our common stock on the date of such
non-employee director’s election or appointment to the
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Board. These option grants are immediately exercisable with 1/3rd of the shares vesting on the anniversary of the
grant date and 1/36th of the shares initially granted vesting each month thereafter that the director serves on the Board,
such that all shares are fully vested over three years.

In addition, on the day after each of our annual meetings of stockholders, each person who is then a non-employee
director is automatically granted an annual option to purchase 7,500 shares of our common stock. These annual option
grants are immediately exercisable, with the shares vesting in equal monthly installments over a year period measured
from the date of grant. If a non-employee director is appointed to the Board between annual meetings, the annual
option is prorated to reflect the amount of time to be served until the next annual meeting.

Finally, on the day after each of our annual meetings, each non-employee director who is then serving on a Board
committee will automatically receive, pursuant to the terms of the Directors’ Plan, an option to purchase 5,000 shares
of our common stock. The option is exercisable immediately and vests monthly over the year period measured from
the date of grant. If the non-employee director is appointed to a committee after the annual meeting, the option is
prorated according to the time to be served until the next annual meeting.

The exercise price of options granted under the Directors’ Plan is the fair market value of our common stock on the
date of the grant, as determined by the closing price reported on the Nasdaq National Market for the date of grant.
Each option grant made pursuant to the Directors’ Plan has a term of ten years. However, the time in which an option
granted under the Directors’ Plan may be exercised ends three months from the date the optionee’s service with us is
terminated, with the exception of termination resulting from death or disability of the optionee, in which case the
option terminates 18 months following such optionee’s death and 12 months following such optionee’s disability. In no
event, however, may an option be exercised after its term expires. In addition, in the event of a dissolution,
liquidation, sale of substantially all of our assets, a merger or consolidation in which we are not the surviving
corporation, a reverse merger in which we are the surviving corporation but the shares of our common stock
outstanding immediately preceding the merger are converted by virtue of the merger into other property or the
acquisition by any
person, entity or group of the beneficial ownership of our securities representing at least 50% of the combined voting
power permitted to vote in the election of directors, then those unvested options issued under the Directors’ Plan held
by optionees then performing services as an employee or director of, or consultant to, us are accelerated by one year.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During fiscal year 2006, the Compensation Committee consisted of Messrs. Raduchel, Hoffman and Springett. None
of the Company’s executive officers serve as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any
entity that has one or more executive officers serving as a member of our Board or compensation committee.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION (1)

The following table provides certain information with respect to all of our equity compensation plans in effect as of
September 30, 2006:

Plan Category

Number of
securities to be

issued upon
exercise of

outstanding
options, warrants,

and rights(a)

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding
options, warrants

and rights ($/sh)(b)

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation

plans (excluding
securities reflected in

column (a))(#)(c)

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 7,323,565 $ 2.68 9,655,060 (2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders 1,833,574 $ 1.98 455,814
Total 9,157,139 $ 2.54 10,110,874

(1)  Upon our acquisition of Prime Response, Inc. and White Spider Software, Inc. in 2001 and 2000, respectively, we
assumed outstanding options of Prime Response and White Spider such that these options became exercisable for
an aggregate of 768,560 shares of our common stock at a weighted-average exercise price of $9.21 per share. As
of September 30, 2006, 61,749 options of Prime Response, Inc. and White Spider Software, Inc are still
outstanding with a weighted-average exercise price of $1.09. The option plans governing these options terminated
other than with respect to the outstanding options, and no options will be granted in the future pursuant to these
plans. These plans were not approved by our stockholders, as no approval was required and the plans were not
assumed by us. The shares referenced in this note are not included in any of the numbers set forth in the table.

(2)  Included in the 9,655,060 shares available for future issuance under approved equity compensation plans as of
September 30, 2006 are 3,557,896 shares related to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

The amount reserved under the 1999 Directors’ Plan automatically increases on October 1st of each year by the greater
of (1) 0.5% outstanding shares on such date or (2) the number of shares subject to stock awards made under this plan
during the prior twelve month period. However, the automatic increase is subject to reduction by the Board of
Directors. In January of 2007 the Board of Directors approved a proposal to have the stockholders approve an
amendment to the 1999 Directors Plan so that there will no longer be automatic annual increases to the 1999 Directors’
Plan. The amount reserved under the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan automatically increases on October 1st of
each year by the greater of (1) 2% outstanding shares on such date or (2) the number of shares subject to stock awards
made under this plan during the prior twelve month period. However, the automatic increase is subject to reduction by
the Board of Directors.

In March of 2000 the Board adopted our 2000 Nonstatutory Equity Incentive Plan (the “2000 Plan”). Stockholder
approval of this plan has not been obtained. The 2000 Plan was in effect as of December 31, 2001. In April of 2002,
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the Board approved an increase to the number of shares reserved under the 2000 Plan from 900,000 shares to
2,400,000 shares, also without stockholder approval as such approval was not required by the 2000 Plan or by
applicable law. The 2000 Plan does not have a termination date, and will continue indefinitely until suspended or
terminated by the Board. The 2000 Plan provides for the grant of nonstatutory stock options and the issuance of
restricted stock and stock bonuses to our employees (other than officers, directors, or beneficial owners of ten percent
(10%) or more of our common stock) and consultants who meet certain eligibility requirements. The terms and price
of nonstatutory stock options granted under the 2000 Plan are determined by the Board (or a committee of the Board)
and are set forth in each optionee’s option agreement. The Board (or a committee of the Board) sets the terms of stock
bonuses and rights to purchase restricted stock. In January 2007, the Board amended the 2000 Plan to reduce the
number of shares available for future issuance to zero. No additional stock options will be granted under the 2000
Nonstatutory Equity Incentive Plan.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the ownership of our common stock as of December 31,
2006 by: (i) each director and nominee for director; (ii) each of the executive officers named in the Summary
Compensation Table; and (iii) all of our executive officers and directors as a group. In addition, the table sets forth
certain information regarding the ownership of our common stock by all those known by us to be beneficial owners of
more than five percent of our common stock as of the dates noted below.

Beneficial Ownership(1)

Beneficial Owner
Number of

Shares
Percent of

Total

Five Percent Stockholders:

Paul Orlin LLC
(as of 9/30/06) 7,120,975 8.9%
666 5th Avenue, 34th floor
New York, NY 10103

Institutional Venture Management X,
LLC
(as of 5/15/06) 4,500,000 5.6%
3000 Sand Hill Road, Building 2, Suite 290
Menlo Park, CA 94025

Directors, Nominees and Executive
Officers:
Steven R. Springsteel 319,999(2) *
Peter S. Norman 82,255(3) *
Derek P. Witte 124,999(4) *
James D St. Jean 419,995(5) *
William J. Raduchel 141,406(6) *
Charles E. Hoffman 43,610(7) *
David R. Springett 126,250(8) *
Richard G. Stevens 6,250(9) *
David A. Weymouth 38,610 (10) *
Samuel T. Spadafora (11) 1,457,118(12) 1.8%
Stephen P. Kelly (13) 957,092(14) 1.2%
Robert U. Mullen (15) 1,191,258(16) 1.5%
George A. de Urioste (17) — —
All executive officers and directors as a
group (15 persons) 4,908,842 6.2%

* Less than one percent. 

(1) This table is based upon information supplied by our executive
officers, directors and principal stockholders and Schedules 13D and
13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
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Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes to this table, and subject to
community property laws were applicable, we believe that each of the
stockholders named in this table has sole voting and investment power
with respect to the shares indicated as beneficially owned. Applicable
percentages are based on 80,108,920 shares outstanding on December
31, 2006 adjusted as required by rules promulgated by the SEC.
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(2) Consists of (a) 10,000 shares, (b) 10,000 shares held by two of Mr.
Springsteel’s children, and (c) 299,999 shares issuable upon the
exercise of outstanding options that are exercisable within sixty days
of December 31, 2006.

(3) Consists of 82,255 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
options that are exercisable within sixty (60) days of December 31,
2006.

(4) Consists of 124,999 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
options that are exercisable within sixty (60) days of December 31,
2006.

(5) Consists of (a) 161,757 shares acquired as part of our purchase of
White Spider, Inc. which includes 17,318 shares held by his spouse,
and (b) 240,920 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
options that are exercisable within sixty (60) days of December 31,
2006.

(6) Consists of (a) 60,156 shares and (b) 81,250 shares issuable upon the
exercise of outstanding options that are exercisable within sixty (60)
days of December 31, 2006.

(7) Consists of 43,610 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
options that are exercisable within sixty (60) days of December 31,
2006.

(8) Consists of 126,250 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
options that are exercisable within sixty (60) days of December 31,
2006.

(9) Consists of 6,250 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
options that are exercisable within sixty (60) days of December 31,
2006.

(10) Consists of 38,610 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
options that are exercisable within sixty (60) days of December 31,
2006.

(11) Mr. Spadafora resigned as a director and as our chief strategy officer,
effective November 30, 2006.

(12) Consists of (a) 483,977 shares held by the Samuel T. and Cheryl M.
Spadafora 1992 Family Trust and (b) 973,141 shares issuable upon
the exercise of outstanding options that are exercisable within sixty
(60) days of December 31, 2006.
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(13) Mr. Kelly resigned as our chief executive officer effective February 1,
2006 but remained an employee through May 2, 2006.

(14) Consists of (a) 388,364 shares, (b) 237,823 shares held by Mr. Kelly’s
spouse and (c) 330,905 shares issuable upon the exercise of
outstanding options that are exercisable within sixty (60) days of
December 31, 2006.

(15) Mr. Mullen resigned as our president, worldwide field operations,
effective August 8, 2006 but remained an employee through
December 31, 2006.

(16) Consists of (a) 667,592 shares and (b) 523,666 shares issuable upon
the exercise of outstanding options that are exercisable within sixty
(60) days of December 31, 2006.

(17) Mr. de Urioste resigned as our chief operating officer and chief
financial officer effective March 8, 2006 but remained an employee
through March 31, 2006.

We know of no arrangements, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in the change of control of
Chordiant.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

In August 2005, the Company entered into a service provider agreement with Infogain. Samuel T. Spadafora, one of
our former directors and executive officers, is a director of Infogain. Mr. Spadafora terminated his relationship with
the Company in November 2006. Pursuant to the service provider agreement, revenue from Infogain was $0.4 million
and less than $0.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Cost of services provided to
Infogain was $.7 million and zero for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 respectively. Accounts receivable
was less than $0.1 million and less than $0.1 million as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Payments and
corresponding accounts payable to Infogain were $1.1 million and less than $0.1 million for years ended September
30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In January 2005, Charles E. Hoffman became a director of the Company. Mr. Hoffman is the President and Chief
Executive Officer of Covad Communications Group, Inc. (“Covad”), a customer of ours. Pursuant to a software license
and services agreement, revenue from Covad was $0.2 million and $1.1 million for the years ended September 30,
2006 and 2005, respectively. Accounts receivable was $0.1 million and approximately zero as of September 30, 2006
and 2005, respectively. Deferred revenue was $0.1 million and $0.1 million as of September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

In January 2005, David A. Weymouth became a director of the Company. Through June 2005 Mr. Weymouth was the
Corporate Responsibility Director of Barclay’s Group, a customer of ours. Pursuant to software license agreements,
software maintenance agreements, and professional services agreements, revenue from Barclay’s Group was
approximately $7.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. Accounts receivable was $0.3 million as of
September 30, 2005. Deferred revenue as of September 30, 2005 was $0.3 million as of September 30, 2005.

Mr. Weymouth terminated his relationship with Barclay’s Group and became an associate with Deloitte & Touche
LLP, a prior provider of tax services to the Company. Payments made to Deloitte and Touche LLP, were $0.1 million
and $0.6 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and officers for the indemnification of and
advancement of expenses to these persons to the full extent permitted by law. We also intend to execute these
agreements with our future directors and officers.

Except for our service provider agreement with Infogain, all transactions between us and our officers, directors and
principal stockholders must be approved by a committee of independent and disinterested directors.

We do not have any formal policy concerning the direct or indirect pecuniary interest of any of our officers, directors,
security holders or affiliates in any investment to be acquired or disposed of by us or in any transaction to which we
are a party or have an interest. We will not enter into any such transactions unless approved by a majority of the entire
Board, not including any interested director.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

BDO Seidman, LLP. The following table represents aggregate fees for professional services billed (including
estimated final billing for fiscal 2006 audit fees) to Chordiant for services rendered for the years ended September 30,
2006 and 2005 by BDO Seidman, LLP, Chordiant’s independent registered public accounting firm since July 2005.
BDO Seidman, LLP did not render any services to Chordiant prior to that date.

Year Ended
September 30,

2006

Year Ended
September 30,

2005
Audit Fees
Aggregate fees for professional services rendered for the audits of the
consolidated financial statements of the Company, reviews of our interim
financial statements, statutory and subsidiary audits, consents, income
tax compliance procedures, internal control over financial reporting, and
assistance with review of documents filed with the SEC: $ 1,710,000 $ 1,257,292

Audit-Related Fees
Aggregate fees for assurance and related services including benefit plan
audits and consultation on acquisitions: — —

Tax Fees
Aggregate fees for tax services rendered for tax return preparation,
tax-payment planning services, tax audits and appeals, tax services for
employee benefit plans and requests for rulings or technical advice: 13,500 —

All Other Fees — —
Total $ 1,723,500 $ 1,257,292

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. The following table represents aggregate fees for professional services billed to
Chordiant for services rendered for the interim periods during the year ended September 30, 2005, by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chordiant’s principal accountant until May 2005.

Year Ended
September 30,

2005
Audit Fees
Aggregate fees for professional services rendered for the audits of the
consolidated financial statements of the Company, statutory and
subsidiary audits, consents, income tax provision procedures, and
assistance with review of documents filed with the SEC: $ 310,000

Audit-Related Fees
Aggregate fees for assurance and related services including benefit plan
audits and consultation on acquisitions: —

Tax Fees
10,681

Edgar Filing: CHORDIANT SOFTWARE INC - Form 10-K

243



Aggregate fees for tax services rendered for tax return preparation,
tax-payment planning services, tax audits and appeals, tax services for
employee benefit plans and requests for rulings or technical advice:

All Other Fees 1,125
Total $ 321,806

Pre-Approval of Services

Before the independent accountant is engaged by the Company or its subsidiaries to render audit or non-audit services,
the Audit Committee must pre-approve the engagement. Audit Committee pre-approval of audit and non-audit
services will not be required if the engagement for the services is entered into pursuant to pre-approval policies and
procedures established by the Audit Committee regarding the Company’s engagement of the independent accountant,
provided the policies and procedures are
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detailed as to the particular service, the Audit Committee is informed of each service provided and such policies and
procedures do not include delegation of the Audit Committee’s responsibilities under the Exchange Act to the
Company’s management. The Audit Committee may delegate to one or more designated members of the Audit
Committee the authority to grant pre-approvals, provided such approvals are presented to the Audit Committee at a
subsequent meeting. If the Audit Committee elects to establish pre-approval policies and procedures regarding
non-audit services, the Audit Committee must be informed of each non-audit service provided by the independent
auditor. The Audit Committee pre-approval of non-audit services (other than review and attest services) also will not
be required if such services fall within available exceptions established by the SEC. As such, the engagement of BDO
Seidman, LLP and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to render 100% of the services described in the categories above was
approved by the Audit Committee in advance of the rendering of those services.

The Audit Committee has determined tax compliance services by BDO Seidman, LLP referred to in the table above
under “All other Fees” is compatible with maintaining the accountant’s independence and these services have been
pre-approved. We have also retained Deloitte & Touche LLP until January 2006 to provide us with tax services.
Starting in February 2006, we retained Armanino McKenna LLP to provide tax services.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)

1.  Index to Financial Statements

Please see the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, which appears on page 62 of this
report. The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Financial Statements and Notes to
Financial Statements which are listed in the Index to Financial Statements and which appear beginning on
page 69 of this report are included in Item 8 above.

2.  Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 and the nine months
ended September 30, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Charged to
Expenses Deductions

Balance at
End of Period

Allowance for doubtful accounts
2006 $ 214 $ (9) $ (122) $ 83
2005 $ 111 $ 103 $ — $ 214
2004 $ 133 $ — $ (22) $ 111
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance
2006 $ 83,350 $ 5,567 $ — $ 88,917
2005 (restated)(1) $ 63,615 $ 19,735 $ — $ 83,350
2004 (restated)(1) $ 68,087 $ (4,472) $ — $ 63,615

(1) - See Note 3 - “Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for a discussion of these adjustments.

Schedules not listed have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is
included in the Financial Statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit
Number Description of Document

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated July 19, 2000, between Chordiant Software, Inc., White
Spider Software, Inc. and the Sellers of capital stock of White Spider Software, Inc. (filed
as Exhibit 99.1 with Chordiant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 000-29357) filed on
August 3, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

2.2
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Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of January 8, 2001, by and
among Chordiant Software, Inc., Puccini Acquisition Corp. and Prime Response, Inc.
(included as Annex A to the joint proxy statement/prospectus filed with Amendment No.
1 to Chordiant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (No. 333-54856) filed on February
26, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).

2.3 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of March 28, 2002, by and
among Chordiant Software, Inc., OnDemand Acquisition Corp. and OnDemand, Inc.
(filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Chordiant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 12, 2002
and incorporated herein by reference).

2.4 Share Purchase Agreement, dated December 8, 2004, between Chordiant Software
International, Inc. and the persons named therein (filed as Exhibit 2.4 to Chordiant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 24, 2004 and filed on December 27, 2004
and incorporated herein by reference). (1)
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Exhibit
Number Description of Document

2.5 Deed of Trust, dated December 8, 2004, between Chordiant Software International, Inc.
and KiQ Limited (filed as Exhibit 2.5 to Chordiant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
December 24, 2004 and filed on December 27, 2004 and incorporated herein by
reference).

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Chordiant Software, Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 3.1 with Chordiant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-92187) filed on
December 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Chordiant Software, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 with
Chordiant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2, 2006 and incorporated
herein by reference).

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.2 with Amendment No. 2 to
Chordiant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-92187) filed on February 7,
2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

4.2 Warrant agreement, dated August 12, 2002, by and between Chordiant Software, Inc. and
International Business Machines Corporation (“IBM”) (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to Chordiant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 15, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference).

4.3 Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 22, 2004, by and between Chordiant
Software, Inc., and Acqua Wellington Opportunity I Limited (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to
Chordiant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 26, 2004 and incorporated
herein by reference)

4.4 Warrant, dated February 28, 1999, issued to GAP Coinvestment Partners II, L.P. (filed as
Exhibit 10.19 with Prime Response’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No.
333-92461) filed on December 10, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).

4.5 Warrant, dated December 9, 1999, issued to General Atlantic Partners 52, L.P. (filed as
Exhibit 10.20 with Prime Response’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No.
333-92461) filed on December 10, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).

4.6 Warrant, dated December 9, 1999, issued to Accenture (Formerly known as Andersen
Consulting), L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.25 with Prime Response’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (No. 333-92461) filed on December 10, 1999 and incorporated herein by
reference).

4.7 Warrant, dated December 9, 1999, issued to Accenture (Formerly known as Andersen
Consulting), L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.26 with Prime Response’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (No. 333-92461) filed on December 10, 1999 and incorporated herein by
reference).
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4.8 Warrant, dated December 9, 1999, issued to Accenture (Formerly known as Andersen
Consulting), L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.27 with Prime Response’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (No. 333-92461) filed on December 10, 1999 and incorporated herein by
reference).

4.9 Warrant, dated September 4, 2001, issued to Accenture plc (filed as Exhibit 4.9 to
Chordiant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/T on March 29, 2005 and incorporated herein
by reference).

10.1* 1999 Equity Incentive Plan and Form of Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2
with Chordiant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-92187) filed on December
6, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.2* 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.3 with Chordiant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-92187) filed on December 6, 1999 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.3* 1999 Non-Employee Directors’ Plan as amended and restated (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to
Chordiant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 10, 2004 and incorporated
herein by reference).
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Exhibit
Number Description of Document

10.4* Form of Stock Option Agreement of 1999 Non-Employee Directors’ Plan (filed as Exhibit
10.4 with Amendment No. 1 to Chordiant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No.
333-92187) filed on January 19, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5* 2000 Nonstatutory Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 99.2 with Chordiant’s S-8
Registration Statement (No. 333-42844) filed on August 2, 2000 and incorporated herein
by reference).

10.6 Cupertino City Center Net Office Lease, dated June 19, 1998, by and between Cupertino
City Center Buildings, as Lessor, and Chordiant Software, Inc., as Lessee (filed as Exhibit
10.5 with Amendment No. 1 to Chordiant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No.
333-92187) filed on January 19, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.7* Employment Letter Agreement of Samuel T. Spadafora dated April 24, 1998, by
Chordiant Software, Inc. and agreed to and accepted by Samuel T. Spadafora (filed as
Exhibit 10.8 with Amendment No. 1 to Chordiant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-92187) filed on January 19, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.8 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated August 31, 2000, by and
between Chordiant Software, Inc. and Imperial Bank (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Chordiant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 15, 2002 and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.9 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated October
19, 2001, by and between Chordiant Software, Inc. and Comerica Bank-California,
successor in interest to Imperial Bank (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Chordiant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 15, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.10* Change of Control Agreement, dated April 27, 2001, by and between Chordiant Software,
Inc. and Stephen P. Kelly (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Chordiant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on May 15, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.11* Change of Control Agreement, dated September 10, 2001, by and between Chordiant
Software, Inc. and Samuel T. Spadafora (filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Chordiant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 15, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.12* Separation Agreement, dated October 20, 2003, by and between Chordiant Software, Inc.
and Steve G. Vogel (filed as Exhibit 10.11 to Chordiant’s amended Annual Report on
Form 10-K/A filed on March 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.13* Form of Indemnification Agreement, by and between Chordiant Software, Inc. and
certain officers and directors of Chordiant Software, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to
Chordiant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 15, 2002 and incorporated
herein by reference).
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10.14* Employment Letter, dated November 14, 2002, between Chordiant Software, Inc. and
Stephen P. Kelly (filed as Exhibit 10.24 to Chordiant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on November 14, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.15* Amendment to Change of Control Agreement dated January 10, 2003, by and between
Chordiant Software, Inc. and Stephen P. Kelly (filed as Exhibit 10.26 to Chordiant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.16* Amendment to Change of Control Agreement dated February 27, 2004, by and between
Chordiant Software, Inc. and Samuel T. Spadafora (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Chordiant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 8, 2004 and incorporated herein by
reference).
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Exhibit
Number Description of Document

10.17 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and
between Chordiant Software, Inc. and Comerica Bank-California, successor in interest to
Imperial Bank, dated March 28, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 10.30 to Chordiant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.18

First amendment to Cupertino City Center Net Office Lease, dated December 10, 2003,
by and between Cupertino City Center Buildings, as Lessor, and Chordiant Software,
Inc., as Lessee (filed as Exhibit 10.22 to Chordiant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
on March 8, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.19

Purchase Agreement by and between Chordiant and Acqua Wellington Opportunity I
Limited, dated January 22, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Amendment No. 1 to Chordiant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-3/A filed on March 30, 2004 and incorporated herein
by reference).

10.20*

Offer letter dated November 16, 2004 to George A. de Urioste (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to
Chordiant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.21*
Change of Control Agreement dated January 31, 2005 by and between Chordiant
Software, Inc. and George A. de Urioste.

10.22* Terms of employment for Robert U. Mullen as of March 31, 2004.

10.23*
Change of Control Agreement dated April 24, 2003 by and between Chordiant Software,
Inc. and Robert U. Mullen.

10.24*
Separation Agreement, dated August 16, 2004, by and between Chordiant Software, Inc.
and Michael J. Shannahan.

10.25*
Form of Director Agreement by and between Chordiant Software, Inc. and certain
officers and directors of Chordiant Software, Inc.

10.26*
Compromise Agreement by and between Chordiant Software International Limited and
Allen Swann dated October 28th 2004.

10.27

Master Services Agreement By and Between Chordiant Software, Inc. and Ness
Technologies, Inc., Ness Global Services, Inc. and Ness Technologies India Ltd., dated
December 15, 2003 (the “Ness Agreement”), as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.33 to
Chordiant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2005).

10.28

A description of certain compensation arrangements between Chordiant Software, Inc.
and its executive officers (incorporated by reference from Item 1.01 of the Form 8-K of
Chordiant Software, Inc. filed with the SEC on June 8, 2005).
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10.29*

Offer Letter dated October 17, 2005 for Derek P. Witte (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to
Chordiant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 26, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.30*

Change of Control Agreement dated October 20, 2005 by and between Chordiant
Software, Inc. and Derek P. Witte (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Chordiant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on October 26, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.31*

2005 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix A to Chordiant’s Definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed on August 24, 2005 and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.32* A description of certain compensation arrangements between Chordiant Software, Inc. its
executive officers (incorporated by reference from Item 1.01 of the Form 8-K of
Chordiant Software, Inc. filed with the SEC on February 2, 2006).
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Exhibit
Number Description of Document

10.33*

Offer Letter dated January 31, 2006 for Steven R. Springsteel (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Chordiant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2, 2006 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.34*

Form of Stock Option Agreement for Steven R. Springsteel (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
Chordiant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2, 2006 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.35* Amendment dated August 29, 2005 to April 24, 1998 Letter Agreement by and between
Chordiant Software, Inc. and Samuel Spadafora (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Chordiant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on February 9, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.36* Board Member Agreement dated March 7, 2006 for Richard Stevens (filed as Exhibit
10.2 to Chordiant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 10, 2006 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.37 Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between Chordiant
Software, Inc. and Comerica Bank-California, successor in interest to Imperial Bank,
dated March 8, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Chordiant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on May 4, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.38* Separation Agreement dated March 1, 2006, by and between Chordiant Software, Inc. and
Stephen Kelly (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Chordiant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
on May 4, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.39* Separation Agreement dated March 8, 2006, by and between Chordiant Software, Inc. and
George A. de Urioste (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Chordiant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on May 4, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.40* Separation Agreement dated August 8, 2006, by and between Chordiant Software, Inc.
and Robert Mullen (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Chordiant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on August 11, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.41 Addendum A to Ness Agreement dated September 11, 2006 to Master Services
Agreement dated December 13, 2003 by and between Chordiant Software, Inc. and Ness
USA, Inc.

10.42 Order Form Agreement dated September 28, 2006 by and between Chordiant Software,
Inc. and International Business Machines Corporation (confidential treatment has been
requested).

10.43+ Software License and Services Agreement dated September 28, 2006 by and between
Chordiant Software, Inc. and Connecticut General Life Insurance Company.
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10.44 Master Agreement for Subcontracted Services dated June 14, 2002 by and between
Chordiant Software, Inc. and International Business Machines Corporation.

10.45 Amendment Number One dated May 31, 2005 to the Master Agreement for
Subcontracted Services dated June 14, 2006 by and between Chordiant Software, Inc. and
International Business Machines Corporation.

10.46 Amendment Number Two dated October 12, 2006 to the Master Agreement for
Subcontracted Services dated June 14, 2006 by and between Chordiant Software, Inc. and
International Business Machines Corporation.

10.47+ Statement of Work dated September 28, 2006 by and between Chordiant Software, Inc.
and International Business Machines Corporation.

10.48* Separation Agreement dated November 30, 2006, by and between Chordiant Software,
Inc. and Samuel Spadafora (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Chordiant’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on November 30, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.49+ Master Software License and Support Agreement dated March 21, 2006 by and between
Chordiant Software, Inc. and Citicorp Credit Services, Inc. (USA).

10.50 Master Professional Services Agreement dated May 7, 2006 by and between Chordiant
Software, Inc. and Citicorp Credit Services, Inc. (USA).
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Exhibit
Number Description of Document

10.51+ License Schedule #5 dated December 8, 2006 to the Master Software License and
Support Agreement dated March 21, 2006 by and between Chordiant Software and
Citicorp Credit Services, Inc. (USA).

10.52 Amendment No. 1 to the Master Software License and Support Agreement dated March
21, 2006 by and between Chordiant Software and Citicorp Credit Services, Inc. (USA).

10.53 Order Form Agreement dated December 19, 2006 by and between Chordiant Software
International GmbH and IBM Deustchland GmbH.

10.54 Software License and Services Agreement dated December 19, 2006 by and between
Chordiant Software International GmbH and Deutsche Angestellten Krankenkasse.

18.1 Preferability letter from BDO Seidman, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm (filed as Exhibit 18.1 to Chordiant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
December 9, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

23.1 Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

23.2 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm.

21.1 Subsidiaries of Chordiant Software, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to Chordiant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 16, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the signature pages hereto).

31.1 Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

31.2 Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

32.1 Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) and Section 1350 of Chapter
63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350).

*  Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

+ Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions have
been filed separately with the SEC.

(1)  Chordiant has omitted Schedules 2-4 and 709 to the Share Purchase Agreement pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of
Regulation S-K. A brief description of the omitted schedules is contained in Exhibit 2.4. Chordiant hereby undertakes
to provide the SEC with copies of the omitted schedules upon request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
Registrant has duly caused this report on Form 10-K to be signed on our behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in the City of Cupertino, State of California, on February 9, 2007.

CHORDIANT SOFTWARE, INC

By: /s/ STEVEN R. SPRINGSTEEL
Steven R. Springsteel

Chairman, President, and CEO

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints STEVEN R. SPRINGSTEEL and PETER S. NORMAN, and each or any one of them, his true and lawful
attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead,
in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this report on Form
10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith,
as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their or his substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report on Form 10-K has been
signed by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and of the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ STEVEN R.
SPRINGSTEEL

Chairman, President, and Chief
Executive Officer

February 9, 2007

Steven R. Springsteel

/s/ PETER S. NORMAN Chief Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting

February 9, 2007

Peter S. Norman Officer

/s/ RICHARD G. STEVENS Director February 9, 2007
Richard G. Stevens

/s/ DAVID R. SPRINGETT Director February 9, 2007
David R. Springett

/s/ WILLIAM J.
RADUCHEL

Director February 9, 2007

William J. Raduchel

/s/ DAVID A. WEYMOUTH Director February 9, 2007
David A. Weymouth
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/s/ CHARLES E.
HOFFMAN

Director February 9, 2007

Charles E. Hoffman
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